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Letter of  Transmittal

To
All Shareholders of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.; 
Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission; 
Registrar of Joint Stock Companies and Firms; 
Dhaka Stock Exchange Limited; 
Chi�agong Stock Exchange Limited.

Concentra�on: Annual Report for the year ended on 30 June 2019.

Dear Sir (s),

We are pleased to enclose a copy of Annual Report of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. (BPML) along with the audited Financial 
Statements as on 30 June 2019, for your kind informa�on and record.

General review of this, unless explained otherwise, is based on the financials of the ‘BPML’.

Yours sincerely,

           Sd/-
M. Naseemul Hye FCS
Company Secretary

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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NOTICE OF THE 26th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
No�ce is hereby given that the 26th Annual General Mee�ng of the Members of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. will be held 
on Tuesday, 24 December, 2019 at 10:30 a.m at “Puspogusso” Interna�onal Conven�on City Bashundhara (ICCB Hall- 2), 
Kuril Bishwa Road, Purbachal Express Highway, Dhaka-1229 to transact the following business:

AGENDA

 1. To receive, consider and adopt the Directors’ Report, the Auditors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the 
Company for the Financial Year ended on 30 June 2019;

 2. To declare Dividend for the Financial Year ended on 30 June 2019;

 3. To elect the Directors;

 4. To appoint Auditors for the Financial Year 2019-2020 and to fix their remunera�ons.

Date:   07 December, 2019 

By Order of the Board of Directors

M. Naseemul Hye FCS 
Company Secretary

Sd/-

NOTES:

i. The Record Date of the Company has been fixed on 02/12/2019. Members whose names appeared in the Company's 
Member Register (cer�ficated and depository) at the close of business on the Record Date be en�tled to a�end the 
Annual General Mee�ng. (N.B. General Shareholders, excep�ng the Sponsors/ Directors/Pre-IPO Placement 
Shareholders, will only be en�tle to receive the dividends;

ii. Any member en�tled to a�end and vote at the Annual General Mee�ng may appoint a proxy on his/her behalf 
provided that such proxy must be a member of the company. The Proxy Form (a�ached with the Annual Report) must 
be affixed with revenue stamp of Tk. 20/- and should be deposited at the Share Office of the Company not later than 
72 hours before the �me fixed for the Mee�ng;

iii. Members are requested to no�fy the changes of their addresses including email addresses (if any), through their 
respec�ve Depository Par�cipants (DP) well in �me;

iv. Admission to the mee�ng venue will be strictly on produc�on of the a�endance slip and verifica�on of the 
signature(s) of Members(s) and/or Proxy-holder(s). No children will be allowed in the AGM Venue;

v. In compliance with the BSEC’s No�fica�on No. SEC/SRMI/2000-953/1950 dated 24 October 2000 “(c) no benefit in 
cash or kind, other than in the form of cash dividend or stock dividend, shall be paid to the holders of equity 
securi�es.” for a�ending the AGM of the Company;

vi. In case of non-receipt of the Annual Report of FY 2018-2019 of this Company sent through the email, Shareholders 
may collect the same from the Share Office of the Company by submi�ng wri�en request. The Annual Report is 
uploaded on the Company’s website at:www.bashundharapapermills.com.

Registered Office: 125/A, Road-2, Block-A, Bashundhara R/A, Dhaka-1229

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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GZØviv emyÜiv ‡ccvi wgjm&& wjwg‡U‡Wi mKj †kqvi‡nvìvie„›`mn  mswkøó mK‡ji m`q AeMwZi Rb¨ Rvbv‡bv hv‡”Q †h, AvMvgx 24 
wW‡m¤^i, 2019Bs †ivR g½jevi mKvj 10.30 NwUKvq  Òcy®úMy”QÓ  emyÜiv B›Uvib¨vkbvj Kb‡fbkb wmwU (AvBwmwmwe nj-2) Kzwoj 
wek^‡ivW, c~ev©Pj G·‡cÖm nvBI‡q, XvKv-1229 G AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi 26Zg evwl©K mvaviY mfv wb¤œewY©Z welqvw` m¤úv`bK‡í AbywôZ n‡et

Av‡jvP¨m~Pxt  

 1. 30‡k Ryb 2019Bs Zvwi‡L mgvß Avw_©K erm‡ii wbixwÿZ evwl©K Avw_©K cÖwZ‡e`b Ges Zrm‡½ wbixÿK I cwiPvjKgÛjxi 
cÖwZ‡e`b mgyn  MÖnY, we‡ePbv I Aby‡gv`b;

 2. 30‡k Ryb 2019Bs Zvwi‡L mgvß Avw_©K erm‡ii Rb¨ jf¨vsk †NvlYv I Aby‡gv`b;

 3. AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi cwiPvjKM‡Yi wbe©vPb;

 4. 2019-2020Bs Avw_©K erm‡ii Rb¨ wewae× wbixÿK wb‡qvM I Zv‡`i cvwikÖwgK wbav©iY|

cwiPvjKgÛjxi Av‡`kµ‡g

Gg. bvwmgyj nvB GdwmGm 
†Kv¤úvbx mwPe

ZvwiL: 07 wW‡m¤^i, 2019Bs

`ªóe¨t 
1. AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi †iKW© †WU 02/12/2019Bs Zvwi‡L wba©viY Kiv n‡q‡Q| D³ Zvwi‡L †h mKj †kqvi‡nvìviM‡Yi bvg AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi 

m`m¨ ewn‡Z (wW‡cvwRUix) AšÍf~©³ _vK‡e Zuviv AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi 26Zg evwl©K mvaviYmfvq †hvM`vb Ki‡Z cvi‡eb| wet`ªt 
D‡`¨v³vMb/cwiPvjKe„›` Ges cªvK-cÖv_wgK Mbcª¯Ív‡e AskMÖnbKvix †kqvi‡nvìviMb (wcÖ-AvBwcI †cøm‡g›U‡nvìvi) e¨ZxZ mKj mvaviY 
†kqvi‡nvìviMY †NvwlZ jf¨vsk cÖvwßi Rb¨ †hvM¨ e‡j we‡ewPZ n‡eb|   

2. 26Zg mfvq Dcw¯’Z _vKvi Rb¨ I †fvU `v‡bi Rb¨ ‡hvM¨ †h †Kvb m`m¨ Zvi cwie‡Z© Ab¨ †Kvb m`m¨‡K cÖw· (Proxy) wnmv‡e wb‡qvM 
cÖ`vb Ki‡Z cvi‡eb| cÖw· (Proxy) di‡g 20/- UvKv g~j¨gv‡bi †iwfwbD ÷¨v¤ú mshy³ K‡i Zv h_vh_fv‡e c~iY-c~e©K evwl©K mfv ïiæ 
nevi AšÍZ 72 N›Uv c~‡e© AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi  †kqvi Awd‡m  Rgv cÖ`vb Ki‡Z n‡e| 

3. m¤§vwbZ ‡kqvi‡nvìviM‡Yi wVKvbv (B-†gBj wVKvbvmn) cwieZ©b welqK Z_¨vw` (hw` _v‡K) mswkøó (wW‡cvwRUix cvwU©wm‡c›U)Gi 
gva¨‡g AÎ †Kv¤úvbx‡K h_vmg‡q AewnZ Kivi Rb¨ Aby‡iva Kiv hv‡”Q| 

4. m`m¨MY A_ev cÖw·MY nvwRiv w¯ø‡c cª`Ë ¯^vÿi hvPvB mv‡c‡ÿ evwl©K mvaviY mfvi K‡ÿ cÖ‡ek Ki‡Z cvi‡eb| evwl©K mvaviY mfv¯’‡j 
wkï‡`i Avbqb bv Kivi Rb¨ we‡kl fv‡e Aby‡iva Kiv hv‡”Q| 

5. evwl©K mvaviY mfvq Ask MÖn‡bi wel‡q weGmBwm-Gi wb‡`k©bv bst SEC/SRMI/2000-953/1950 dated 24th October 2000- G 
ewY©Z aviv (c)-i wb‡`©kbv Abyhvqx Rvbv‡bv hv‡”Q †h “no benefit in cash or kind, other than in the form of cash dividend or 
stock dividend, shall be paid to the holders of equity securi�es”.

6. B-‡gB‡ji gva¨‡g †cÖwiZ 2018-2019 Avw_©K erm‡ii evwl©K cÖwZ‡e`b †Kvb m¤§vwbZ †kqvi‡nvìvi bv †c‡j AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi †kqvi 
wefvM n‡Z Zv msMÖn Kiv hv‡e| GQvov evwl©K cÖwZ‡e`b weeiYx AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi I‡qemvBUt www.bashundharapapermills.com- G 
cª`vb Kiv n‡q‡Q|

26Zg evwl©K mvaviY mfvi weÁwß

¯^vt/-

 †iwR÷vW© Awdmt 125/G, †ivW-2, eøK-G, emyÜiv AvevwmK GjvKv, XvKv-1229

emyÜiv †ccvi wgj&m wjwg‡UW

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Performance at a Glance FY 2018 -2019

Net Revenue   (Tk.mn)  : 11,039.12 

Gross Profit (Tk.mn)  : 2,098.75

Profit a�er  Tax (Tk.mn)  : 291.84 

Domes�c Sales (Tk.mn)  : 10,606.10 

Export Sales (Tk.mn)  : 433.02 

Total Tax, VAT, SD (Tk.mn)  : 611.74 

Export Des�na�ons (Country)  : 23

58%

 

Capacity U�liza�on  :  

Net Asset Values (NAV)  : 42.08 

Earnings Per share (EPS)  : 
 

1.68 

Performance

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Overview on 
Bashundhara Group 

Bashundhara Group, has started its journey as a real estate venture with the nomenclature of "Bashundhara" under the 
aegis of the group's first concern - the East-West Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd. in 1987. By the ramifica�ons of this 
success, Bashundhara concentrated to invest in many new arenas e.g. manufacturing, constric�on, fuel & gas, ship building, 
trading and service etc. Considerable numbers of  enterprises were established in the early 1990s, covering diverse               
ac�vi�es. Now the ventures under the group are involved in produc�on of cement, paper and pulp, �ssue paper, ship build-
ing & shipping, foods & beverage, oil refinairy, LPG bo�ling and distribu�ons, chemicals, prin�ng & publica�ons and  
trading, among others. The group experienced its significant growth over the last two decades. The Group's first public-
ly-traded company, Meghna Cement Mills Limited, was listed in 1995 and the  latest publicly-traded company is  Bashund-
hara Paper Mills Ltd. listed in 2018 with the two stock exchanges of Bangladesh.

The group has established a media house “East West Media Group Ltd” in 2009. This house owns well circulated Bangla 
dailies – “Kaler Kantho”, “Bangladesh Pra�din”, and English daily newspaper - “Daily Sun” and online portal                             
“Banglanews24.com”. The media house also introduced a FM Radio known as “Radio Capital 94.80” and a television news 
channel “News24”.

The group is engaged in various social and philanthropic projects. The micro-credit program under Bashundhara              
Founda�on, Bashundhara Technical Ins�tute, Bashundhara Ad-din Medical College & Hospital, Bashundahara Eye Hospital 
& Research Ins�tute, and Bashundhara Special Children Founda�on are being operated by the assistance and patroniza�on 
of the group. The group is also a patron of  Sheikh Jamal Dhanmondi Club Ltd. and  Sheikh Russel Krira Chakra Ltd. Toggy 
Sports Ltd., is the owner of the Rangpur Riders -the Champion Team (2017) of the BPL is also under the canopy of  Bashund-
hara Group.

This Group has come a long way and meanwhile has established various innova�ve projects alongwith manufacturing 
ventures wherein around 50,000 employees are directly and 200,000 indirectly employed. Through major investment 
undertakings in all key sectors, Bashundhara has contributed considerably to the country’s socio-economic stability,       
financial sector and capital markets. Most of its projects have the success stories - this fact alone is enough to jus�fy the 
Groups moto - “ For the People, for the Country”.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Overview on 
the Company 

The Company was incorporated in Bangladesh in 1993 as a private limited company. Subsequently it was converted into a 
public limited Company now a publicly listed company.  A�er star�ng its commercial opera�on as an import-subs�tute local 
paper manufacturing company another two companies of the Bashundhara Group of same nature namely “Bashundhara 
Newsprint & Duplex Board Industries Limited” (Former Shahjalal News Print Industries Ltd.) and “Bashundhara Tissue 
Industries Limited” (Former Freyschmidt Tissue Limited) amalgamated with BPML on October 10, 2009. A�er the amalga-
ma�on of all three companies caring out its business as a single legal en�ty and operated three separate units as “Unit 1”, 
“Unit-2” and “Unit-3” for the administra�ve purpose.

The three industrial units, are separate in their loca�on and product diversity. All are equipped with industry-best 
state-of-the-art facili�es and are regularly going through me�culously opted refurbishment processes to cope up achieving 
"scale of economies" and "resource conserva�on" esp. in energy (power consump�on) and water usage per unit output. 
These significant altera�ons have been easily accomplished backed by dependable partnerships with World’s top technolo-
gy providers e.g. Valmet, Andritz, ABB, Siemens, Voith, Caterpillar, Gapcon, Cleaverbrooks, Thermex, Sigma Engineering, 
Recard, Parker, Eurotherm, OK Machineries, Adpep, Taisan, Omet, ZWC etc.

Having posi�oned in a fast-growing market set, Bashundhara has been relentless over two decades to offer its diversified 
products ranging from different types of Paper, Tissue & Hygiene por�olio, thereby it has rightly been entrusted from 
customers fraternity of home and abroad. At present, Bashundhara Paper is the trusted source of volume Paper-needs of 
both Government level and, while keep general consumers  pace of expor�ng to over 25 different global des�na�ons.  
Noteworthy, it has been successful to become the only Company in Bangladesh having the cer�fica�on of ISO 9001:2015 
and FSC-CoC at the same �me, certainly due to its thrust on environment is visible in various eco-friendly ini�a�ves at the 
Plant sites by adop�ng modern technology and process innova�ons.

Run by a group of sturdy technical and highly experienced paper professionals of the Country since its incep�on, all the 
produc�on units of BPML is absolutely environment friendly through leverage of most-modern Effluent Treatment Plants 
(ETPs). The Company runs through unique ERP solu�on (SAP), where this transforma�onal technology enables to bring 
together best prac�ces across all func�ons of the organiza�on to deliver highest value to all external and internal 
stake-holders. The Company con�nues to conduct regular audits for  its quality standards and customer sa�sfac�on 
through conduc�ng in-house resource and also by independent agencies, which in turn helps to be updated with changing 
customer needs and their preferences and develop its products to stay well ahead of the curve.

These pioneering moves have given Bashundhara Paper a pride of place as the change leader, ushering in a phase of 
complete makeover in the Bangladeshi paper market.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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BPML  (Unit-1)

The unit-1 was established  in 1993 with an integrated paper plant with 36,000 MT/per annam installed capacity. It 
commenced its commercial  produc�on in February 1997 to address the rapidly growing local demands of Paper and  Paper 
products. Over the years, the produc�on capacity has been enhanced with the addi�on of 3 more paper  plants  and 10 
conver�ng units.

In this Unit the company produce a diversified product range from 20 GSM to 110 GSM of different grades of White Wri�ng 
& Prin�ng Papers, Carbonless Paper, Colored/ Offset Prin�ng & Wrapping Papers, Color Ledger Paper, S�cker Papers, 
Cigare�e Tipping Papers, OGR Paper, Exercise Books, A4 Paper, Paper Sack  also �me to �me produce plng  warps  s�ffener 
Glassine paper, PP woven Bag, MG paper, Coted & uncoated Paper Board etc. The very Company was the pioneer to 
introduce local-made Offset Paper in the Market.

Periodic renova�on and moderniza�on of the Plant machineries well foreseen by the skilled resources of home and abroad 
have helped the plant to remain in healthy condi�on even a�er decades. The Company’s firm commitment and success 
delivering high quality products and  services to customers has been the major reason to a�ain and retain the leadership 
posi�on  sector of this country. 

Furthermore, in a bid to retain the leadership, a turn-key agreement has already been signed with Andritz AG, Austria in 
order to set-up the most sophis�cated Paper produc�on line, having the capacity of 120 MT per day.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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BPML  (Unit-2)

Unit-2 of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited was set up in 1994.  It was formally known as Bshundhara Newspaper & Duplex 
Board Ltd. The Unit-2 three modern plants in producing newsprint, white wri�ng/prin�ng paper, duplex board, liner paper, 
Kra� paper, Art card, art paper and allied products.

The first plant  produces duplex boards and other industrial packing papers used in packaging industry. An off line coater 
produces coated duplex board & Art card in this unit.   

The second unit produces environment friendly newsprint from recycled pulp (DIP) for na�onal dailies, weeklies,               
fortnightlies. It also produces wri�ng and prin�ng paper for local consump�on and also for prin�ng text book for NCTB. 

The third unit makes art paper for prin�ng industries.

Furthermore, in a bid to retain the leadership, a turn-key agreement has already been signed with Andritz AG, Austria in 
order to set-up the most sophis�cated Paper produc�on line, having the capacity of 120 MT per day.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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BPML  (Unit-3)
Unit–3 of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited, formerly known as Bashundhara Tissue Industries Limited, was set up at 
Anarpura, Gazaria, Munshiganj in 1995. It is the country’s first basic �ssue manufacturing factory at the face of growing 
popularity of �ssue with fast changing urban lifestyle and eleva�on of living standards as a whole.

The Unit-3 was set up This first basic �ssue paper manufacturing facility in Bangladesh later emerged as the pioneer in the 
trade at the backdrop of rising demands of Tissue products thanks to changing lifestyle of urban to suburban                         
consumers – ‘Bashundhara Tissue’ has become a trusted name with solid brand equity.

The unit, obsession towards Quality and Customer Sa�sfac�on is reflected in understanding & fulfilment of expecta�ons of 
the consumers, big or small. This in turn has been a key factor in its growth and the advantage that the Company has been 
able to build over the years in terms of a wide and loyal distribu�on network throughout Bangladesh.

Out of five produc�on lines, dozens of �ssue products are being successfully manufactured to cater the consumer 
demands, where diverse types of Tissues ranges from Facial Tissue to Pocket Tissue, from Napkin Tissue to Kitchen Towel 
Tissue, from Toilet Rolls to Clinical Bed Sheets, from Wet Tissue to MG Hard Tissue. Not only pure Tissue products, but also 
different hygiene to other paper items e.g. Monalisa Sanitary Napkin, Bashundhara Baby Diaper, Bashundhara Diapant, 
Hand Gloves, Co�on Bud, Drinking Straw, Tooth Pick, Paper Carton Container, MG Poster Paper, Ledger Print Paper, Colour 
Prin�ng Paper (Pink, Yellow, Green, Blue), Liner Paper, Manifold Paper (White, Pink, Yellow, Green, Blue), Plug-wrap Paper 
are among the premier products of this Plan.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Board of
Directors

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Board of Directors

Board of Directors

Managing Director Safwan Sobhan

Directors Md. Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan

Md. Imrul Hassan

Company Secretary M. Naseemul Hye FCS

Independent
Directors

Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman

Chairman Ahmed Akbar Sobhan

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Zeaur Rahman 



We 
Are Passionate 

About Helping the 
World Excel In Educa�on, 
Communica�on, Business 
And Salutariness By Offer-

ing Eco-Sustainable Pa-
per-Based Solu�ons.

Our Mission

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Our Values

Values form the acronym SPIRIT and it is the SPIRIT in which we operate. The word SPIRIT 
stands for SOUL, ESSENCE, LIFE and ATTITUDE. This the Spirit that nourishes the SOUL of 
the people of ‘Bashundhara Paper’; it is the ATTITUDE and the ESSENCE that gives LIFE to 
our winning culture. 

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Corporate Directory

Name of the Company  : Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.  

Legal Status  : Public Limited Company  (listed) 

Date of Incorpora�on  : 23 September, 1993 

Financial year  : July-June  

Lis�ng at Stock Exchanges   : DSE   :  June, 2018 
 CSE : June, 2018 

Capital of the Company 

Composi�on of Ownership

 : Authorized  : 500 Cr. Paid-Up  : 173.17 Cr. 

as on 30 June 2019
:       Category  Percentage of Shares 

Board of Directors    67.47% 

Sponsor  Shareholders 
(Including pre -IPO sponsors)  

17.55% 

Ins�tu�ons  6.52% 
General Public  8.46% 

Total 100%

Composi�on of Board  : Name  Posi�on  

Ahmed Akbar Sobhan  Chairman 

Md. Imrul Hassan  Director 

Md. Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan  
Nominated by: East West 
Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd.

 

Director 

Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  Independent Director 

Zeaur Rahman  Independent Director 

Safwan Sobhan  Managing Director 

Nomina�on & Remunera�on 
Commi�ee 

: Name  Posi�on  

Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  Chairman 

Md. Imrul Hassan  Member
 M. Naseemul Hye FCS  Member Secretary

Audit Commi�ee : Name Posi�on  

 Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  Chairman 

Md. Imrul Hassan  Member 

M. Naseemul Hye FCS Member Secretary

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Statuary Auditors : M/S. Ahmed Zaker & Co.

 

Chartered Accountants

Governance Compliance Auditors

 

: M/S. Itrat Husain & Associates

 

Chartered Secretaries in Prac�ces 

Legal Adviser : M/S. Law Valley 

Tax Consultants : M/S. Ashraf & Associates

Chief Financial Officer : Mirja Mujahidul Islam

Head of Internal Audit & Control : Md. Eleas Hossain

Company Secratery : 

:

:

:

 

M. Naseemul Hye FCS

 

 Share Office:Registered Office:  Corporate Office:  
 

Plot 125/A, Road-2, 
Block-A, Bashundhara R/A
Dhaka-1229. 

 

Bashundhara Industrial Headquaters-2 
Plot-56/A, Umme Kulsum Road, Block-C, 
Bashundhara R/A, Dhaka-1229. 

Bashundhara Industrial Headquaters-2 
Plot-56/A, Umme Kulsum Road, Block-C, 
Bashundhara R/A, Dhaka-1229. 

Factory :  

Unit-1 Unit-2 Unit-3 

Meghnaghat, Baranagar, 
Sonargaon, Narayangonj. 

Meghnaghat,  
Sonargaon, Narayangonj. 

Anurpura, 
Gazaria, Munshigonj. 

Corporate Directory

 : www.bashundharapapermills.com//investors rela�on

 

 

 

Web Page  : www.bashundharapapermills.com

 Investors Rela�ons Cell

Phone + 88 02 8431256-8, + 88 02 8432289-93  
Fax + 88 02 8432305 

E-mail cosec_bpml@bg.com.bd 

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Journey of BPML 

A  development 
Journey of Bashundhara 

Paper Mills Limited.  

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Chairman’s Message



Dear Dis�nguished Members & Shareholders,

It is a privilege for me to welcome you all on this special occasion of the 26th Annual General Mee�ng of our beloved 
company - Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

All this long way we have been commi�ed to discharge our du�es and responsibili�es to ensure addi�on of values towards 
our stakeholders, members and customers, and safeguard their interests. We always value our goodwill and have a proven 
track-record of excellence. Keeping this in mind, everything that we envision, plan, execute and deliver are all aligned to this 
strategy. For the longer term, we are pursuing a strategic approach of further diversifica�on of our business por�olio and 
expanding our geographical reach, product and service offerings as well as cemen�ng stronger business partnerships to 
solidify our posi�on in the market. 

We all the �me give emphasize and concentrated our efforts for  fulfillment of our customers’ needs at affordable prices. 
We have also engaged ourselves to generate new ideas, op�ons and innova�ons aiming our customers and users giving 
special priori�es for their sa�sfac�on and ensure further growth to this company. 

In every business pursuit there are compe��ons and the fi�est could come out successful.  We have kept all out keen 
observa�ons and vigilant. We are hopeful and determined that with the support and coopera�on from the part of our 
members, stakeholders and patrons and wide range of customers no odds shall obstruct our journey. 

On this occasion I wish to express my sincere apprecia�on and gra�tude to all our stakeholders, patrons and customers and 
request all of them to keep confidence and support us in the coming days. I believe together we can achieve more. 

May Allah bless us all.

  
Ahmed Akbar Sobhan

Chairman

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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MD’s Review



 

 
 

Respected Members, 

Assalamu Alaikum wa Rahmatullah.

With the belief  that “we can do” we started our journey  more than  two decades ago. By 
this �me we set us in a commendable posi�on in the paper sector of this country. The first 
year a�er the lis�ng of this company at the capital market meanwhile been completed. 
Now we are in the 2nd year a�er the lis�ng. Meanwhile this company gathered significant 
experiences on compliance issue and dealings with regulators including BSEC, Stock 
Exchanges and RJSC being a listed and new entrant in capital market. 

It is my pleasure to let you all know that this company has completed the full u�liza�on of 
the IPO Funds as per the prior declara�on as an Issuer disseminated through its issued 
prospectus.

The company has executed its plan to raise its capacity by se�ng up of imported new 
plants and machineries in factory premises and engaged its efforts to expand its business 
horizon. The commercial produc�on of the new unit started in February 2019. During this 
year the company has further introduced some new products which are extected to create 
good demands in the local market.

We are also looking for increasing of our export revenues. We hope that by producing 
quality products use we could hold and acquire more local market shares and export more 
as well. 

Everyone in this company are aware about their du�es and responsibili�es. We are trying 
hard to place our company to more prosperous posi�on. We always perceive our company 
as a unit that could make a difference with its innova�ons, quality and compe��vely priced 
products.

We hope that the journey of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.  shall con�nue with the support 
and corpora�on of our shareholders, stakeholders and consumers. 

I am confident that our company will con�nue to scale milestones of excellence in future.

Thanking you all.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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“We are trying hard to 
place BPML to a       
commendable posi�on,  
perceive our company 
as a unit that could 
make a difference with 
its innova�ons, quality 
& compe��vely priced 
products”
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Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan is one of the Sponsor Directors and Chairman of this Company. He 
graduated in Business Studies from the University of Dhaka. He founded Bashundhara Group 
back in the 80s, which is now a leading industrial group of Bangladesh.  Bashundhara Group (BG) 
now consis�ng of more than seven dozens of companies comprising of moderate to heavy indus-
trial and business units. His leadership, commitment and vision placed this group in a comendable 
posi�on and now BG emerged as one of the biggest industrial and commercial conglomerates in 
Bangladesh.  

He is the Director of East West Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd., Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd., 
Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd., Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd., East West 
Media Group Ltd., Bashundhara Mul� Paper Industries Ltd., Bashundhara Infrastructure Develop-
ment Ltd., East West Special Economic Zone Ltd., Bashundhara Interna�onal Trade Center 
Limited, Bashundhara Cement Industries Ltd., Bashundhara Agricultural Products Ltd., Dhaka 
Mul� Agricultural Complex Ltd., and many other companies of the group.  

Mr. Sobhan was the President of the Board of many financial ins�tu�ons, trade organiza�ons and 
trade bodies including Bangladesh Paper Mills Associa�on, Bangladesh Land Developers Associa-
�on, Bangladesh Cement Manufacturers Associa�on etc. He was member of general body of 
FBCCI, DCCI, and  ICC and he also performed  the responsibility as the honorary  Consul General 
of Ukraine  in Bangladesh.  

Mr. Sobhan received many accolades at home and abroad, in recogni�on of his excellent business 
leadership, performance and remarkable contribu�ons in the socio-economic fields, interna�on-
al understanding, conflict resolu�on and bringing peace, including President's Gold Medal in 
1994, Kazi Nazrul Islam Na�onal Award in 1992, Moulana Bhasani Na�onal Award in 1993, 
Arthakantha Business Award in 2001, USA Summit Interna�onal Award in 2002 and Janata Bank 
Prime Customer Award in 2002 and Agrani Bank Best Client Award in 2010. He was a sports man 
and now a sponsor of sports in the country. He is the owner of Bashundhara Kings, a leading 
Sports Club of Bangladesh.

He is the Chairman of Board of Trustees of Bashundhara Founda�on and the Chief Patron of 
Afroza Begum Welfare Founda�on. These Founda�ons have been working �relessly for the 
be�erment of the poor and unprivileged people of this country by providing various supports 
including the interest free loan and running of technical School etc. Bashundhara Founda�on  is 
the pioneear of charges/interest free micro credit program in Bangladesh and opera�ng this 
program in different parts of the country. These two founda�ons have been living up to Bashund-
hara Group’s promise of "For the People for the Country".

Ahmed Akbar Sobhan
Chairman
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Mr. Safwan Sobhan is a dynamic and enterprising young entrepreneur. He had his schooling 
in Oxfordshire in the UK and had his bachelor's degree in business administra�on.  He 
established various corporate houses at home and abroad and earned laurels for his 
leadership quali�es. At present, he is the Managing Director of Bashundhara Paper Mills 
Ltd. He is also Director of Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd., City Mul� Agricultural Company Ltd., 
Bashundhara Hor�culture Ltd., Bashundhara Infrastructure Development Company Ltd., 
Bashundhara Logis�cs Ltd., Bashundhara Airways Ltd., Bashundhara Amusement Park Ltd., 
Bashundhara Mul� Paper Industries Ltd., Bashundhara Agricultural Products Ltd., 
Bashundhara Electricity Ltd., Toggi Real Estate and Construc�on Ltd., Bashundhara Tex�le 
Mills Ltd., and many other companies of Bashundhara Group. 

Mr. Sawfan is also a Trustee of Bashundhara Founda�on.   

As is a keen sportsman and a sports loving personality Mr. Safwan has involvement with  
various ac�vi�es to promote sports ac�vi�es in this country and abroad. He is now the 
Managing Director of Toggi Sports Ltd. - the owner of the Rangpur Riders, the Champion 
Cricket Team of the pres�gious Bangladesh Premier League (BPL) - 2017. He is also the 
current President of Lt. Sheikh Jamal Dhanmondi Club Ltd. 

Mr. Sawfan is also one of the patrons of the Army Golf Club, Dhaka and a Member of the 
Dhaka Club Ltd.  He has been selected as a  CIP in Bangladesh for his business ac�vi�es and 
contribu�ons to na�onal exchequer for consecu�ve years.

Mr. safwan Sobhan was appointed by the Board as the Managing Director in 2015. Previous 
to this assignment, he was a Director of this company. Since his taking over of the charge, 
he has been contribu�ng ac�vely in overall planning, strategy formula�on, HRM, 
decision-making process of this company and Bashundhara Group as well. His specializa�on 
in �me management, branding of products and promo�on, risk management and crisis 
management brought posi�ve results and wide acclama�on. 

Safwan Sobhan
Managing Director
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Md. Imrul Hassan
 Director

Mr. Imrul Hassan is a director of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited. He was born in Cumilla on July 22, 1968 in 
a recognized Muslim family. He completed his  Post Gradua�on from University of Dhaka. Mr. Hassan visited 
different countries around the world as such India, Singapore, Thailand, Qatar, KSA. A successful business 
personality and holding a fabulous track of experience he is also a sports loving personality.  Presently he has 
been holding the posi�on of President, Bashundhara Kings- the Runners-up team of the Club Football 
Tournament of Bangladesh. He is very well known for his social work and ac�vity.  

Mr. Hassan is keenly interested in development of sports and socio-cultural ac�vi�es and a successful 
businessman indeed.

He is the member of the Audit commi�ee of this Company. Mr. Hassan is also a Trustee of the Bashundhara 
Founda�on. 

East West Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd. (EWPD) is the flagship company of Bashundhara Group, which 
was founded  back in 1987 to address the ever increasing housing demand of the ci�zens in Dhaka. EWPD  
has successfully developed several integrated residen�al projects adjacent to the capital city and also taking 
up more and more projects in the vicinity of the capital. Since the very first day of its incep�on, EWPD has 
been doing business with the reputa�on and has earned a great deal of trust of people.

The first and prime projects which is popularly known as " Bashundhara" near the Baridhara Diploma�c Zone, 
Dhaka has been developed on several hundred acres of land while the second project named " Savar Housing 
Project" has been developed at Savar. The Third project named "River View" has been developed on three 
thousand acres of land at Hasnabad, Keranigonj near the capital to provide well planned housing facili�es for 
people of old Dhaka. The fourth project named " Mouchak Housing Project" which is located at Gazipur 
nearer to Scout Jamburee and the fi�h Project named "River View Dokhina Project" which is located at 
Dakhin Keranigonj nearer to River View Project and 4 km away from Dhaka Maowa highway. Some lucra�ve 
land projects are under way under same umbrella of East West Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd.

EWPD has also been construc�ng apartments at different blocks of Baridhara and River View Projects for 
contribu�ng to mi�gate the burgeoning housing need of city dwellers.

EWPD currently holding 101,050,575nos. of ordinary shares which is the 58.14% of the shares of the  
Bashundhara Paper Mills L td. The EWPD has nominated one of its experienced Execu�ve Director- Mr. Md. 
Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan,  to act as the Director in  the  board of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. to protect its  
interest.

Mr. Bhuiyan was born in Brahmonbaria on December 25, 1971 in a recognized Muslim family. He had his  
business gradua�on from University of Dhaka and visited various countries including India, China, Hong Kong, 
Singapore, Thailand, Nepal, Malaysia, Macao, Egypt, UAE, USA, Switzerland, France, Australia, Turkey, Qatar, 
South Korea. He is a successful personality holding a fabulous track of experience to compete the global race. 
He is  very known person for his social work and ac�vi�es. 

Md. Nazmul Alam  Bhuiyan 
Director

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman
Independent Director

Zeaur Rahman 
Independent Director

Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman (67) completed his Gradua�on in 1969 and started his career 
as a government officer. A�er his re�rement from civil service, he started his business career 
by se�ng up various business ventures in audio video & electronics sector in this country. He 
has been associated with many companies as sponsor directors including Rose Valley Audio 
Video Ltd., Rumki Electronics Industries Ltd., Matsha & Krishi Khamar, Singha Bangladesh Ltd. 
and Link-up Interna�onal Ltd., etc. He has a vast knowledge of finance, business, corporate 
management, industrial, trade and labour laws.  He is the Managing Director of Link-up 
Interna�onal Ltd. He is associated with many socio-cultural and philanthropic organiza�ons. 

He has been in the Board of this Company since 2015 as an Independent Director and is the 
current Chairman, Audit Commi�ee of this Company. He is also the Chairman of the 
Remunera�on and Nomina�on Commi�ee of the Board of Directors of this company.

Mr. Zeaur Rahman (59) completed his gradua�on in 1981 from the University of Chi�agong in 
Business Studies. He promoted various business ventures in this Country and has vast 
experience in business consultancy, business advisory and management.

He has been associated with a good number of business enterprises. At present, he is the 
Chairman of M/S. NK Group, WOTBD Pvt. Ltd, Kalka Engineers Ltd., Civil and Electrical 
Engineering Ltd., etc. He has been associated with many social organiza�ons including 
Chi�agong Club Ltd., Chi�agong Boat Club, Privilege Club, Club 21 etc.

He has been in the Board of Directors of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. as an Independent 
Director since 2017

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Code of Conducts

Fair governance prac�ce is the key to inclusive and sustainable growth. We have clearly   ar�culated in our orgina�onal 
code of conduct- guidelines. All the probable are as involving ethical   dilemmas for the responsible and values - driven 
management and control. i.e.; our code of conduct and ethical guidelines are as follows:

Compliance of Laws Integrity in Business 
Prac�ce 

Integrity 

 
   

 

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Code of Conducts

All our employees 
are to follow and 
comply with the 
laws of the land 
and internal rules 
and regula�ons 
of the Company 
and the  
B a s h u n d h a r a 
Group as well.

The Company main-
tains business prac-
�ces with highest 
integrity and ensure 
accuracy of all trans-
ac�ons. It shores up 
the privacy of the 
customers’ affairs. 
Employees of the 
company divulge the 
BPML’s plans, meth-
ods, and ac�vi�es 
considered by the 
employer to be pro-
prietary and confi-
den�al'. Moreover, 
employees are not 
expected to disclose 
such informa�on 
without proper 
authoriza�on.

Our employees are 
expected to act 
honestly and with 
due integrity at all 
�mes. They should 
act rightly equitably 
when dealing with 
the stakeholders 
the consumers and 
public as well as 
and other employ-
ees of the Compa-
ny.



Policies of  the Company 

This Company is aimed  to provide products and services of high quality within the affordable range of our clientele.

Our quality policy is to -

The is commi�ed to run its opera�ons by following environment friendly, ensuring con�nual improvement in the u�liza-
�on of resources and preven�on of pollu�on or degrada�on of the environment.

In pursuit of this, the Company follows the policy to -

Quality
Policy

    Achieve excellence by understanding and providing products as per customers’ expec-
ta�ons.

   Follow consistent quality in our produc�on and supply of products to meet all regulato-
ry requirements of our businesses.

 Consider and follow due procedures to ensure compliance with all quality  standards.

 Develop all our human resources as asset of the Company through training and skill 
development.

Environment
Policy

 Comply with all environmental related legisla�ons and regula�ons of this country.

 Conserve mother nature by adop�ng environmentally safe produc�on processes.

 Ensure appropriate treatment of all effluents prior to discharge.

 Create and maintain awareness on environmental issues within the Company.

 Ensure waste management system runs through con�nuous upgrada�on process

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Specific du�es requires that BPML:

BPML is commi�ed to provide a safe and posi�ve working environment for all its staff and acknowledging that 
the wellbeing of staff is a prime factor in enabling them to perform their du�es to the best of their abili�es. In 
return, the BPML desires that the staffs accept their responsibili�es to work safely.

Occupational
Health and

Safety Policy

 Iden�fy and reduce risks in the workplace;
 Provide and maintain safe systems at work place;
 Provide and maintain equipment and substances in a safe condi�on;
 Provide facili�es in a safe and healthy condi�on for the welfare of employees;
 Provide adequate informa�on, instruc�on, training and supervision;
 Maintain our environment and facili�es in a safe condi�on;
 Maintain accurate and up-to-date records about the health of employees and 

volunteers including informa�on about accidents and incidents;
 Develop and implement policies and procedures about working in the human 

resources safely;
 Consult with employees about safety issues;
 Provide and share adequate informa�on with the employees regarding health & 

safety issues; 

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Policies

The occupa�onal health and safety for all related persons as well as employed by the BPML is of the utmost importance. 
As per the provision of the common law, various codes and regula�ons of all employed persons, the Company has 
introduced  codes, policies and ac�on plans for its employees since long. 

BPML has developed comprehensive policies and procedures in rela�on to occupa�on health, safety, and welfareis-
sues.The company 

 Ensures, as far as reasonably prac�cable, the health, safety, and welfare of its employees and associated 
persons;

 Ensures, as far as reasonably prac�cable, that people who aren't our employees (i.e. visitors, par�cipants) 
are not exposed to health or safety risks; 



Perfromance in last Five Years 

Market Performance 

Key Financial Highlights of FY 2018-2019
Opera�ng Performance 

Financial Posi�on 

Financial Ra�o 

Par�cular  2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2015 
Revenue  11,039.12  10,821.10  10,004.08  10,834.64  10,435.76 
Gross Profit  2,095.28 1,920.58 1,824.41 1,956.45 1,802.63 
Income from Opera�ng  1,606.49 1,390.59 1,423.88 1,515.64 1,383.05 
Profit Before Interest, Tax & Dep . 2,540.09  2,214.35  2,168.97  2,156.35  1,975.38 
Net profit a�er Tax  291.84  693.64  385.13  430.02  264.67 

Par�cular  2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2015 
Paid-up-Capital  1,737.91  1,737.91  1,477.50  1,477.50  1,477.50  
Shareholders’ Equity  7,480.25  7,549.50  4,887.17  4,504.85  4,213.40  
Total Assets  30,186.24  25,062.14  20,677.89  18,908.85  18,083.74  
Total Liabili�es 22,705.99  17,512.64  15,790.71  14,404.00  13,870.34  
New Working Capital  2,640,118  2,665.46  2,926.87  3,495.44  3,454.03  
Capital Employed  0.09 0.11 0.13 0.16 0.15 

Par�cular  2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2015 
Current Asset to Current Liabili�es 1.16  1.10  1.04  1.00  1.02 
EBIT to Net Interest Cover (Times) 1.46  1.60  1.78  1.57  1.39 
Debt to Equity  3.04  2.32  3.23  3.20  3.29 
Gross Profit Margin  19.01% 17.75% 18.24% 18.08% 17.27% 
Opera�ng Profit Margin  14.55% 12.85% 14.23% 13.99% 13.25% 
Net profit Margin  2.64% 6.41% 3.85% 3.97% 16.97% 

Par�cular  2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2015
Face value per share 10 10 10 10 10
Dividend on paid up capital  15% 20%  -   -  -
NAV per share  42.08  49.18  31.38  30.49  28.52 
Earnings per Share  1.68  3.99 2.57  2.91  1.79 
Price Earning Ra�o (P/E Ra�o) 37.52  20.75  37.38  32.99  53.59 

Taka in Million
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IPO Fund Utilization Statement  

The Public Offering of 26,041,666nos. of ordinary shares were offered out of which  60% i.e. 15,625,000nos. 
of ordinary shares were reserved for Eligible Investors (EIs) at cut-off price of Tk. 80/- and remaining 40% i.e 
10,416,666nos. of ordinary shares were at a 10% discounted rate from the cut-off price set at  Tk. 72/- per 
share reserved for the General Public including NRB and Others totaling Tk. 2,000,000,000/- (Taka Two 
Hundred Crore only). 

A�er all compliances of provisions under the Public Issue Rules, direc�ves and guidelines o�he Bangladesh 
Securi�es and Exchange Commissions  and other regulators the company finally obtained the Consent of  IPO 
on 28 March 2018 and received the fund  on 27 June 2018. 

The Forecasted Use of Proceeds & Time Schedule of IPO as was published  in the Prospectus dated  
01/04/2018 (page no. 211) men�oned below:

The U�liza�on of the IPO Funds within the declared �me schedule has duly been audited and submi�ed to the 
BSEC and  the Stock Exchanges. 

The company has also complied  with other instruc�ons in this regard.  The all other condi�ons of IPO related 
issues which were set by the BSEC and Stock Exchanges were duly been compiled with within the prescribed 
�me guidelines.

M. Naseemul Hye FCS
Compliance Officer 

Sd/-Date:  11 November, 2019

Sl. 
no. 

Par�culars  Declared �me schedule for 
U�liza�on of Fund 

Amount of Taka  

1. 
Expansion of Business  
(Installa�on of factory Machineries)

 

Within the 02 years of 
receiving Fund 

1,350,000,000 

2. Repayment of Bank loan Within the 30 days of 
receiving Fund  

600,000,000 

3. IPO Expenses On Turnkey basis  50,000,000 

 Total Taka (Two Hundred Crore) 2,000,000,000 

Sl.
no.

Par�culars 
Month of U�liza�on Total of 

U�liza�on (%) June 2018 July 2018 August 2018 

1. Factory Machineries 8% - 92% 100% 

2. Repayment of Bank Loan 100% - - 100% 

3. IPO Expense  81% 17% 2% 100% 

The U�liza�on of the IPO Funds within the declared scope was completed as was scheduled. 

The Statement of Year wise u�liza�on of IPO Proceeds is enumerated below:

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019 33

IPO Fund Report



1.  Bashusnudhara has introduced the following new products in its product  line Expec�ng a significant 
effect  to revenue  generated :

2. Increase of capacity u�liza�on in the FY  2018-2019:

Value added Statement  

Capacity 
Utilization

 

Product/Segment 2018-
2019 

Growth (%) 2017-
2018 

 Paper Sec�on-  

 

49% 2%  47% 

Paper Sec�on- Prin�ng 
Machine 84% 19%  65% 

Baby Diapant 60% 38%

2%

 22% 

Hand Gloves 6% 4% 

New 
Product  

Product Name Produce 
unit 

Capacity 
U�liza�on 

Contribu�on in Gross 
Revenue (BDT) 

Wet 
Wipes  

428,842 cnt. 13% 59.77 Cr.  
Wet 

Tissue
 

318,488 pkt. 
 

5%
 

16.56 Cr.  
Added revenue by introduced products 61.43 Cr.  

3. Increase in Fixed Assets  : 512.41 Cr.  

4. Employment Generated : 563 persons

5. Incased of Export Revenue  : 5.08 Cr.  
6. Machineries  :  Set up fully automated brand 

new �ssue machine which has 
capacity to produce.  
 120 MT / day

 
7. Accolades & Awards   

 

: Awarded best Tissue brand of 
the country namely -  

“ BestBrand”

 : Awarded largest paper brand of 
the country namely - 

“ SuperBrand”
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Directors’ Report to the Shareholders

Dear Honourable Members,
Assalamu Alaikum wa Rahmatullah
On behalf of the Board of Directors of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited (BPML) I am pleased to welcome you all in the 26th 
Annual General Mee�ng of this Company. I express my hear�elt gra�tude to all of you for managing your valuable �me for 
a�ending the 26th AGM of BPML. It is also a great privilege on our part in presen�ng you the 26th Annual Report along with 
the Audited Financial Statements for the FY 2018-2019, Notes to the Accounts, the Statutory Auditors' Report thereon and 
the Audit Commi�ee’s Report, Corporate Governance Statement, Compliance Report, and Nomina�on and Remunera�on 
Commi�ee’s Report to you for your kind considera�on, approval and adop�on.

An Overview of the Economy of Bangladesh 
Bangladesh is a developing country of mixed economy. It is regarded as the 39th largest in the world in nominal terms, and 
29th largest by purchasing power parity. This country is con�nuing its focus on easing infrastructure bo�lenecks, improving 
of livelihood, containing of cost of doing business and skills; and increasing of investment scene as to create more and 
be�er job opportuni�es. We are now regarded as the inspira�on to other countries for sta�c economic growth, substan�al 
growth in literacy rates, progress in poverty reduc�on, per capita food produc�on, health and sanita�on, increase in life 
expectancy, etc. The gradual economic growth enabled this country to a�ain lower middle-income country status. But for 
sustainable growth, it needs to raise industrial produc�vity, implement structural reforms, expand investments opportuni-
�es, a�ain and maintain socio-economic balance, etc.  By reducing infrastructural gaps and improvement of the business 
climate, the produc�ve sectors to be developed and to generate more jobs. It has been classified among next eleven 
emerging market middle income economies in a recent classifica�on. 

Present Global Scenario of Paper Industry
The global produc�on of paper and paper products had increased over the last few decades. The global pulp and paper 
industry is supplied by more than 100 million hectares of forests and the pulpwood planta�ons cover 10 of millions of 
hectares of forest lands, largely in the tropics. More than half of the paper and paper products used globally is for packaging 
purposes, and this area has been increasing consistently in recent years. In considerable numbers of countries in Europe 
and North America in par�cular, there have been substan�al reduc�ons in consump�on of prin�ng and wri�ng paper, 
which globally represents about a quarter of paper use by volume. And globally the use of both newsprints and prin�ng 
papers have been reduced since 2010. The most rapid growth is in sanitary papers, although it accounts for less than 10% 
of global volume of paper sector.

It is expected that the market for paper and paper board will con�nue to grow gradually. It will be due to considerable 
increases in popula�on, literacy rates, and improvement in the life style of the people of developing countries. On the other 
hand there were also sharp declines in most advanced industrialized coun�es due to their preference to the advanced 
electronic communica�ons systems. The demand for paper and paper products increased globally during the last few 
decades but produc�on levels did not reach to the level to meet the demand of paper consumers. The overall global paper 
industry is fragmented in consequence of rapid urbaniza�on, improvements in lifestyle of consumers, rise in disposable 
income and literacy rate. Some special factors - demographic condi�on, economic condi�on and environmental regula�ons 
have a significant impact on the global paper industry dynamics. The increase in the literacy rate, recycling, popula�on, and 
economic growth are an�cipated as the significant factors to boost the global paper industry. Through innova�on and 
energy diversifica�on the paper industry in the developed countries has been turning away from natural forest resources 
as its raw materials. The industry witnessed many up and downs over the last few decades due to remarkable changing 
pa�ern in publica�ons. The publica�on sector has long been considered as the significant user of papers for publishing the 
newsle�ers, journals, and other print media etc. The global demand for paper and paper products has increased rapidly as 
some emerging countries’ economies have depicted significant growth. The popula�on growth and increasing business 
ac�vity also have direct influence on the consump�on of specialty papers. Increasing market share of some emerging 
economies in global trade and rapid industrializa�on have impact on demand for paper. Popula�on growth, urbaniza�on, 
increase in middle class popula�on, rises in standard of living and increase in the literacy rates all over the globe also have 
role over the growth of paper and paper products industry. 
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Some developing countries’ shares in the global paper and paper products industry were also observed in the growing 
trend. It is noteworthy to men�on that some challenges also came in the way of the global paper industry’s growth. It has 
been created due to vola�lity in raw materials availability and raw materials’ prices, imposi�on of strict environmental 
regula�ons by various influen�al na�ons, increased use of electronic media, increasing trend of office automa�ons, 
increase in transporta�on costs, fuel and energy costs etc. 

Overall Paper Market Scenario 
The paper industry of this country began its journey 1950s when a government owned paper mill commenced its opera�on 
at Chandraghona area of Cha�ogram. It took more than two decades further for the private sector paper mills which were 
being established since early 1980s. Gradually the private sector took over its hold over the paper sector of the country and 
now the private sector paper mills are producing 80-85% paper products as consumed by the local consumers. There are 
about 100 paper mills out of which more than 41 paper mills are in opera�on. These paper mills produce different grades 
of paper including wri�ng, prin�ng, liner, media, simplex, duplex, board, newsprint, cigare�e paper, packaging products. 
BPML has con�nued to hold about 30% market share of the paper and paper products sector.

The per capita paper consump�on as well as total paper consump�on was increasing all over the developing countries. And 
Bangladesh was no excep�on. It was reported that the paper mills  of this country in total were producing around 600,000 
MT paper and paper products per annum. While the demand of paper and board was around 700,000 MT per annum. This 
gap in the local supply and demand for paper and paper products was met by imports. If the local market wanted to grow 
up to Asia level, then the consump�on of paper and paper products expected to increase further. So, there will be more 
demand of paper and paper products in future. The significance of paper and paper products in modern life is obvious to 
everyone. Over the last few decades, the paper produc�on has been increased globally. It is expected that the market for 
paper and paper products will con�nue to grow gradually �ll 2030, with par�cularly sharp increases in developing countries 
and a slight decline in the most advanced industrialized coun�es. 

Overall Tissue Paper Market Scenario 
 Per capita consump�on of Tissues in Bangladesh is 150 gm;

 Our �ssue product’s contribu�on to na�onal GDP is 0.025%;

 Yearly growth rate is around 14% whereas global growth rate is 4.96%.

Demand and Supply Gap
In recent years there have been various developments in our country including improvements of livelihood, standard of 
living of the people, GDP growth, fast urbaniza�on etc. It created posi�ve impact in the paper sector as well. If the trend 
con�nues we believe the demand for paper and paper products to cross 3200 MT within a short �me. We have taken 
ini�a�ves to focus on rural markets of Bangladesh wherein most of the people live. We have undertaken na�onwide aware-
ness development programs through discussion sessions, mee�ngs, and seminars on regular intervals and included 
thousands of Imams, religious personali�es, leaders, socially recognized and respected persons in such programs. We 
observed that awareness for using �ssue products in the rural people is developing gradually and people in the rural and 
urban areas have started using more �ssue products now a days.

Before the financial under review the produc�on capacity of BPML was 1,13,050 MT/Year when the factory run with 
approximate 80% of its capacity. As a result we usually got 80-85% of our total requirement and due to shortage of produc-
�on capacity we cannot meet the market demand. Thus short supply becomes common phenomenon in previous years. 

Meanwhile BPML has imported modern machineries and equipment and installed those in the factories of the company. 
The import of the European Brand-New Automated Tissue machineries and equipment added capacity by 30,000 MT/Year 
in produc�on of different grades of �ssue including high-quality facial wipes, toilet paper, and napkins and add diversi�es 
in the product por�olio. A�er successful trial produc�on the commercial produc�on had started in February 2019. It was 
aimed that the company be able to increase its market share a�er full u�liza�on of these new machineries and equipment. 
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The process to establish and start a conver�ng unit having 500MT produc�on capacity in Kolkata, India and another 
conver�ng unit with more 500 MT produc�on capaci�es at Shiliguri, India are under way although jumbo rolls of papers for 
this conver�ng unit is planned to be sent from our local factory.

This company has con�nued to export of its products, although in a lesser volume,  in various countries including India, 
China, England, Australia, Bahrain, UAE, etc. We have been focusing on domes�c markets rather than export markets in 
considering lower margins from exports. We have also engaged our efforts for expansion of our export markets and reach-
ing our products to more and more foreign countries. And our expert sales teams are working hard in implemen�ng the 
plan of further business expansion outside of the country. 

A brief descrip�on of Business Strategy 
It is widely regarded that paper producing is highly complex and integrated technology involving lot of process areas, 
op�ons and types before determina�on of the finished products. BPML is a modern paper industry, divided into various 
sec�ons and process areas/units. It is also the pioneer in paper produc�on industries in the private sector of this country. 
It started its journey in 1993, since then has been producing quality papers and paper products having wide market 
demand and with this it has been helping the na�on to save huge amount of hard-earned foreign currency by cu�ng 
dependence on imported paper products. 

BPML aims to con�nue as the market leader in this par�cular sector of this country. Meanwhile it has completed its journey 
of 26 years and within this period it has established itself as a supplier of innova�ve products by maintaining quality of its 
products at affordable prices. The business model of BPML is designed to deliver sustainable growth. The key objec�ves of 
the company is managing business as to achieve sta�c growth with sustainability and profitability, increase the value of the 
business for capital providers as well as the stakeholders. It has also engaged all its efforts to introduce more and more new 
products and services to sa�sfy the requirements of the consumers – locally and interna�onally. 

Objec�ve of the Company
As a business venture BPML’s objec�ves include various kinds of goals some are fundamental, and others change as it grows 
which are specific, measurable, a�ainable, relevant and �me bound as well. BPML aimed to develop and maintain 
long-term customer rela�onship through diversified products those enhance the prospects of success in markets. In this 
pursuit this company engaged all its efforts to generate sustainable revenue and profitability through  prompt decision 
making in business opera�ons. And BPML in its endeavor for growth also kept its keen observa�on as to maintain its 
posi�on in the paper industry by establishment of cost and opera�ng efficiencies; serving of its customer for their sa�sfac-
�on; proac�ve environmental issues; con�nued corporate social responsibility discharging; con�nued improvements in 
health and safety related areas.  As a leading paper and �ssue manufacturing and marke�ng company, since its commercial 
opera�on in 1997 this company has been facing strong compe��on. The Company views the need for a strategic plan in 
business opera�on of long-range. This company is also concerned on building up its image for maintaining of its customers’ 
loyalty, a�rac�on of more customers, establishment of trust for a visible profile. For enhancing of its image the company 
offered various programs, sponsored events, and made matching contribu�ons to chari�es as well.

Strategic Goal of the Company
BPML is a leading paper and paper manufacturing company of this country. It its pursuit engaged all its business efforts to 
develop its presence in the markets, par�cularly in the �ssue and paper sector where inherent growth and cost benefits are 
most apparent. In its paper and �ssue businesses, the company sees bigger opportuni�es to develop by leveraging the 
competencies in both mature and emerging markets. Sustainable development is integral to the success of the business 
and its ability to create value. The Strategic Goal of the Company is:

  To focus on developing markets that offer us growth opportuni�es;

  To invest in the excep�onal people and high-quality, low-cost opera�ons;

  To passionate about performance, reliability and sustainability; and

  To work with the customers, value them and involve efforts to meet their needs.
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The paper sector is very compe��ve and to cope with this in produc�on and business opera�ons BPML has put emphasis 
on:

  Some changes in manufacturing process; 

  Product diversifica�on; 

  Asset consolida�on/op�miza�on; 

  Growth plans, which may include expanding the business, introducing new products, loca�ons, and market 
segments; 

  Supply chain revisions; 

  Ways to reduce the cost of goods sold including efficiencies in manufacturing and reduc�on of water and u�lity 
consump�on; 

  Asset preserva�on / maintenance plans including capital expenditures for mee�ng current regula�ons and 
maintaining the future of exis�ng assets; 

  Con�nuous training of the human resources to match with technological advancements. 

  Safety ini�a�ves and measures. 

The company’s business and strategic objec�ves are summarized as:
  To constantly innova�ng its products, service, quality and delivery in order to develop and/or maintain preferred 

supplier status; 

  To expand market posi�ons through selec�ve focused growth from increased market share through consolidat-
ing, and where appropriate, extending its leadership posi�on. By deepening the Company’s customer rela�on-
ships through a relentless pursuit of innova�ve ini�a�ves that assist the customers’ market impact and op�mize 
their supply chain ac�vi�es.

  To ensure customer sa�sfac�on and excellence in all its business opera�ons;

  To become the supplier/partner of choice of its customers, developing proac�ve ini�a�ves to improve their 
offering;

  To focus on enhancing its opera�onal excellence;

  To improve the output through judicious capital investment, con�nuous improvement programmes, transfer of 
best prac�ce, industrial engineering, and other progressive ini�a�ves emana�ng from its technical experts;

  To ensure customer sa�sfac�on and excellence in all its business opera�ons;

  To recruit, retain, develop, and mo�vate the best personnel and u�lizing their full poten�al to add value in the 
opera�on;

  To maintain a disciplined approach to resources alloca�on and maintain the focus on fund genera�on and its 
u�liza�on most efficiently and effec�vely to a�ain success in the long run;

  To improve the output through judicious capital investment, con�nuous improvement programmes, transfer of 
best prac�ce, industrial engineering, and other progressive ini�a�ves emana�ng from its technical experts;

  To maintain a disciplined approach to capital alloca�on and maintain the focus on fund genera�on efficiently 
and effec�vely as to success of its strategy. 

  To recruit, retain, develop, and mo�vate best personnel and u�lizing their full poten�al to add value in                
opera�ons;

  To pursue for superior performance in all spheres of its business and at all levels in its organiza�on.
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Paper Market Scenario 

Around 100 paper mills were established in Bangladesh’s small scale paper market.  Although it is over crowded in the 
present situa�on but is viewed that this sector  has ample scope to grow as demand for paper has been rising in local 
market. The imported papers met a large por�on of domes�c demands just a few years back, but now the market share and 
the capacity of local manufacturers has grown up. The number of paper mills has now increased to 100 from around 50 five 
years back, while 15 or 20 more units are under process to go into opera�on soon, in a market survey it has been stated. 
The paper sector, producing around 1.65 million tons of paper in a calendar year, has also generated about 1.0 million direct 
and indirect employments.

It has been reported that, many factories in European countries and in China were about to close due to higher produc�on 
cost and other issues, which opened up opportuni�es for our country. Bangladesh can take advantage and fetch a share of 
the global paper market, cashing in on the closure of around half of the mills in Europe and China. The paper industry may 
capture a big share of the global market if provided with more policy supports such as raising cash incen�ve, checking illegal 
trade and promo�ng the sector abroad.

The paper sector needs to address several challenges effec�vely to make its growth sustainable. The increasing prices of 
raw materials in the interna�onal market including the cost of imported both hardwood and so�wood pulps which have 
gone up almost double by just two years is big challenge. The local manufacturers cannot adjust the price propor�onate to 
such price fluctua�ons, resul�ng in very low profit margins. The paper sector has to import so�wood pulp from North 
America and European sources and hardwood pulp mostly from Indonesia. As this country cannot produce pulp as it 
doesn't have adequate trees in forest area and fully dependent on pulp import, put a major barrier for the local paper 
sector to become compe��ve in global market. 

The paper sector has to import almost all its raw materials through Cha�ogram port. But the recurrent conges�ons in the 
port make it difficult to bring the pulp-laden containers to paper industries and the seaport also lacks suitable paper-han-
dling facility. Beside  these challenges, the paper sector has been facing another challenge of shortage of skilled human 
resources required in the paper mills.

Public and private offices, packaging, prin�ng, publica�on and educa�on sectors are main consumers of papers and paper 
products in Bangladesh. Wide scale import of various types of large quan�ty of paper and paper products in every year is a 
challenge for the paper industry. The illegal trade of papers which have been imported under bonded facility is also posing 
a  serious threat to local paper manufacturers. The export oriented apparel sector of Bangladesh prefers imported papers 
for its packaging and other process posing another threat to local paper sector. 

However, by balancing and addressing of the challenges this company is opera�on its business ac�vi�es. We have also 
undertaken various steps and ini�a�ves to create awareness as to increase the uses of �ssue. It was observed that monthly 
requirements  of �ssue products was  around 2,400 MT for which BPML’s our contribu�on was around 75% of the total 
requirements. By the ceaseless efforts it is expected that this company will be able us to grab more market shares in the 
coming days.

Exis�ng Market Segment: 
Paper and paper products consumers of our country can be segmented by loca�on, purchasing approaches, behaviour, 
seasonal varia�on, volume and frequency, personal characteris�cs, brand preferences etc. Paper and paper product 
sector’s consumer segmenta�on combines behavior and costs of products aspects. There are three main groups of �ssue 
products’ consumers of Bangladesh:

 i. Urban Markets;

 ii. Semi-Urban Markets; and

 iii. Rural Markets.
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All types of �ssue products, mostly facial, napkin and toilet �ssues were frequently purchased by the people in the urban 
areas whereas people living in semi-urban areas use �ssue products including napkin and toilet �ssues. The toilet �ssues 
along with small quan�ty of other �ssue products frequently been sold in rural areas of Bangladesh. 

Development of awareness, changes in lifestyles and popula�on increase played some posi�ve role for growth of �ssue 
paper markets both in rural and urban areas. It is expected that the rural markets may expand further as most of the people 
of Bangladesh are living there.

 
Market Compe��on
At present we are living in a global village wherein most of the business and industries have to face fierce compe��ons - 
both locally and globally. When reviewed regularly and challenges are faced on �me at the right direc�on the handling of 
compe��on become easier.  Our country’s paper sector of is no excep�on. More than 100 modern paper mills out which 
41 mills are running and are producing a huge quan�ty of paper and paper products in our local market. Just few decades 
back Bangladesh has to import almost all paper and paper products it needed but the scenario has been changed gradually. 
And since the establishment of small numbers of paper mills in the private sector, these industries started to take lead and 
since then trying to make this country self-sufficient in produc�on of paper and paper products to fulfill the local demand. 

During late 1950s the paper industry of Bangladesh went into opera�on and more than 100 paper industries were estab-
lished meanwhile, and 41 local private paper mills were in opera�on  producing more than 580,000 MT of paper and paper 
products per year. The paper industry has proved as a poten�al sector in Bangladesh and may become one of the foreign 
currency earners of this country. In our na�onal economy  a�er readymade garments and leather industry, this sector is 
playing a vital role in earning foreign currencies. 

But due to increase in imported items, the local producters of paper and paperboard has to cut down their produc�on to 
some extent. Most of the local paper mills compelled to produce paper and paperboard u�lizing only half of their capaci-
�es. 

The paper producers of this country are also expor�ng products to various countries. A�er mee�ng the local demand, they 
are expor�ng to about 40 countries, bringing in large amounts of foreign currency. According to the Export Promo�on 
Bureau (EPB), paper product exports totaled to US$ 10 million in the fiscal year (2016-2017). By introducing modern 
technology, the paper producers adding values to this sector, and foreign buyers have started coming to  import paper 
products because of the good quality from Bangladesh. Recently, many factories in China and some European countries 
were set close due to higher produc�on costs and environmental issues, bringing up hopes for Bangladesh. Our country can 
take advantages by entering into global market with more products. 

This company views that if the ma�ers are being reviewed regularly, challenges are faced on �me and necessary steps being 
taken at the right direc�on then adversity of compe��on can be contained. It has started to s�tch to new techniques to 
reduce produc�on costs and produce more export quality paper products maintaining interna�onal standards. We have 
already introduced advanced paper produc�on technology to process wastages of our factory and conver�ng those into 
by-products and place those in the market commercially.

 
Marke�ng Environment 
The commodi�es like paper require confidence of its consumers and compe��ve price which are essen�al factors for 
ensuring the demand. Branding is also important and the customers want to find trustworthy brands within their affordable 
prices and supply in �me. Paper consumers of our country can be segmented by loca�on, purchasing approaches, 
behaviour, seasonal varia�on, volume and frequency, personal characteris�cs, brand preferences etc. Paper customer’s 
characteris�cs could also be segmented into price sensi�ve customers, quality conscious customers and quality and price 
tolerance customers etc. It is the actor and force that affect the ability of a company placed in this sector to build and main-
tain successful rela�onships with its clientele by fulfilling and sa�sfy their demand on �mely basis. The market promo�onal 
ac�vi�es are considered mul�-dimensional which consisted number of ac�vi�es and is a technique for gearing up sales of 
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a company. Through which the selling of products increased, consumers’ knowledge about the product increased and also 
help the consumers to save their �me in purchasing of products. It also helps the manufacturers to sell their products. 
Hence quick selling is possible which leads to more produc�on at less cost. The rela�on between intermediaries is 
improved through these ac�vi�es and is the key to marke�ng communica�on of any product or brand. It helps to create 
awareness as well as to show the product a�ributes and benefits of the brand to the mass consumer level. 

BPML has operated its market promo�onal programs through campaigns aimed for the consumers, users and sellers of 
various levels and con�nuous innova�ve ac�vi�es. The promo�onal ac�vi�es of this company are carried out through wide 
range of promo�onal ac�vi�es for the target customers and it has been carried out by a team of crea�ve and energe�c 
personnel who launch frequent programs including adver�sing, personal selling, sales promo�on, direct marke�ng, 
training and knowledge sharing, public rela�ons, etc.

Raw Materials Supply & Produc�on 
The inven�on of paper greatly shaped the civiliza�on and helped the spread of literature and literacy of the mankind.  Now 
paper is the most essen�al thing for every one of us who use the paper in some or the other way. It is said that without the 
paper our lives would be miserable and one can’t even imagine the situa�on at that �me. The history of paper dated back 
to 2nd Century while first official report on manufacture of paper was reported in China. The knowhow of paper manufac-
turing spread from China to other countries, along with the trade and silk routes. Pulp and paper produc�on has increased 
globally and will con�nue to increase in the near future and s�ll is one of the largest manufacturing sectors in this globe. At 
present �me, per capita paper consump�on in a country considered as the yards�ck for measurement of its industrializa-
�on. There are about several billions of people living on over the globe. The paper consump�on during the last 20th                
century and current 21st century have been increased to many folds which  faster than the global popula�on growth during 
same period. 

In the paper industry wide varie�es of raw materials both cellulosic and non-cellulosic - from forest, agricultural residues, 
waste papers, coal, various chemicals etc. are used. The major raw materials used in the paper industry is hard wood pulp, 
so� wood pulp, hard & so� wood kra� pulp, waste papers, various agricultural residues etc. Beside this, paper industry also 
consumes considerable amount of chemicals. Almost all the raw materials used for produc�on of paper and paper products 
by the paper and paper products producers in this country are imported from various des�na�ons including Singapore, 
India, Indonesia, Canada, Sweden, Oman, Malaysia, China, South Korea, Brazil, Finland, USA, Philippines, etc.  

Almost all required raw materials for paper produc�ons are imported by the local paper producers. As our country lacks the 
natural forest resources for which it is unable to meet up the demand for different types of pulp and other raw materials of 
the local paper manufacturers. The paper producers of Bangladesh has to import paper producing raw materials including 
pulp of all types from the countries like - Indonesia, Singapore, Germany, Canada, Finland, Sweden, Brazil, Chile, North 
American Countries etc.  

In a recent report it was reported that the most of the so�wood pulp were imported from North America and Europe and 
the hardwood pulp was mostly imported from Indonesia. These countries produce pulps from various types of forest trees. 
The full dependence on the imported raw materials by the paper and paper products sector of Bangladesh made this sector 
vulnerable to various global issues. This sector has been facing the problem of con�nued increase of prices of raw materials 
in the interna�onal market.  During the year under review the cost of imported hardwood pulp has gone up to double in 
comparison to its prices of just two years back. It is to be noted here that per metric ton so�wood pulp's price in the 
interna�onal market shot up to US $980 during the year under review which was US $500 per metric ton just three years 
ago. For the local paper manufacturers it is hard to adjust the increased price which ul�mately nega�vely hit in the results. 

The import of hardwood pulp was mostly made from Indonesia, while so�wood pulp sourced from European and North 
American countries. From various types of trees of natural vast forests these countries produce pulps and export to interna-
�onal des�na�ons. 
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Availability of power is a big issue for paper manufacturing industry. The produc�on of paper and paper products are 
technology based which require uninterrupted electricity supply at large scale during produc�on process. The power 
supply to the paper factories are met by the na�onal power grid but interrup�on to power supply and fluctua�on thereto 
result disrup�on in paper produc�on and produc�on costs were increased. 

Transporta�on cost is another factor through this the products - imported raw materials and of finished products supplies 
being carried on involving huge expenses. The products of the BPML are segmented in three broad segments: Bulk Papers; 
Tissue Paper Products; and Health & Hygiene Products. In opera�on it is also segmented in five categories: Paper products, 
Tissue products, Paper Sack products, Health & Hygiene products and Mosquito coils.

BPML has established its own distribu�on network which maintained its supply channels. The carrying and supplying work 
of bulk raw materials this company used ships and cargo-vessels. And for delivery of raw materials to the factory and supply 
of finished products - paper and paper products all over in the country the company used cargo-vessel, chemical tankers, 
pick-ups, covered vans of different capaci�es, refrigerated vans and trucks as well. During the year under review this 
company faced recurrent conges�ons in Cha�ogram Port for which it was difficult to bring the pulp-laden containers to the 
factory directly. This adversity to the paper sector further increased as the Cha�ogram Port lacks suitable paper-handling 
facility. 

Shortage of skilled manpower in the paper sector, specially at the factory level, was another challenge for this company 
likewise other companies in this sector.  There were also shortages of skilled labour force for handling - loading and unload-
ing of the paper and paper products.  

Consumers Segmenta�on
Bangladesh is an agro based country situated in the south eastern part of Asia and culturally the people of this country 
contains the South-Asian values and culture. It is economically in lower middle income bracket and the society is divided 
into several economic groups : upper rich class, upper middle class, lower middle class and lower income people. As it is a 
mul� dimensional society so the consumers’ behavior pa�ern is complex. The �ssue paper industry of our country is domi-
nateds by local producers. And this company is the pioneer of this par�cular segment of this country. The segment has kept 
growing gradually due to increase of popula�on, development of health and hygiene awareness, changes in life styles and 
rising of income levels of the country people. It has been reported that 80 per cent of the people of this country are using 
�ssue papers at least once in a month. More than 1.0 million families use toilet paper rolls every week and facial �ssue box 
in every month while hotel and restaurants consume about 10 million pieces of table napkins annually which helped to the 
growth of this sector. 

Our country’s �ssue market’s segments are-

 i. Urban Markets;

 ii. Semi- Urban Markets; and

 iii. Rural Markets.

The �ssue products, mostly facial �ssue,  wet �ssue, napkin, pocket and toilet �ssues whereas people living in semi-urban 
areas use �ssue products like napkin, pocket and toilet �ssues are  frequently purchased by people posi�oned in urban 
areas. On the other hand toilet �ssues which are in the lower cost bracket are frequently sold in rural areas.  The consumers 
of the pocket �ssues are mostly the students and labour forces of over the country. 

In a recent report is was  published that the demand for �ssue paper was around 3,500 MT in 2007 which was gradually 
increased and the country's paper companies produced 22,000 MT in FY 2018-2019. The local �ssue paper industry meet 
most of the demand for toilet paper, facial �ssue, kitchen towels, table napkin, and wrapping �ssue, incen�vised by diversi-
fied consumers of the country. And this company itself has produced 16,004 MT of �ssue papers for local and foreign 
buyers during the year under review. The process of rapid urbanisa�on is leading the industry, and it is expected that the 
size of the market will increase in the coming years due to growing use of the paper and paper products in urban and rural 
areas.
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Transporta�on
The transporta�on cost is considered as vital in the paper sector, as such this company has to pay special a�en�on on cost 
effec�ve paper distribu�on channels. For produc�on of paper and paper products the raw materials are considered as bulk 
commodi�es. It is noteworthy to men�on that, the paper manufacturing industries of this country are en�rely dependent 
on raw materials brought from foreign sources. The most of the import of raw materials is made through waterways as the 
paper producers have to import raw materials in bulk quan�ty by ships. In view of this the cost of transporta�on is consid-
ered as very vital in paper sector. BPML has to pay special a�en�on on cost effec�ve raw materials sourcing and paper and 
paper products distribu�on channels. BPML  has its own distribu�on channels and supply network. For raw materials and 
finished products carrying work and supplying ships and cargo-vessels are used, some of which are owned by this company. 
This company for its delivery of raw materials to the factory and supply of finished products - paper and paper products 
from the factory all over in the country uses cargo-vessel, chemical tankers, pick-ups, refrigerated vans, trucks, covered vans 
of different capaci�es.

The FY 2018-2019 experienced very significant increase in the transporta�on costs in both road and waterways for which 
this company had   to   incur   addi�onal  costs  for    transporta�on of both raw materials and finished paper and paper 
products. The fuel costs, water transporta�on costs were increased significantly and infla�on of the country also raised and 
delays in unloading of raw materials in the ports also had nega�ve effects on the cost of produc�on of this company. 

Seasonality
The products of the BPML are segmented in five broad segments:

 i. Paper Products;

 ii. Tissue Products;

 iii. Health & Hygiene Products;

 iv. PPWB & Sacks.

 v. Insec�cides (mosquito coils).

There is an important factor which has effect on paper sector of this country - the seasonal varia�on in demand for the 
paper products in the market. The seasonal varia�on has a deep-rooted effect on purchase behaviour of the consumers in 
this country. In different parts of a year demand for paper products, specially the bulk white paper, face sharp varia�ons. It 
was observed that demand reaches to the peak, for bulk white papers, during the period of September to February months. 
It is the �me when text books are printed before the advent of the educa�on year at the na�onal level and distributed 
among students. In February the na�onal book fair of this country takes place where  huge crowds, irrespec�ve of their 
na�onali�es  ages, gender, class and castes, pay visits. It is being regarded as the peak �me for the prin�ng and publica�on 
houses of this country as well. On the other hand, during March to June period the demand for bulk white paper reduces 
to the very low posi�on. This period is considered as the off season for the bulk papers. And during July – August period the 
demand for the bulk papers reaches to its lowest level as it’s the dull season.

Health & Hygiene Products segment also faces seasonal varia�ons. It is observed that the demand for hygiene products 
reaches to the peak posi�on during winter months which spans over the months from November to January of the English 
calendar year.  A�er the recession of winter, the demand for health and hygiene products experiences the decreasing trend. 
By the month of March it reduces to the lower level. It is the period which has been considered as the off season for health 
and hygiene products segment of paper sector of our country. For the health and hygiene products segment the remaining 
part of a year is considered as the dull season. 

There is also seasonal varia�ons in �ssue paper products segment. The dull season in the �ssue paper products segment 
being observed during Ramadan month when the majority of the people of this country perform fas�ng. The demand for 
�ssue paper reduces to the lowest level during the month of Ramadan. When the Ramadan rituals are over then and during 
the fes�vi�es in this country the demand for �ssue paper products take its posi�on in the market.
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Rainy season of this country being considered as off season for �ssue paper products segment.  

The demand for �ssue paper products remains almost sta�c during the remaining part of a year. 

The management of this company by taking into considera�on of these issues has developed season responsive approach-
es and set the strategy and taking various steps including introducing of more new products which have demand during dull 
and/or off seasons and delivering its products to consumers. 

Produc�on - Supply management
The management of produc�on up to supply level is mul�-func�onal which ranged from managing movement of raw mate-
rials, processing of materials into finished goods, movement of finished products up to the ul�mate consumers. The 
process of manufacturing of paper and paper products is complex and en�rely technology dependent. The efficiency of 
produc�on of paper and paper products are dependent on supply management’s effec�veness. As it is a cross-func�onal 
approach includes managing of the movement of raw materials, processing of materials into finished goods, and the move-
ment of finished goods towards the end users effec�vely, �mely and efficiently. The paper and paper products are high-vol-
ume, low-value commodi�es so the transporta�on of the raw materials as well as the finished goods over distances has 
direct effects on costs and earnings. 

The paper sector has the special feature.  It is regarded as the lower margins earnings sector for its producers.  The paper 
sector has another speciality. In the supply chain there are many intermediaries from the paper producers to the ul�mate  
consumers of the paper and paper products. 

Produc�on and Sales 
The paper sector of this country is placed in a very compe��ve market scenario.  Once, our country was fully dependent on 
imported paper and paper products but the condi�on has been changed. Now this country have more than 100 modern 
paper mills out of which 41 mills are in produc�on opera�on  which are producing a considerable quan��es of paper and 
paper products. Some of these paper producers are expor�ng their products and earning foreign exchanges as well.  At 
present, the paper industry of this country is no longer limited to produc�on of wri�ng and prin�ng papers. On produc�on 
and supply of paper and paper products There are several factors that have impact. The paper producers have to cope up 
with the market demand and supply is directly related to the changes in demand and quan�ty demanded. The paper sector 
is affected by some other factors - rate of infla�on, fiscal policies and financing opportuni�es etc. which affect the buying 
power of the customers and thus result in change of supply situa�on of paper and paper products. This company has 
carefully designed its produc�on and business strategy with the op�on of midterm evalua�ons on regular basis. We also 
have engaged our expert team to monitor the emergence of new compe��ons and risk issues. This also brought posi�ve 
impact in the overall opera�onal result. For example our monthly sales were only Tk. 20 lacs per month in the year 2000 
when this company commenced its produc�on, whereas the monthly sales of BPML stood to Tk. 92.12 crores per month 
during the FY 2018-2019 under review. And poten�al markets in rural areas are now exploring more than ever as around 
65% people of the country live in such areas. Low overhead cost is the most significant facility it is being observed among 
the compe�tors in the sector. The produc�on and sales of paper and paper products are inter dependent. The demand of 
paper and paper products in our country has some unique characteris�cs. The products of the BPML are segmented in five 
broad segments: 

 i.  Paper Products;

 ii.  Tissue Products;

 iii.  Health & Hygiene Products;

 iv.  PPWB & Sacks.

 v.  Insec�cides (mosquito coils).
56%
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This company sales its paper and paper products through various op�ons including -
 i.    Distributors;  v.    Industrial units/Offices; 
 ii.   Dealers; vi.   Printers & Publishers; 
 iii.   Retailers;  vii. Individual Consumers; 
 iv.  Suppliers;  viii. Other Customers. 

BPML has arranged series of compe��ons, seminars, idea sharing mee�ngs, conferences, and assemblies of the dealers, 
students, teachers, professionals and the consumers - exis�ng and poten�al as well during the years 2018-2019 for gearing 
up the sales.

In comparison to the previous year, during the year under review the produc�on of the paper and papers products 
increased to some extent and the sales revenue in terms of money’s worth was significantly increased. 

In FY 2018-2019, the company was able to earn the net revenue by sale of paper and paper products amoun�ng to Tk. 
1103.91crore which was Tk. 1082.10 crore in the FY 2017-2018 registering an increase of Tk.21.61 crore which 2.02% 
during the year under review. 

This is to report that two new products were introduced by BPML in the local paper and paper products market during the 
FY 2018-2019. In the 1st year a�er the introduc�on of these new products, it fetched 6.14 crore revenue and contributed 
posi�vely in the total revenue earnings of the company.  

The company has exported paper and paper products to 23 countries and earned Tk. 4.33 crore from the paper and paper 
products export. The exported products included A3, A4 and legal-sized papers, exercise books, industrial paper, and health 
and hygiene products, toilet paper, paper napkin, facial �ssue, kitchen towel, pocket �ssue, paper towel, clinical bed sheets 
and jumbo roll �ssues, wet wipes, wet �ssue etc. 

Produc�on Capacity Increase          
The paper sector of this country is over-crowded burdened with overcapacity as there are more than 100 paper mills in this 
small paper products market. However, the paper market demands for quality products at affordable price as well.  In this 
sector only 01 company is the integrated pulp and paper producing company. The all other paper mills of this country are 
using imported pulps and recycled fibers. The online media and publica�ons (books, magazine and journals) which are 
regarded as subs�tute for paper, is not yet become popular in our country. So it is forecasted that growth poten�als for 
demand of papers in upcoming years to exist. The paper sector faces some hindrance including energy crisis, shortage of 
quality raw materials which hampers produc�on and supply system and limits op�mum capacity u�liza�on of paper mills. 

The industry is highly correlated with daily life styles of popula�ons, consump�on trends in the offices, educa�onal ins�tu-
�ons, agencies, newspapers, industrial growth. The per capita paper and board consump�on in Bangladesh is around 4 - 
4.25kg, whereas in the advanced countries it is more than 300 kg per year and the world’s average is around 52 kg, while 
the Asia average is around 35 kg. To a�ain at least the Asia level, the current per capita paper and board consump�on 
required to be increased.

In order to ensure market existence there was no other alterna�ves for BPML but to increase its capacity as  well as to keep 
pace with advanced  technologies and diverse customer demands. The company con�nuously inves�ng and deploying its 
resources to match with market demand and strengthening long term sustainability. To increase the market share the 
management of BPML has taken up various measures including the following:  
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 • Renova�on of produc�on line;  

 • Introduc�on of more new products and by products in produc�on and supply;

 • Installa�on of new machineries at factory;

 • Se�ng up of new produc�on units; 

 • Establishment of control on overhead costs; 

 • Long term and short term product planning; 

 • Searching for best quality raw material sources at compe��ve price; 

 • Ensure uninterrupted power supply and u�lity service in the produc�on line; 

 • Training, development and hiring of skilled human resources in the company.  

Meanwhile BPML has imported modern machineries and equipment and installed those in the factories of the company. 
The import of the European Brand-New Automated Tissue machineries and equipment were executed by u�lizing of the 
borrowed funds and 100% u�liza�on of the IPO subscrip�ons proceeds. The machine increased the capacity by 30,000 
MT/Year in produc�on of different grades of �ssue including high-quality facial wipes, toilet paper, and napkins and add 
diversi�es in the product por�olio. A�er successful trial produc�on the commercial produc�on had started in February 
2019. It was aimed that the company to be able to increase its market share a�er full u�liza�on of these new machineries 
and equipment.  

It is worth to men�on that before installing of these machineries and equipment, BPML had 1,13,050 MT/Year Tissue & 
Paper manufacturing capacity per annum. 

Performance of the Company
This company has been striving hard to achieve its mission statement for which it has set out its business plan and drew up 
the roadmap to a�ain it. The management of the company views that every posi�ve result out of the business opera�on 
will help it to sustain in this very compe��ve market condi�on. In this pursuit the company regularly reviews its periodic 
business performances, market posi�oning, customer base, and adjusted its marke�ng strategy at various stages and even 
revised the annual business plan. 

Due to these factors the sales revenue of this company maintained its posi�ve trend during the FY 2018-2019. In the FY 
under review the net sales revenue amounted to Tk. 1,105.52 crore crore compared to Tk. 1,082.10 crore in FY 2017-2018, 
registering an increase in sales revenue of Tk. 23.42crore from the previous financial year’s sales revenues, marking 2.19% 
increase to the previous year. Although the produc�on costs had increased to a significant extent and the selling and distri-
bu�on expenses were also increased remarkably. 

The management of the Company had undertaken various strategic drives, engaged un�ring efforts, and tried extensively 
to nego�ate the risks and challenges as far as possible.  During the FY 2018-2019 under review the cost of goods sold was 
Tk. 894.03 crore whereas in the previous FY it was Tk. 890.05 crore, marking a rise in cost of goods sold by 0.45%. 

This company was able to earn net profit amoun�ng TK. 29.18 crore during the period under review which was Tk. 69.36 
crore in the FY 2017-2018 by registering 57.93% decrease in the net profit earnings in FY 2018-2019. It was due to increase 
in the cost of goods sold, increase in transporta�on costs, selling, distribu�on and marke�ng costs, adjustment of defferd 
tax liabili�es as well as changes in the tax rates (as our products have been reclassified by the NBR authority in FY 
2018-2019), adjustment in the sales price in the market due to sharp compe��on from the local and foreign competetors.  

Environment Protec�on
For future genera�ons growth and healthy living environment is now the foremost agenda of the na�ons. Environment 
ac�vists regards that every ci�zen has to do something posi�ve to protect our mother nature and environment to stop 
climate changes. The management of this company is very much concerned about it responsibili�es in the protec�on of the 
environment and conserva�on as well. This company has designed and following the sta�c policy in its produc�on process 
and business opera�on as to maintain and protect the mother nature. In formula�ng the  business plans, ac�on framework 
and in decision making the environmental issues have been given the priority. BPML’s environmental policy objec�ves 
included the following: 
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 • Ensure sustainable and equitable use of resources without degrading the environment;

 • Consider health or safety risks in produc�on and business opera�on and ensure adequate measures to those risks;

 • Prevent and control degrada�on of land, water, vegeta�on and air in its opera�onal areas;

 • Improve condi�on and produc�vity of in the factory and office premises;

 • Raise awareness and understanding of the link between environment and development;

 • Promote individual and community par�cipa�on.

Dividend Policy   
Board of Directors of this company has been trying to maintain sta�c dividend policy. It has set dividend policy for ascertain-
ment of its divisible profit and declara�on of the dividends for shareholders of the company uniformly following the set 
guidelines. The company always considered the interests of its shareholders before all other issues and it has con�nued to 
share its profits and gains among the real owners of the company. 

The Board of Directors of this company, by considering and accommoda�ng all the issues including the commitment to the 
members, fund arrangements, opera�onal performances and liquidity posi�on of this company, has been pleased to 
recommend for payment of 15% Cash Dividends for all the ordinary/general shareholders of this company other than the 
sponsor shareholders/directors/Pre-IPO placement shareholders for the period ended on 30 June 2019. The members 
other than the sponsor shareholders/directors/Pre-IPO placement shareholders (as per Note no. 15.02.1 of the financial 
statement of this company for FY 2018-2019) whose names appeared in the Members Register of this company on the 
Record Date on 02/12/2019 will be en�tled for the Cash Dividend. 

Contribu�on to the Na�onal Exchequer
It is established that no development takes place over a night as it’s a con�nuous process. It could never be a�ained 
without accelera�ng growth of all the sectors of a country’s economy and contribu�ons of its ci�zens to na�onal exchequer. 
BPML considers the benefits of the na�on and the society from its incorpora�on. This company ac�vi�es and business 
opera�ons maintaining integrity and transparency in se�ng and execu�on  of the strategy, policy and prac�ces, including 
paying off all applicable taxes, VAT and du�es properly and on �mely basis. BPML is a regular contributor to na�onal exche-
quer and contribu�ng significantly towards development and growth of this country. 

During the FY 2018-2019, this company contributed an 
amount of Tk. 61.17 crore in the form of Tax, Customs Du�es, 
VAT etc. The contribu�on to the na�onal exchequer was equiv-
alent to 5.54% of the total sales revenue of the company 
during the period under review. Where in the Financial Year 
2017-2018 the contribu�ons of this company to the na�onal 
exchequer was Tk. 74.66 crore which was 6.89% of the total 
sales of the same period. 

Risk Factors and its Management
Risk has omnipresence over all areas of business. The risk 
management is something special that must to be handled with due care and importance. In every business there are 
uncertain�es where some of the possibili�es involve price fluctua�ons, currency fluctua�ons, infla�on, economic reces-
sion, loss, catastrophe, other undesirable outcome, absence of complete certainty, existence of more than one possibility. 
It is viewed that there are uncertain�es where some of the possibili�es involve price fluctua�ons, currency fluctua�ons, 
infla�on, economic recession, uneven compe��on, loss, natural calami�es, catastrophe, change in laws, change of consum-
er behavior, raw material supply risks, technology related 
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risk, other undesirable outcome, absence of complete certainty, existence of more than one possibility.  In spite of a no�ce-
able supply & demand opportunity in paper and allied products. Although this sector has poten�ality but has some risk  
factors involved with the industries. Firstly, it is threatened by over supply resul�ng from huge capacity expansion by almost 
all leading market players. Secondly, almost all raw materials of paper and paper products manufacturing are imported, if 
the supplies of the same are cut-off due to adverse poli�cal cause or other disturbance, the industry may face serious 
challenges, even the risk of shu�ng down. Another risk predicted is the risk of global compe��on and global crisis including 
economic recession. Besides this there is also big risk of wide scale import of paper and paper products into this country. 
Further technological advancement in the paper manufacturing mills is another major threat to this sector.

BPML in opera�ng its business put its special emphasis on the risk management issues. The risk monitoring and mi�ga�on 
system has been well designed to face the challenges of the risk factors involved in this par�cular sector. The company has 
also chalk out its opera�onal plans considering  the risk issues and the risk management by iden�fying and characterizing 
the areas of risks and threats at the very early stages. By se�ng business strategies and taking of adequate measures the 
management of this company engaged its efforts to iden�fy the risks at the very early stages and to set business strategies, 
take adequate and measures on proper �me, as far as possible, either to remove or limit the risk involved issues. 

Related Party Transac�ons
In business opera�ons and prac�ces this company put special care for the compliances to laws, protec�on and preserva�on 
of interests of the stakeholders through the following of the code of conduct for ethical behavior, accountability and trans-
parency. The informa�on on the Related Party Transac�ons has been disclosed in the note no. 12 of the financial statement. 

Cer�fica�ons
BPML has been awarded with the ISO 9001:2015 Cer�fica�on by QCS Management Pvt Ltd., India in 2016 a�er the success-
ful assessment of the Management System in the company and compliances of the requirements of the interna�onal 
standard ISO 9001: 2015. 

The company has also been awarded with the ISO 14001:2015 Cer�fica�on by RoyalCert Interna�onal Registrars GmbH, 
Germany [Deutsche Akkredi�erungsstelle (DAkkS)],  in 2018 a�er it was assessed under the RoyalCert audi�ng & cer�fica-
�on procedures and found that it was in accordance with the  requirements of the interna�onal standard ISO 14001: 2015 
of the Management System in the company and compliances thereto. 

This company has also been awarded with the ISO 9001:2015 Cer�fica�on by RoyalCert Interna�onal Registrars GmbH, 
Germany [Deutsche Akkredi�erungsstelle (DAkkS)],  in 2018 a�er it was assessed under the RoyalCert audi�ng & cer�fica-
�on procedures and found that it was in accordance with the  requirements of the interna�onal standard ISO 9001: 2015 
of the Management System in the company and compliances of the standard. 

BPML has been awarded with the Cer�fica�on in 2018 by Control Union Cer�fica�ons of The Netherlands, a�er it assessed 
the units and products of the company under i. FSC-STD-40-007 V2-0 Sourcing Reclaimed Material,  ii. FSC-STD-40-004 V3-0 
Chain of Custody Cer�fica�on, iii. FSC-STD-50-001 V2-0 Requirements for use of the FSC Trademarks Cer�ficate Holders.

Award
“Bashundhara Tissue” of BPML has been awarded as the Best Brand for consecu�ve 2nd �me in a row recently. It is the 
recogni�on for the company for keeping its promises, dedicated service and contribu�ons towards cleanliness and serving 
the na�on with the solu�on of healthy and be�er living. It has been regarded now-a-days that “Bashundhara Tissue” is a 
name which is inseparable from the daily livelihood of the ci�zens of this country. BPML views that this achievement is the 
recogni�on not only to this company but also to it’s consumers, patrons, business partners and well wishers.   

U�liza�on of IPO Fund:
During the last year BPML was listed in the DSE and CSE a�er a long process. The IPO shares subscrip�on money was credit-
ed to the designated bank account of this Company in the month of June of the FY 2017-2018. In the FY 2017-2018 only 
37% of the IPO shares subscrip�on money could be u�lized due to �me constraints. During the year under review the 
remaining 63% were u�lized which has been shown in the table below:
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Shareholders
The Shareholders are the real owners and play most important role in the financing, opera�ons, governance and control 
aspects of a company. The Shareholders play both direct and indirect roles in a company's opera�ons. The first and 
foremost considera�on of the Board of this Company was the protec�on and value addi�on to the interests of the valued 
shareholders. 

The total numbers of shareholders of this company were 16,371nos. on the Record Date of the Company on 02/12/2019. 
The issued, subscribed and Paid up share Capital of the Company is Taka 1,737,914,410/- which have been par�cipated by 
the Sponsors, Directors, Ins�tu�ons and General Public.

Minority Shareholders’ Interest
Since commencement of opera�on of this company the Board of Directors has dedicated itself to a�ain the objec�ves and 
to enhance its stake in the market. The Board is also concerned about the interest of stakeholders and the minority share-
holders as well. To ensure the fair and equal treatment to every shareholder including the minority shareholders it has 
engaged all its sincere efforts. For protec�on of the interest of minority shareholders as well as the stakeholders, the 
company has taken various measures for establishment of transparency, accountability and also established the prac�ce 
to serve minority shareholders and small investors promptly and �mely. The company communicated all its strategic 
informa�on as required in its opera�on under the regulatory direc�ves without any delay and tried to serve the minority 
shareholders as and when they required such services at different occasions. With a view to serving the minority share-
holders be�er, the Company disseminates all its strategic decisions through most popular and well-known channels/op-
�ons to make them aware of the business ac�vi�es of this Company.

Board of Directors
We take the pleasure to report you that -

 i.  The Chairman and the Managing Director of BPML are two separate persons. These posi�ons were filled in 
by two separate persons since incep�on of this company. As a set prac�ce, it was also followed and 
complied with during the FY 2018-2019 under review. The resume of the Chairman and the Managing 
Director are appended at the beginning of this Annual Report.  

 ii.   We further report that, the Board of Directors of this company is fairly independent, play their due roles, 
discharge their du�es and responsibili�es freely and without any interferences. It is also clearly been 
defined in their Terms of References. 

  During the year under review the Members of the Board of Directors of this company had discharged their 
du�es and responsibili�es freely and no ma�er of interference was occurred.

 iii.  Roles & Responsibili�es and Composi�on of the Board:

Board of Directors of BPML had laid down the terms of reference (TOR) for its members and put emphasis on the compli-
ance thereto. The Board of this company has discharged their du�es and responsibili�es freely and independently as to 
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Par�culars of Use of IPO 
Proceeds

 Amount 
 

(BDT in Crore)  

% U�liza�on  of  IPO Funds  
Total % of 
U�liza�on  

2018 -2019   2017 -2018  

1. Procurement of Machineries 
- Imported & Local  

135   92%  100%  

2. Repayment of Bank Loans  60  -  100%  
3. IPO Expenses  5  19%  100%  

 Total (Taka) 200     

8%

100%
81%



ensure that the company's affairs and opera�ons run at right direc�on by collec�ve decision making process. In se�ng out 
their guidlines and making collec�ve decisions they foremost considered the interests of its shareholders and stakeholders 
as well as the sustainability of the company. In addi�on to business and financial issues, the Board dealt with the challenges, 
risks and issues rela�ng to cri�cal business affairs, compliance and governance issues. 

It has monitored the overall ac�vi�es of the top management team of the Company including  their making of appropriate 
opera�onal decisions at proper �me, taking necessary ac�ons and op�mizing long-term value. 

The Board of this company is consisted of 06 (six) nos. of directors, out of which 03 (three) are from the part of Sponsor 
Shareholders/Members elected by the members of the company in the general mee�ngs, the Managing Director of the 
company and 02 (two) of the directors are Independent Directors.

The major roles of the directors of the company were as follows:
 • Providing entrepreneurial leadership;
 • Se�ng of goals and objec�ves for the company;
 • Se�ng company’s values and standards;
 • Ensuring human and financial resources be available to achieve objec�ves;
 • Construc�ve challenges mi�ga�on and help in developing proposals on business strategy;
 • Reviewing management team’s performance and monitoring of performance reports; 
 • Sa�sfying themselves on integrity of financial informa�on and repor�ng; controls and risk management 

systems and measures;
 • Determining appropriate levels of remunera�on and compensa�on issues; 
 • Appointment and removal of execu�ve directors, and succession planning.  
 • Ensuring that obliga�ons to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met.

Directors' Board Mee�ng A�endance
The Board of Directors of this company has conducted its mee�ngs according to the rules and procedures contained in its 
governing documents. It is the prac�ce of the company to take collec�ve decisions in the board mee�ngs. As a body, the 
directors deal with the affairs of the company those needed its a�en�on and guidance. The mee�ngs of the Board of 
Directors of this Company were held at regular intervals so that the directors can discharge their responsibili�es, to have 
control over the company's overall opera�on, strategy and policy, and to monitor the exercise of any delegated authority, 
and so that individual directors can report on their par�cular areas of responsibility. 

The Board of Directors of BPML has conducted its mee�ngs in accordance with the rules, regula�ons and procedures 
contained in its governing documents. The Board has taken collec�ve decisions in its mee�ngs likewise before. As a body, 
the directors deal with the affairs of the company those needed its a�en�on. The mee�ngs of the Board of Directors of 
this Company were held at regular intervals in accordance with the law as well as the need of this company. 

During the period under review 10 (Ten) numbers of mee�ngs of the Board of Directors were held. The a�endance status 
of the Directors of the Company during the period under review were as follows:

Sl.no  Name of Directors  Posi�on  No. of 
mee�ngs held 

No of mee�ngs 
a�ended  

1.  Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan  Chairman  10 10 

2.  Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan  Director  10 10 

3.  Mr. Md. Nazmul  Alam  Bhuiyan  Nominated Director  10 09 

4.  Mr.  Zeaur Rahman  Independent Director  10 05  

5.  Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  Independent Director  10 08 
6.  Mr. Safwan Sobhan  10  10 Managing Director
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Directors' Shareholding Status

The shareholdings posi�on of the Directors as on 30.06.2019 were as follows:

Directors' Remunera�on 
Likewise the previous years during the FY 2018-2019 the Directors of the company including the Independent Directors did 
not receive any remunera�on from the Company. 

Appointment & Re�rement of Directors
To ensure the company's prosperity the board of directors’ of this company is concerned to guide and direc�ng the compa-
ny's affairs collec�vely and to protect the interests of the stakeholders as well. During the year under review, in addi�on to 
dealing with the business and financial issues, the Board of this company, dealt with various challenges, compliances, 
governance, social responsibility and corporate ethical issues, etc. In accordance with the provisions of the Ar�cle no. 100 
of the Ar�cles of Associa�on of the Company the following 02 (two) of the Directors of this company are re�ring by rota�on 
in this 26th Annual General Mee�ng and all of them are eligible under the Ar�cle no. 101 of the Ar�cles of Associa�on for 
reappointment as the Directors of the company in this Annual General Mee�ng:

 1. Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan; 

 2. Mr. Md. Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan represen�ng East West Property Dev (Pvt.) Ltd. 

The Board of Directors of this company has recommended for the reelec�on of the re�ring Directors and placing the ma�er 
before the shareholders in this 26th Annual General Mee�ng for their consent. 

The brief resumes of the above noted 02 (Two) Directors have been appended along with the other directors’ resume 
hereinbefore this report.

Independent Directors
Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission as the guardian of the capital market of this country had issued the 
Corporate Governance Code in 2018. It is aimed to enhance corporate governance for the greater interest of the stakehold-
ers and the capital market. In compliances with the provisions as laid down by the Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange 
Commission’s Corporate Governance Code vide No�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 
03/06/2018 for every listed company it is required to appoint 1/5th of the Board of Directors as the Independent Directors, 
who are to be, as the members of the Board of Directors.

It is also provided in the CG Code that the Independent Directors so appointed should not have material or pecuniary 
rela�onship with the appoin�ng company or related persons. It is prescribed in the said No�fica�on that the independent 
directors shall be knowledgeable with integrity to ensure compliance with financial, regulatory and corporate laws and can 

 

Sl.no  Name  Posi�on  Nos.of 
Shares  

% of 
Holding  

1 Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan  Chairman  40,00,000  2.30%  

2 Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan  Director  40,02,0 00 2.31%  

3 Mr. Md. Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan 
represen�ng East West Property Dev (Pvt.) Ltd.  

Director (Nominated)  10,10,50,575  58.14%  

4 Mr. Safwan Sobhan  Managing Director  82,03,000  4.72%  

5 Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  Independent Director  nil  0.00%  

6 Mr. Zeaur Rahman  Independent   Director  nil  0.00%  
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make significant and meaningful contribu�ons to business opera�ons and shall have at least 12 (twelve) years of corporate 
management or professional experiences. Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. had appointed two experienced corporate leaders 
having proven professional experiences as its independent directors under the direc�ves of the Corporate Governance 
Code of BSEC. 

During the period under review Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman and Mr. Zeaur Rahman con�nued as the Independent Direc-
tors of this Company under the BSEC’s Corporate Governance Code. 

The resume of the present Independent Directors are appended hereinbefore in this report.

Audit Commi�ee
Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission’s Corporate Governance Code has provided that every listed company to 
cons�tute an Audit Commi�ee. In view of this the Board of Directors of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. has cons�tuted the 
Audit Commi�ee in accordance with the direc�ves of the Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission's Corporate 
Governance Code (vide No�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018). 

The Board has also revised the Audit Commi�ee’s Terms of Reference. The audit commi�ee of BPML is responsible to 
provide oversight of the financial repor�ng process, the audit process, the system of internal controls and compliance with 
laws and regula�ons. 

The commi�ee reviews the results of the audit with management and external auditors, including ma�ers required to be 
communicated to the commi�ee under generally accepted audi�ng standards.

The audit commi�ee assisted the Board to fulfill the corporate governance responsibili�es, oversee financial repor�ng 
system, internal control system, risk management system, internal and external audit func�ons, provided advice and 
recommenda�ons to Board within its scope. The members of the Audit Commi�ee were appointed by the Board of Direc-
tors, out of them two were Independent Directors and one member was the Sponsor Director. The Company Secretary of 
the Company has discharged the du�es as the Secretary of the Audit Commi�ee. 

The Audit Commi�ee comprised of Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman, the Independent Director  and Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan, 
Director as the Commi�ee Members. The Board has designated Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman as the Chairman of the 
Audit Commi�ee and Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS, Company Secretary, as the Secretary of the Commi�ee as per the Corpo-
rate Governance Code.  

The Members of the Audit Commi�ee of this Company have adequate experience and knowledge on business and trade, 
corporate laws, financial  literacy, ability to  analyze  and  interpret  the  financial statements for effec�ve discharging of 
du�es and responsibili�es as the members of the Audit Commi�ee. 

Key responsibili�es of the audit commi�ee of this company include: 
 • To monitor accoun�ng policies and principles.
 • To oversee financial repor�ng and disclosure process.
 • To oversight of regulatory compliance ma�ers;
 • To monitor internal control system;
 • To oversee performance of internal audit func�on;
 • To oversee hiring, performance and independence of the external auditors;
 • To discuss risk management policies and prac�ces with management.

The Audit Commi�ee of BPML has recommended for the appointment of M/S. Aziz Halim Khair Chowdhury & Co., 
Chartered Accountants as the Statutory Auditors for the Financial Year 2019-2020 at a fee of Tk. 3,00,000/= and placed the 
ma�er to the Board of Directors  of this company for forwarding the same to the 26th Annual General Mee�ng for consider-
a�on and final approval.

The report of the Audit Commi�ee is appended herewith this report.
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Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee
Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission has issued the Corporate Governance Code. The Corporate Governance 
Code, under the No�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/ Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018 of the Bangladesh Securi�es 
and Exchange Commission, has provided that every listed company is required to cons�tute the Nomina�on & Remunera-
�on Commi�ee in accordance with the CG Code. In compliance with the said direc�ves of the BSEC the Board of Directors 
of BPML has cons�tuted the Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee. The Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee’s 
Terms of Reference has been set by the Board of Directors and it has been followed accordingly. 

The Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee comprised of 03 members - Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman, Independent 
Director, Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan, Director, Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS, Company Secretary.  The Board of Directors has desig-
nated Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman as the Chairman of the Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee and Mr. M. 
Naseemul Hye FCS, Company Secretary as the Secretary of the Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee as per the Corpo-
rate Governance Code.  

Key responsibili�es of the Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee of this company included: 

 • To devise policy for Board’s diversity;

 • To be independent, responsible and accountable;

 • To set the qualifica�ons and a�ributes for appointment, remunera�on of suitable persons for appointment as 
directors and top level execu�ves;

 • To iden�fy suitable qualified persons as directors and top level execu�ves in accordance with the devised policy 
and recommend for their remunera�ons;

 • To formulate the criteria for evalua�on of the performance of Independent Directors, Non-Execu�ve Directors 
and Board’s func�on;

 • To assess the need for employees and determina�on of selec�on criteria as well as transfers/replacements/pro-
mo�ons ma�ers;  

 • To develop and recommend the human resources and training policies and review of those annually.

The report of the Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee is appended herewith this report.

The Nomina�on & Remunera�on Commi�ee has recommended to reappoint Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan and Mr. Nazmul 
Alam Bhuiyan represen�ng East West Property Dev (Pvt.) Ltd. as the Directors of this company as both of them will re�re 
by rota�on in the 26th Annual General Mee�ng.

Financial Year 
BPML adopted the period spread from July upto June as its financial year since the FY 2016-2017. It was adopted in compli-
ance with the direc�ves of Na�onal Board of Revenue (NBR) of this country. The July-June period is also followed as the 
financial year for keeping, prepara�on and repor�ng of the financial statements for the period under review. 

Auditors 
The exis�ng statutory auditors – M/S. Ahmed Zaker & Co., Chartered Accountants who were appointed in the 25th AGM 
are going to complete their terms for three consecu�ve years. In view of this as per the regulatory provisions the new 
auditors firm have to be appointed in this 26th Annual General Mee�ng of BPML for the next financial year. 
The Board of Directors of BPML has recommended for the appointment of M/S. Aziz Halim Khair Chowdhury & Co., 
Chartered Accountants as the Statutory Auditors for the Financial Year 2019-2020 at a fee of Tk. 3,00,000/= inclusive of 
VAT& Tax  and forwarded the ma�er for its approval by the Members/Shareholders of this company in this 26th Annual 
General Mee�ng.

Execu�ves' Shareholdings Status
The shareholdings posi�on of the top execu�ves, governance officers, their spouses and children (minor) as on 30.06.2019 
has been appended below:
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Corporate Governance
A company has to recognize the rights and privileges of its stakeholders, preserve the  interests  of   the  stakeholders   
including   financiers,  customers,    management,  employees,  government, and the society, establish board’s responsibili-
�es by clearly outlining it,  establish code of conduct for ethical behavior, establish and prac�ce the business transparency 
for promo�ng shareholders’ trust towards establishment of the good governance. By implementa�on of corporate gover-
nance system a company is directed, guided and controlled by its Board which is accountable to its stakeholders. The corpo-
rate governance is aimed for increase of the accountability of a company, ensuring of transparency within a company. It is 
the set of rules, policies, procedures and prac�ces by which a board ensures its accountability, fairness, and transparency. 
A company has to recognize the rights and privileges of its stakeholders, preserve interests of  stakeholders   including   
financiers, customers, management, employees, government, and society, establish board’s responsibili�es by clearly 
outlining it,  establish code of conduct for ethical behavior, establish and prac�ce the business transparency for promo�ng 
shareholders’ trust towards establishment of the good governance. 

Conflicts of interest being removed by se�ng and following of the rules, brings down irregulari�es and serve the needs of 
stakeholders by monitoring, direc�ng and controlling corporate ac�vi�es with objec�vity, accountability and integrity. It 
ensures the accountability, focus on crea�ng be�er management and fewer ethical or legal problems rather than mere 
policies and procedures, rules. Under CG system a company is directed, guided and controlled by its Board and which is 
accountable to its stakeholders. It includes ins�tu�ng of policies in compliance with rules, regula�ons and laws and for 
internal governance as well.  It is used for opera�ng, controlling and structuring of a company as a tool with a view to 
achieve long term strategic goals to sa�sfy shareholders, creditors, employees, customers and suppliers, complying with 
the legal and regulatory requirements.

Corporate Governance Compliance Cer�fica�on
In opera�on and administering of a company the corporate governance issues regarded as very important. During the 
financial year under review this company has complied with all the requirements of corporate governance issues as are 
required under the provisions of the Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission's Corporate Governance Code. In 
compliance with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code vide No�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRC-
D/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018, the Board of Directors of this Company has appointed M/S. Itrat Husain & 
Associates, Chartered Secretaries in Prac�ce, for the purpose of Compliance Cer�fica�on of the corporate governance by 
this company under the BSEC direc�ves.

Sl. 
no Name  Designa�on  

No of Shares  

Self  Spouse  Children 
(minor)  

1.  Mr. Md. Mustafizur Rahman FCA  Dy. Managing Director  nil  nil  nil  

2.  Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS  Company Secretary  nil  nil  nil  

3.  Mr. Mirja Mujahidul Islam  Chief Financial Officer  nil  nil  nil  

4.  Mr. Eleas Hossain  Head of Internal Audit & 
Control  

nil  nil  nil  

5. Mr. Md. Kamrul Hassan  HOD (A&F)  nil  nil  nil  

7.  Mr. Md. Delwar Hossain  Head of HR & Admin  nil  nil  nil  

8.  Mr. Md. Masudur Rahman  Head of  Sales (Paper)  nil  nil  nil  

9.  Mr. Md. Shah Alam  Head of  Prod.  Unit - 1 nil  nil  nil  

10.  Engr. A.B.M. Easin  Head of  Prod.  Unit - 2 nil  nil  nil  

11.  Mr. Md. Abul Hasan  Head of  Prod.  Unit - 3  nil  nil  nil  
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The corporate governance compliance by this company during the FY 2018 -2019 and cer�ficate on the CG compliances as 
required under the BSEC’s corporate governance guidelines has been appended hereina�er this report. The Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report of this company during the period under review has been prepared and presented herein-
a�er this report, in pursuance to the Corporate Governance Code as issued by the Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange 
Commission, in Annexure-B.

Appointment for Corporate Governance Compliance Cer�fica�on
For opera�on of a company the corporate governance is regarded as an important tool. During the financial year under 
review BPML has complied with all the requirements of corporate governance issues as set by the Bangladesh Securi�es 
and Exchange Commission under its Corporate Governance Code. In compliance with the requirements of the Corporate 
Governance Code issued by the No�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018, the Board of 
Directors of this Company has appointed M/S. Itrat Husain & Associates, Chartered Secretaries in Prac�ce, for the purpose 
of Compliance Cer�fica�on of the corporate governance by this company under the BSEC direc�ves. M/S. Itrat Husain & 
Associates, Chartered Secretaries in Prac�ce, had conducted the inves�ga�on work on compliance of the code of corporate 
governance by this company during the FY 2018-2019. 

The Board of Directors of this Company has recommended to reappoint M/S. Itrat Husain & Associates, Chartered Secretar-
ies in Prac�ce, for the purpose of Compliance Cer�fica�on of the corporate governance by this company under the BSEC 
Code for the FY 2018-2019 and their remunera�on to be fixed at Tk. 90,000/- and placing the ma�er before the Members 
of this company in the 26th Annual General Mee�ng for its approval.

Corporate Social Responsibility
An effec�ve corporate social responsibility (CSR) prac�ce put emphasis and focus on social, environmental and economic 
sustainability issues. It is a form of corporate self-regula�on which reflects the responsibility of it towards the impact it 
causes on the society and its own prosperity. It is synonymous with responsible business prac�ces of a company. Bashund-
hahar Paper Mills Ltd., fondly known as BPML, is a venture under the canopy of Bashundhara Group. It is the second manu-
facturing unit of the Bashundhara Group - a reputed conglomerate of this country. It is noteworthy to men�on here that the 
Bashundhara Group is commi�ed to its endeavors that unite the goals of customer value and sustainable development with 
the mo�o - For the People, for the Country. 

BPML from the very incep�on has been prac�cing to serve the community as well the country as a whole and the year 
under review is no excep�on. The company has undertaken various ac�vi�es for the be�erment of the society. The notable 
CSR ac�vi�es of this company during the FY 2018-2019 are men�oned below –

 • BPML has preparedness to help the local people near to its factory in the urgent calls including natural 
disasters/calami�es; 

 • BPML has been suppor�ng various educa�onal ins�tu�ons, all over the country, by providing educa�onal 
materials, scholarships, arranging of debate and quiz compe��ons, sponsoring of sports events,  etc.;

 • It has donated to the campaign to upheld the spirit of the libera�on war and welfare to the freedom fighters;

 • It has donated for the treatment to the Acid vic�ms and burn injuries in different incidents;

 • It has donated considerable quan�ty of educa�on materials, mul�-media and photo copiers to different 
educa�onal ins�tutes; 

 • It has been sponsoring ‘Toggi Sports Ltd.’, a leading na�onal level sports club. Under the sponsorship of 
BPML the Club has been providing and conduc�ng training programs for sportsmen and players of different 
disciplines. Toggi sports Ltd. it’s the owner of Rangpur Riders - the champion of BPL-2017;

 • It has been allowing scholarships to the poor meritorious students of different areas;

 • It has been providing medicines, warm clothes, health and sanitary items to poor people;

 • A por�on of its income from the health & hygine products are donated to the Acid Survivors Fund and the 
na�onal philanthropic organiza�on - Sandhani. 
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Acknowledgments
The Members of the Board of Directors, on this occasion, are pleased to express their hear�elt gra�tude and sincere thanks 
to all of its valued shareholders, well-wishers and patrons for their con�nued support and co-opera�on and patronage 
without which the company could not achieve the objec�ves. We are indebted to our customers for their excellent cooper-
a�on, support and having their confidence on us by keeping us in their preferred list. We hope and believe that their 
support would con�nue during the coming days. The Board of Dirctors express their profound gra�tude to banking and 
non-banking financial ins�tu�ons including  - Dutch Bangla Bank Ltd., Southeast Bank Ltd., First Security Islami Bank Ltd., 
IFIC Bank Ltd., Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd., AB Bank Ltd., Mutual Trust Bank Ltd., Agrani Bank Ltd., Bank Asia Ltd., Janata Bank 
Ltd., BASIC Bank Ltd., Dhaka Bank Ltd., Trust Bank Ltd., Farmers’ Bank Ltd., Islami Bank Bangladesh Ltd., Mercan�le Bank 
Ltd., Pubali Bank Ltd., Na�onal Bank Ltd., NCC Bank Ltd., Social Islami Bank Ltd., Standard Bank Ltd., Union Bank Ltd., United 
Commercial Bank Ltd., Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission (BSEC), DSE, CSE, RJSC, BOI, MoC and various other 
government and semi-government agencies for their con�nued support and coopera�on towards this company during the 
FY 2018-2019.

The Board would like also extend its profound gra�tude and apprecia�on to the management team of and all the employ-
ees of this company for their sincere dedica�on and con�nued efforts and services without which the        company could 
not a�ain its goals and objec�ves.  

Conclusion
Dear Respected Members,

You are aware that the paper industry plays a vital role in development of a country like Bangladesh. In this country it has 
ample scope for further growth but the sector has been facings many odds including illegally imported paper and paper 
products. Although the government is providing some facili�es to the producers but the duty structure is not favourable. If 
the Government make the duty structure more friendly by allowing exemp�ons/reduc�on of various du�es, remove obsta-
cles and grant incen�ves then it will be a feasible sector. Moreover, almost all the manufacturers produce paper and paper 
products by impor�ng pulp and other chemicals at a high and fluctua�ng rates, higher transporta�on costs and also higher 
duty fees, if our local manufacturers could get the required raw materials at reduced duty structure then the local indus-
tries could compete firmly with illegally imported paper and paper products. We are running also in a very compe��ve 
market scenario as more than 100 paper manufacturers are in the paper and paper products sectors of whom half are in 
opera�on. The paper and paper products sector has been facing other odds in consequence of infla�on, lower foreign 
remi�ances and increase of the living costs of the country people etc.  Considering all these issues, the management of this 
company has opted to engage its all out efforts to carry on its opera�ons by mi�ga�ng the odds, availing of the op�ons and 
sa�sfying of the customers with quality products and services at affordable price brackets. In this journey we have engaged 
all our concentrated efforts as to a�ain the posi�ve results and ensure further growth. 

The management is also concerned about the compliance issues at every level of opera�on. In our endeavour in a very 
turbulent business environment that exists in the country, we engaged efforts in adjus�ng ourselves with the demand of 
�me, condi�ons and made us ever vigilant in discharging du�es and in providing services effec�vely, efficiently and result 
oriented as to a�ain a sustainable success and to ensure it to con�nue, keep up our image high, and above all to protect 
the interest of our stakeholders. 

In the past we got the excellent support and coopera�on from our members, stakeholders and patrons. We are hopeful and 
determined that with the support and coopera�on of all our respected members, stakeholders, patrons and wide range of 
customers we shall come out successful in the future endeavors. 

May the Almighty Allah bless us all and thanking you.

On behalf of Board of Directors

Ahmed Akbar Sobhan
Chairman
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Shareholding Information 

 Shareholding posi�on by Category of the Company: 

17.55%

67.47%

6.16%
8.82%

Shareholding Holding by (%)

Sponsors (Incl.Pre-
IPO)

Directors (Incl. MD) 

Ins�tu�ons  

General Public 

Par�culars  
Number of 

Shareholders  No. of Shares  
Ownership 

(%)  

Sponsors (including  pre- IPO sponsors)  04 30,500,398  17.55%  

Directors (including  MD) 04 117,257,085  67.47%  

Ins�tu�ons  204 10,705,553  6.16% 

General Public  16,159 15,328,405  8.82% 

Total :  16,371  173,791,441  100.00%  

4 4 204 

16,159 

-
5,000 

10,000 
15,000 
20,000 

Shaholders by number 

Dire
cto

rs 

G. P
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 Posi�on in number and percentage on the basis on record Date i.e. 02/12/2019:
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The Audit Commi�ee (AC) of BPML was formed under the Corporate Governance Code vide no�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRC-
D/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018 was issued  by the Bangladesh Securi�es & Exchange Commission (BSEC). 
The Audit Commi�ee of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. was cons�tuted in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

Audit Commi�ee

The Commi�ee is to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Company, review of the same and when appro-
priate make its recommenda�ons to the Board on ma�ers including business risks, internal controls, compliance and audit. 
The Commi�ee has to be sa�sfied by means of required informa�on, proper and sa�sfactory internal control systems, 
iden�fy and mi�gate business risks and that the company’s business affairs have been conducted in a proper, transparent 
and financially sound manner by following the Corporate Governance Code of BSEC under the reference no. SEC/CMRRC-
D/2006-158/207/Admin/80, dated 3 June, 2018 issued under sec�on 2CC of the Securi�es and Exchange Ordinance,1969:

The Audit Commi�ee with comprised of three Members, appointed by the Board of the Company. The Commi�ee includes 
one Independent Director, one Sponsor Shareholder/Director and the Company Secretary. The Audit Commi�ee of 
Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. being one of its prime Board Sub-Commi�ees, has been assigned by the Board to discharge 
its governance and compliance responsibili�es.

Composi�on of the Audit Commi�ee of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. for 2018-2019 : 

Qualifica�ons of Members of the Audit Commi�ee 

The Members of the Audit Commi�ee of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. possess adequate knowledge on business manage-
ment and all of them are financially literate as per the regulatory requirements and are also able to analyze and interpret, 
corporate laws, finance related issues and the financial statements. The Audit Commi�ee has to coordinate with the 
Internal and External Auditors of this Company as and when are required. The Commi�ee has been empowered to examine 
the ma�ers related to financial and internal control management and other affairs of the Company. The Audit Commi�ee 
ensures that adequate internal check and balance system are in their places.

Mee�ng and a�endance by the members

During the FY 2018-2019 the Audit  Commi�ee had four mee�ng and the proceedings were reported regularly to the Board 
of Directors. The number of the mee�ngs held and a�endance of each members of the commi�ee  during the year 
2018-2019 are men�oned below:

Sl. No. Name of Members Posi�on in Company Posi�on in 
Comme�ee 

1 Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman Chairman

2 Mr. Imrul Hassan Member

3  Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS Secretary

Independent Director

Director

Company Secretary

Sl. No.    Name of the Members       No. of Mee�ng Held         A�endance in the Mee�ng

 1. Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  04 04

 2. Mr. Imrul Hassan  04 04

 3. Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS 04 04

Report of  Audit Committee 
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Roles and Responsibili�es of the Audit Commi�ee

The Audit Commi�ee of this Company has been playing effec�ve roles and regarded as between the Board, Members and 
other Stakeholders.  The roles and responsibili�es of the Audit Commi�ee are clearly men�oned in the Terms of Reference 
of the Audit Commi�ee. The Audit Commi�ee in fulfillment of its responsibili�es held periodic mee�ngs, at least once in a 
quarter and provide appropriate decision to the management. The Commi�ee mee�ngs usually considered opera�onal 
performance, financial results, capital expenditures, products lines, procurement of raw materials, plant and machinery 
etc. The Audit Commi�ee during the period under review had found that the overall internal control and management 
process of the company was sa�sfactory. 

During the FY  2018-2019 the NRC accomplished the following: 

  Consider the status of the Board composi�on along with their prac�cal work experience and reputa�on of Board 
members, and made recommenda�on to the Board in this regard;

  Iden�fied and nominated candidates for appointment/reappointment to the Board based on their knowledge 
experience and ap�tude for a�ainment of the objec�ves of the company;

  Consider and recommenda�on to increase  the top management compensa�on in line of the requirement, 
exper�se, market demand and availability in the related filed;

  Considered and accommodated various issues in connec�on with appointments, re�rements in the Board of 
Directors;

  Reviewed the issues including the company’s requirement for employees as to be placed at different levels and 
determine their selec�on procedures  and criteria;

  Reviewed the performance of the top-level execu�ves of the Company and placed the              recommenda�on 
on their findings;

  Reviewed the company’s human resources status and the development and training policies of the Company 
aimed for the employees;

  Overseen other issues within the Code of Conduct of the NRC.

Ac�vi�es of the Audit Commi�ee during the period ended on 30 June 2019

During the period ended on 30 June 2019, the Commi�ee had discharged the responsibili�es as men�oned below: 

Financial Repor�ng

Reviewed, among other issues, the quarterly, half yearly and the annual financial statements of the company. It recom-
mended to the Board of Directors for adop�on and circula�on those to the regulatory authori�es as per the direc�ves in 
this respect.

Internal Control

Reviewed the effec�veness of internal control, also reviewed the audit objec�ons and observa�ons raised by the Internal 
Audit Department and ac�on plans of the Internal Audit Department. It monitored and ensured that the system 
of internal control was in place, effec�vely administered. It recommended to the Board of Directors for taking 
steps needed to improve the system of internal control derived from the findings of the internal and external 
auditors and from the understanding and by consulta�ons of the audit commi�ee members. In view of all, the 
Audit Commi�ee is of the opinion that the internal control procedures are adequate to present a true and fair 
view of the ac�vi�es and financial status of the Company.
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Audit Commi�ee Reports

The Audit Commi�ee has prepared the annual audit commi�ee report and submi�ng it to the Board which includes the 
composi�on of the Audit Commi�ee, its terms of reference, number of mee�ngs held, summary of its ac�vi�es during the 
FY 2018-2019 and the existence of the internal audit services and summary of the ac�vi�es for its inclusion in the audit 
report.

Internal Audit

During the period under review the Audit Commi�ee had also overseen and reviewed the procedure and tasks of the 
internal audit department. The Commi�ee has been sa�sfied that the Internal Audit Team has the competency and qualifi-
ca�ons to complete its mandates and accomplish according to the approved audit plans. It observed that the Internal Audit 
has full, free and unrestricted access to all ac�vi�es, records, property and other issues necessary to perform its responsi-
bili�es. The Audit Commi�ee also got the co-opera�on of the Internal Audit Team in carrying out its du�es and responsibili-
�es during the FY 2018-2019.

External Audit

The commi�ee has forwarded the dra� financial statements (which were placed to it by the management earlier) to the 
external auditors a�er its review. The Board has to approve the audited financial statements and to place before the mem-
bers of the Company for their discussion and considera�on in the forthcoming 26th Annual General Mee�ng. It also 
reviewed the ma�ers concerning the appointment and re-appointment, fixa�on of the  audit fee of the external auditors.

Related Party Transac�on

During the year the company had carried out considerable numbers of transac�ons in carrying out its opera�on and also 
with the related par�es in its normal courses of business. The names of the related par�es, the nature of the related party 
rela�onships as well as informa�on about the transac�ons, the amount of the transac�ons and the amount of outstanding 
balances at the financial year ending have been monitored, disclosed and set out in the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of BAS-24 “Related Party Disclosures”. 

Compliance with exis�ng Laws & Regula�ons:

The Audit Commi�ee further reports that during the year under review the rules & regula�ons of BSEC, Stock Exchanges, 
other regulatory agencies and all internal policies, guidelines & instruc�ons were properly been endorsed and followed  by 
the management  and  Board of the company.

The Reports of the Audit Commi�ee containing the sugges�ons and recommenda�ons to the Board has duly been submit 
to the Board for its visualiza�on of ac�vi�es.

Sd/-
M. Naseemul Hye FCS 

Secretary
Audit Commi�ee

On behalf of Audit Commi�ee

Sd/-
Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman

Chairman
Audit Commi�ee
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In accordance with the direc�ves of the Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission through its Corporate Gover-
nance Code under no�fica�on no. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 03/06/2018 the Nomina�on and Remu-
nera�on Commi�ee (NRC) of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. was cons�tuted in compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Code.

The Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee members were appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company to 
adhere the direc�ves as follows:

During the period under review the Independent Director of this Company- Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman re-appointed as 
the Chairman of the NRC and Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS, Company Secretary performed as the Secretary of the NRC as per 
the provision of the Corporate Governance Code.

Qualifica�ons of the Commi�ee Members

All the NRC members possess adequate knowledge on business management and corporate governance issues, financially 
literate and able to analyze,understand and interpret corporate laws, finance and financial toolsand have business exper�se 
in their own arena.

Roles and Responsibili�es

The roles and responsibili�es of the NRC have clearly been men�oned in the Terms of Reference of the Commi�ee as 
approved by the Board of Directors of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

The Commi�ee discharged its responsibility by holding a mee�ng in the FY-2018-2019 and provided required advises and 
sugges�ons to the Board of Directors to execute those duly. 

In the mee�ng the commi�ee it considered and assisted the Board in formula�on of the nomina�on criteria and determin-
ing of the qualifica�ons of the prospec�ve candidates a�ributes, experiences etc. of the directors and top level execu�ves 
and the remunera�ons of directors, top level execu�ve of the company as well as. 

Succession planning 

The Commi�ee reviewed the dra�ed succession plan designed for the execu�ve and non-execu�ve appointments to the 
Board, taking into account the objec�ves of the Company and the rota�on of directors. In this process the Commi�ee also 
considered the business the skills, commitment and knowledge as to be required for opera�on of this Company.

Appointment/ Rota�on of Non-Execu�ve Director(s)

During the year under review the Commi�ee a�er evalua�on has recommended  for the reappointment  of 02 (two) 
non-execu�ve directors - i. Mr. Ahmed Akber Sobhan and ii. Md.  Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan - the Nominated Director of East 
West Proper�es Development (Pvt.) Ltd. who were to re�re by rota�on and eligible for their re-appointments as per the 
provisions of the Ar�cle of Associa�on of the Company. 

Sl. No. Name of Members Posi�on in Company Posi�on in 
Comme�ee 

1 Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman Chairman

2 Mr. Imrul Hassan Member

3  Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS Secretary

Independent Director

Director

Company Secretary

Report of the  Nomination &
Remuneration Committee
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Mee�ng A�endance by the Members 

The Commi�ee held 01 (one) no. of mee�ng during the period ended on 30 June 2019. The Commi�ee has placed its 
report to the Board of Directors in due course.

 The a�endance status of the NRC Commi�ee Mee�ng is appended below:

During the FY  2018-2019 the NRC accomplished the following: 

  Considered the status of the Board composi�on along with their prac�cal work experience and reputa�on of 
Board members, and made recommenda�on to the Board in this regard;

  Iden�fied candidates for appointment/reappointment to the Board based on their knowledge experience and 
ap�tude for a�ainment of the objec�ves of the company;

  Consideredand recommended to increase the top management compensa�on in line of the requirement, 
exper�se, market demand and availability in the related filed;

  Considered and accommodated various issues in connec�on with appointments, re�rements in the Board of 
Directors;

  Reviewed the issues including the company’s requirement for employees as to be placed at different levels and 
determine their selec�on procedures and criteria;

  Reviewed the performance of the top-level execu�ves of the Company and placed the              recommenda�on 
on their findings;

  Reviewed the company’s human resources status and the development and training policies of the Company 
aimed for the employees;

  Overseen other issues within the Code of Conduct of the NRC.

The Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee expressing its of the view that the nomina�on, re-elec�on and remunera-
�on ma�er were  executed in accordance with polices and the Administra�on, HR ac�vi�es and Internal governance status 
of the Company were in place.  

 

Sl. No.    Name of the Members       No. of Mee�ng Held         A�endance in the Mee�ng

 1. Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman  01 01

 2. Mr. Imrul Hassan  01 01

 3. Mr. M. Naseemul Hye FCS 01 01

Sd/-
M. Naseemul Hye FCS 

Secretary
Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee

On behalf of Audit Commi�ee

Sd/-
Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman

Chairman
Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee
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Sd/-  
Safwan Sobhan

 Managing Director
 

Sd/-
Mirja Mujahidul Islam 

   Chief Financial Officer

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
[Declara�on under Condi�on No. 1(5)(xxvi) of the Corporate Governance Code, 2018]

To Date: 11 November, 2019

The Board of Directors
Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited 

Subject: Declara�on on Financial Statements for the year ended on 30/06/2019.

Dear Sirs,

Pursuant to the condi�on No. 1(5)(xxvi) imposed vide the Commission’s No�fica�on No. BSEC/CMRRC-
D/2006-158/207/Admin/80 Dated 03/06/2018 under sec�on 2CC of the Securi�es and Exchange Ordinance, 
1969, we do hereby declare that:

(1) The Financial Statements of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited  for the year ended on 30/06/2019 have 
been prepared incompliance with Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards (IAS) or Interna�onal Financial 
Repor�ng Standards (IFRS), as applicablein the Bangladesh and any departure there from has been 
adequately disclosed;

(2) The es�mates and judgments related to the financial statements were made on a prudent and reasonable 
basis, in order for them financial statements to reveal a true and fair view;

(3) The form and substance of transac�ons and the Company’s state of affairs have been reasonably and fairly 
presented in itsfinancial statements;

(4) To ensure above, the Company has taken proper and adequatecare in installing a system of internal control 
and maintenance of accoun�ng records;

(5) Our internal auditors have conducted periodic audits to provide reasonable assurance that the established 
policies and procedures of the Company were consistently followed; and

(6) The management’s use of the going concern basis ofaccoun�ng in preparing the financial statements is 
appropriate and there exists no material uncertainty related to events or condi�ons that may cast signifi-
cant doubt on the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern.

In this regard, we also cer�fy that: -

(i) We have reviewed the financial statements for the year ended on 30/06/2019 and that to the best of our 
knowledge and belief:

 a. these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain 
statements that might be misleading;

 b. these statements collec�vely present true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance 
with exis�ng accoun�ng standards and applicable laws.

(ii) There are, to the best of knowledge and belief, no transac�ons entered into by the Company during the 
year which are fraudulent, illegal or in viola�on of the code of conduct for the company’s Board of Direc-
tors or its members.

Sincerely yours,

Annexure-A

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 201968

Declara�on



Corporate Governance Certification 

For: Itrat Husain & Associates

Dhaka, 15 November, 2019 Itrat Husain FCMA, FCS 
Chief  Executive

We have examined the compliance status to the Corporate Governance Code by 
Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited for the year ended 30 June, 2019. This Code relates to 
the Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 3 June, 2018 of  
the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission.

Such compliance with the Corporate Governance Code is the responsibility of  the 
Company. Our examination was limited to the procedures and implementation thereof  as 
adopted by the Management in ensuring compliance to the conditions of  the Corporate 
Governance Code.

This is a scrutiny and verification and an independent audit on compliance of  the condi-
tions of  the Corporate Governance Code as well as the provisions of  relevant Bangladesh 
Secretarial Standards (BSS) as adopted by the Institute of  Chartered Secretaries of  
Bangladesh (ICSB) in so far as those standards are not inconsistent with any condition of  
this Corporate Governance Code.

We state that we have obtained all the information and explanations, which we have 
required, and after due scrutiny and verification thereof, we report that, in our opinion:

a)  The Company has complied with the conditions of  the Corporate Governance 
Code as Stipulated in the above mentioned Corporate Governance Code issued by 
the Commission;

b)  The company has complied with the provisions of  the relevant Bangladesh Secre-
tarial Standards (BSS) as adopted by the Institute of  Chartered Secretaries of  
Bangladesh (ICSB) as required by this Code;

c)  Proper books and records have been kept by the company as required under the 
Companies Act,1994, the securities laws and other relevant laws; and 

d)  The governance of  the company is satisfactory.

REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd. 
on

COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Annexure-B
Certificate as per Condition No. 1(5)(xxvii)

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.
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Annexure-C

Status of compliance with the condi�ons imposed by the Commission’s No�fica�on No. 
SEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80, dated 3 June, 2018 issued under sec�on 2CC of the Securi�es 
and Exchange Ordinance,1969:

Status Report on Compliance with the conditions imposed by the BSEC

 

Condi�on  
No.   Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column)  

Remarks  
(if any)  

Complied  Not 
Complied   

1. Board of Directors    

1(1) To tal number of C ompany’s B oard of D irectors shall not be less 
than 5 (five) and more than 20 (twenty); √   

1(2)(a) One-fi�h (1/5) of the total number of directors in the company’s 
Board be Independent Directors (ID);  √   

1(2)(b)( i) ID does not hold any shares or holds less than one percent (1%) 
shares in the company; √   

1(2)(b)(ii)  

ID not a sponsor of the company nor connected with any 
sponsor/director/nominated director/ shareholder of the company 
or any of its associates, sister concerns, subsidiaries and parents 
or holding en��es who holds one percent (1%) or more shares of 
the total paid-up shares of the company by family rela�onship 
and his/ her family members also shall not hold above men�oned 
shares in the company; 

√   

1(2)(b)(iii)  Who has not been an execu�ve of the company in immediately 
preceding 2 (two) financial years;  √   

1(2)(b)(iv)  Who does not have any other rela�onship, whether pecuniary or 
otherwise; √   

1(2)(b)(v)  Who is not a member or TREC holder, director or officer of any 
stock exchange; √   

1(2)(b)(vi)  
Who   is   not   a   shareholder, director   excep�ng independent 
director or officer of any member or TREC holder of stock 
exchange or an intermediary of the capital market; 

√   

1(2)(b)(vii)  

Who is not a partner or an execu�ve or was not a partner or 
an execu�ve during the preceding 3 (three) years of the 
concerned company’s  statutory audit firm or audit firm engaged 
in i n t e r na l audit servi ces or audit firm conduc�ng special audit 
or professional cer�fying compliance of this C ode; 

√   

1(2)(b)(viii)  Independent director in more than 5 (five) li sted companies; √   

1(2)(b)(ix)  Who has not been convicted by a court of competent jurisdic�on 
as a loan defaulter of Ba nk or NBF I); √   

1(2)(b)(x)  Who has not been convicted for a crimi nal offence involving 
moral turpitude; √   

1(2)(c)  Independent director(s) shall be appointed by the B oard and 
approved by the shareholders in the AGM ; √   

1(2)(d)  The post of independent director(s) cannot remain vacant for 
more than 90 (ninety) days;  √   

1(2)(e) 
The tenure of office of an independent director shall be for a 
period of 3 (three) years, which may be extended for 1 (one) 
tenure only; 

√   

1(3)(a)  Independent director shall be a knowledgeable individual with 
integrity.  √   

1(3)(b)( i) 

ID is b usiness leader who is or was a promoter or director of an 
unlisted company having minimum paid -up capital of Tk.100 
million or any listed company or a member of any na�onal or 
interna�onal chamber of commerce or business associa�on;  

   

[As per condition No. 1(5)(xxvii)]

n/a

(Report under condi�on No. 9)
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1(3)(b)(ii)  

Who is or was a top-level execu�ve not lower than 
CEO/MDDMD/CFO/ Head of Finance or 
Accounts/CS/HIAC/Head of Legal Service or a candidate with 
equivalent posi�on of an unlisted company having minimum 
paid-up-capital of Tk.100.00 million or of a listed company;  

  n/a 

 1(3)(b)(iii)  

Former official of government or statutory or autonomous or 
regulatory body in the posi�on not below 5th Grade of the 
na�onal pay scale, who has at least educa�onal background of 
bachelor degree in economics or commerce or business or Law;  

  n/a 

1(3)(b)(iv)  University Teacher who has educa�onal background in 
Economics or Commerce or Business Studies or Law; or    n/a 

1(3)(b)(v)  

Professional who is or was an Advocate prac�cing at least in the 
High Court Division of Bangladesh Supreme Court or 
CA /CMA/CFA/CCA/CPA/ Chartered Management 
Accountant/CS or equivalent qualifica�on;  

  n/a 

1(3)(c)  Independent director shall have at least 10 (ten) years of 
experiences in any field as clause (b);  √   

1(3)(d)  In special cases, the above qualifica�ons or experiences may be 
relaxed subject to prior approval of the Commission.    n/a 

1(4)(a)  Chairperson of the Board and the MD and/or CEO of the 
company shall be filled by different individuals;  √   

1(4)(b)  MD and/or C EO  of a li sted company shall not hold the same 
posi�on in another li sted company; √   

1(4)(c)  C hairperson of the B oard shall be elected from among the non-
execu�ve directors of the company; √   

1(4)(d)  B oard shall clearly define respec�ve roles and responsibili� es of 
the C hairperson and the MD  and/or CEO;  √   

1(4)(e) 
In the absence of the Chairperson of the Board , the remaining 
members may elect one of themselves from non - execu�ve 
directors as Chairperson for that par�cular  B oard’s mee�ng;  

√   

1(5)(i)  An  industry outlook and possible future developments in the 
industry; √   

1(5)(ii)  The segment-wise or product-wise performance; √   

1(5)(iii)  Ri sks and concerns including  internal and external risk  factors, 
threat and nega�ve impact on environment, if any; √   

1(5)(vi)  A  discussion on COGS , GP  Margin and NP Margin, where 
appli cable; √   

1(5)(v)  A  discussion on con�nuity of any extraordinary activi�es and 
their impli ca�ons (gain or loss); √   

1(5)(vi)  

A  detailed discussion on related party transac�ons along with 
a statement showing amount, nature of related party, nature of 
transac�ons and basis of transac�ons of all related party 
transac�ons; 

√   

1(5)(vii)  A  statement of u�li za�on of proceeds raised through publi c 
issues, rights issues and/or any other instruments;   n/a 

1(5)(viii)  
An  explana�on if the financial results deteriorate after the 
company goes for I P O , RPO , Ri ghts Share Offer, D irect 
L is�ng, etc.; 

  n/a 

1(5)(ix)  An  explana�on on any significant variance that occurs between 
Quarterly F inancial performances and Annual F/S; √   

1(5)(x)  A  statement of remunera�on paid to the directors including 
independent directors; √   

1(5)(xi)  A  statement that the F/S prepared by the management of the 
issuer company present fairly its state of affairs  √   

1(5)(xii)  A statement that proper books of account of the issuer 
company have been maintained; √   

 
 Title 

Compliance Status  
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column)  

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

Condi�on
No.  
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1(5)(xiii)  

A  statement that appropriate accoun�ng poli cies have been 
consistently applied in prepara�on of the financial statements 
and that the accoun�ng es�mates are based on reasonable and 
prudent judgment; 

√   

1(5)(xiv)  
A  statement that IA S or IF R S , as appli cable in Bangladesh , 
have been followed in prepara�on of the FY a nd any departure 
there from has been adequately disclosed; 

√   

1(5)(xv)  A  statement that the system of internal control is sound in design   
and   has   been   effec�vely   implemented   and monitored; √   

1(5)(xvi)  

A statement that minority shareholders have been protected from 
abusive ac�ons by, or in the interest of, controlling shareholders 
ac�ng either directly or indirectly and have effec�ve means of 
redress; 

√   

1(5)(xvii)  

A statement that there is no significant doubt upon the issuer 
company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern, if the issuer 
company is not considered to be a going concern, the fact along 
with reasons there of shall be disclosed; 

√   

1(5)(xviii)  
An explana�on that significant devia�ons from the last year’s 
opera�ng results of the issuer company shall be highlighted and 
the reasons thereof shall be explained; 

√   

1(5)(xix)  A s tatement where key opera�ng and financial data of at least 
preceding 5 (five) years shall be summarized;  √   

1(5)(xx)  An explana�on on the reasons if the issuer company has not 
declared dividend (cash or stock) for the year; √   

1(5)(xxi)  Board’s statement to the effect that no bonus share or stock 
dividend has been or shall be declared as interim dividend; √   

1(5)(xxii)  Total number of Board mee�ngs held during the year and 
a�endance by each director; √   

1(5)(xxiii)(a)  Parent or Subsidiary or Ass ociated Companies and other related 
par�es (name-wise details);    n/a 

1(5)(xxiii)(b)  Directors, CEO, CS, CFO, HIAC and their spouses and minor 
children (name-wise details);  √   

1(5)(xxiii)(c)  Execu�ves;  √   

1(5)(xxiii)(d)  Shareholders holding ten percent (10%) or more vo�ng interest in 
the company (name -wise details); √   

1(5)(xxiv)(a)  A brief resume of the director; √   
1(5)(xxiv)(b)  Nature of Directors exper�se in specific func�onal areas;  √   

1(5)(xxiv)(c)  Names of companies in which the person also holds the 
directorship and the    membership of commi�ees of the Board; √   

1(5)(xxv)(a)  Accoun�ng policies and es�ma�on for prepara�on of financial 
statements; √   

1(5)(xxv)(b)  

Changes in accoun�ng policies and es�ma�on, if any, clearly 
describing the effect on financial performance or results and 
financial posi�on as well as cash flows in absolute figure for such 
changes; 

√   

1(5)(xxv)(c)  

Compara�ve analysis (including effects   of   infla�on) of 
financial performance or results and financial posi�on as well as 
cash flows for current financial year with immediately preceding 
five years explaining reasons thereof; 

√   

1(5)(xxv)(d)  
Compare such financial performance or results and financial 
posi�on as well as cash flows with the peer  industry scenario; √   

1(5)(xxv)(e)  
Briefly explain the financial and economic scenario of the 
country and the globe; √   

1(5)(xxv)(f)  
Risks and concerns issues related to the financial statements, 
explaining such risk and concerns mi�ga�on plan of th e 
company; and 

√   

 
 Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

Condi�on
No.  
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 Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

1(5)(xxv)(g)  

Future plan or projec�on or forecast for company’s opera�on, 
performance and financial posi�on, with jus�fica�on thereof, i.e., 
actual posi�on shall be explained to the shareholders in the next 
AGM;  

√   

1(5)(xxvi)  
Declara�on or cer�fica�on by the CEO and the CFO to the Board 
as required under condi�on No. 3(3) shall be disclosed as per 
Annexure-A;  

√   

1(5)(xxvii)  
The Report as well as cer�ficate regarding compliance of 
condi�ons of this Code as required under condi�on No. 9 shall be 
disclosed as per Annexure -B and Annexure -C.  

√   

1(6) 
The company shall conduct its Board mee�ngs and record the 
minutes of the mee�ngs as well as keep required books and 
records. 

√   

1(7)(a)  The Board shall lay down a code of c onduct, based on the NRC 
at condi�on No. 6.  √   

1(7)(b)  The code of conduct as determined by the NRC shall be posted 
on the website of the company   √   

2.  

2(a) 
Provisions rela�ng to the composition of the Board of the holding   
company   shall   be   made   applicable   to the composi�on of 
the Board of the subsidiary company; 

  n/a 

2(b) 
At least 1 (one) Independent director on the Board of the holding 
company shall be a director on the Board of the subsidiary 
company; 

  n/a 

2(c) 
The minutes of the Board mee�ng of the subsidiary company 
shall be placed for review at the following Board mee�ng of the 
holding company;  

  n/a 

2(d) 
The minutes of the respec�ve Board mee�ng of the holding 
company shall state that they have reviewed the affairs of the 
subsidiary company also;  

  n/a 

2(e) 
The Audit Commi�ee of the holding company shall also  review 
the financial statements, in par�cular the investments made by 
the subsidiary company. 

  n/a 

3. MD/CEO/CFO/HIAC and CS  

3(1)(a)  The Board shall appoint a MD or Chief Execu�ve CEO, a CS, a 
CFO and a HIAC;  √   

3(1)(b)  The posi�ons of the MD or Chief Execu�ve Officer CEO, CS, 
CFO and HIAC shall be filled by different individuals;  √   

3(1)(c)  
The MD or CEO, CS, CFO and HIAC of a listed company shall 
not hold any execu�ve posi�on in any other company at the same 
�me; 

√   

3(1)(d)  The Board shall clearly define respec�ve roles, responsibili�es 
and du�es of the CFO, the HIAC and the CS;  √   

3(1)(e) The MD or CEO, CS, CFO and HIAC shall not be removed from 
their posi�on without approval of the Board  √   

3(2) The MD or CEO, CS, CFO and HIAC of the company shall 
a�end the mee�ngs of the Board: √   

3(3)(a)(i)  
These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement 
or omit any material fact or contain statements that might be 
misleading; and 

√   

3(3)(a)(ii)  
These statements together present a true and fair view of the 
company’s affairs and follow exis�ng accoun�ng standards and 
applicable laws;  

√   

3(3)(b)  

The MD or CEO and CFO shall also cer�fy that there are, to the 
best of knowledge and belief, no transac�ons entered into by the 
company during the year which are fraudulent, illegal or in 
viola�on of the code of conduct for the company’s Board or its 
members; 

√   

Condi�on
No.  

Governance of Board of Directors of Subsidiary Company
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 Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

3(3)(c)  The cer�fica�on of the MD or CEO and CFO shall be disclosed 
in the Annual Report.  √   

4.  
4(i)  Audit Commi�ee  √   
4(ii)  Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee √   
5. Audit Commi�ee     

5(1)(a)  The company shall have an Audit Commi�ee as a sub - 
commi�ee of the Board; √   

5(1)(b)  
The Audit Commi�ee shall assist the Board in ensuring that the 
FS reflect true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company.  

√   

5(1)(c)  The Audit Commi�ee shall be responsible to the Board;  √   

5(2)(a)  The Audit Commi�ee shall be composed of a t least 3 (three) 
members; √   

5(2)(b)  

The Board shall appoint members of the Audit Commi�ee who 
shall be non-execu�ve directors of the company excep�ng 
Chairperson of the Board and shall include at least 1 (one) 
Independent director; 

√   

5(2)(c)  

All members of the audit commi�ee should be “financially 
literate” and at least 1 (one) member shall have accoun�ng or 
related financial management background and 10 (ten) years of 
such experience; 

√   

5(2)(d)  

When the term of service of any Commi�ee member expires or 
there is any circumstance causing any Commi�ee member to be 
unable to hold office before expira�on of the term of service, 
thus making the number of the Commi�ee members to be lower 
than the prescribed number of 3 (three) persons, the Board shall 
appoint the new Commi�ee member to fill up the vacancy 
immediately or not later than 1 (one) month from the date of 
vacancy in the Commi�ee to ensure con�nuity of the 
performance of work of the Audit Commi�ee;  

√   

5(2)(e) The company secretary shall act as the secretary of the 
Commi�ee; √   

5(2)(f)  The quorum of the Audit Commi�ee mee�ng shall not cons�tute 
without at least 1 (one) independent director. √   

5(3)(a)  
The Board shall select 1 (one) member of the Audit Commi�ee to 
be Chairperson of the Audit Commi�ee, who shall be an 
independent director; 

√   

5(3)(b)  
In the absence of the Chairperson of the Audit Commi�ee, under 
condi�on No. 5(4)(b) and the reason of absence of the regular 
Chairperson shall be duly recorded in the minutes; 

√   

5(3)(c)  Chairperson of the Audit Commi�ee shall remain present in the 
Annual General Mee�ng.  √   

5(4)(a)  The Audit Commi�ee shall conduct at least its four mee�ngs in a 
financial year;  √   

5(4)(b)  
The quorum of the mee�ng of the Audit Commi�ee shall be 
cons�tuted in presence of either two members or two- third of the 
members;  

√   

5(5)(a)  Oversee the financial repor�ng process; √   
5(5)(b)  Monitor choice of accoun�ng policies and principles;  √   

5(5)(c)  Monitor Internal Audit and Complia nce process and review of 
the Internal Audit and Compliance Report;  √   

5(5)(d)  Oversee hiring and performance of external auditors; √   

5(5)(e) 
Hold mee�ng with the external or statutory auditors for review of 
the annual financial statements before submission to the Board 
for approval or adop�on; 

√   

5(5)(f)  Review along with the management, the annual F/S before 
submission to the Board for approval; √   

Condi�on
No.  

Board of Director’s Commi�ee
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 Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

5(5)(g)  Review along with the management, the quarterly and half yearly 
financial statements before submission to the Board for approval; √   

5(5)(h)  Review the adequacy of internal audit func�on; √   

5(5)(i)  Review the Management’s Discussion and Analysis before 
disclosing in the Annual Report;  √   

5(5)(j)  Review statement of all related party transac�ons submi�ed by 
the management; √   

5(5)(k)  Review Management Le�ers/Le�er of Internal Control weakness 
issued by statutory auditors; √   

5(5)(l)  

Oversee the determina�on of audit fees based on scope and 
magnitude, level of exper�se deployed and �me required for 
effec�ve audit and evaluate the performance of external auditors; 
and 

√   

5(5)(m)  

Oversee whether the proceeds raised through IPO/ RPO or Rights 
Share Offer have been u�lized as per the purposes stated in 
relevant offer document or prospectus approved by the 
Commission:  

√   

5(6)(a)(i)  The Audit Commi�ee shall report on its ac�vi�es to the Board.  √   
5(6)(a)(ii)(a)  Report on conflicts of interests; √   

5(6)(a)(ii)(b)  
Suspected or presumed fraud or irregularity or material defect 
iden�fied in the internal audit and compliance process or in the 
financial statements; 

   

5(6)(a)(ii)(c)  Suspected infringement of laws, regulatory compliances 
including securi�es related laws, rules and regula�ons; and    

5(6)(a)(ii)(d)  Any other ma�er which the Audit Commi�ee deems necessary 
shall be disclosed to the Board immediately;     

5(6)(b)  

If  the  Audit  Commi�ee  has  reported  to  the  Board  about 
anything which has material impact on the financial condi�on 
and results of opera�on and has discussed with the Board and the 
management that any rec�fica�on is necessary and if the Audit 
Commi�ee finds that such rec�fica�on has been unreasonably 
ignored, the Audit Commi�ee shall report such finding to the 
Commission, upon repor�ng of such ma�ers to the Board for 
three �mes or comple�on of a period of 6 (six) months from the 
date of first repor�ng to the Board, whichever is earlier 

   

5(7) 

Report on ac�vi�es carried out by the Audit Commi�ee, 
including any report made to the Board under condi�on No. 
5(6)(a)(ii) above during the year, shall be signed by the 
Chairperson of the Audit Commi�ee and disclosed in the annual 
report of the issuer company. 

   

6. Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee (NRC)  
6(1)(a)  NRC as a sub-commi�ee of the Board; √   

6(1)(b)  

The NRC shall assist the Board in formula�on of the nomina�on 
criteria or policy for determining qualifica�ons, posi�ve 
a�ributes, experiences and independence of directors and top
level execu�ve as well as a policy for formal process of 
considering remunera�on of directors, top level execu�ve; 

√   

6(1)(c)  
The Terms of Reference (ToR) of the NRC shall be clearly set 
forth in wri�ng covering the areas stated at the condi�on 
No.6(5)(b).  

√   

6(2)(a)  The Commi�ee shall comprise of at least three members 
including an independent director; √   

6(2)(b)  All   members of   the   Commi�ee shall be non - execu�ve 
directors; √   

6(2)(c)  Members of the Commi�ee shall be nominated and appointed by 
the Board; √   

6(2)(d)  The Board shall have authority to remove and appoint any 
member of the Commi�ee; √   

did not
arise

did not
arise

did not
arise

did not
arise

n/a

Condi�on
No.  

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019 75

CG Checklist



 
 Title 

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied    

6(2)(e) 

In case of death, resigna�on, disqualifica�on, or removal of any 
member of the Commi�ee or in any other cases of vacancies, the 
board shall fill the vacancy wit hin 180 (one hundred eighty) days 
of occurring such vacancy in the Commi�ee;  

  n/a 

6(2)(f)  

The Chairperson of the Commi�ee may appoint or    co -opt any 
external expert and/or member(s) of staff to the Commi�ee as 
advisor who shall be non-vo�ng member, if the Chairperson feels 
that advice or sugges�on from such external expert and/or 
member(s) of staff shall be required or valuable for the 
Commi�ee; 

  n/a 

6(2)(g)  The company secretary shall act as the secretary of the 
Commi�ee; √   

6(2)(h)  The quorum of the NRC mee�ng shall not cons�tute without 
a�endance of at least an independent director; √   

6(2)(i)  
No member of the NRC shall receive, either directly or 
indirectly, any remunera�on or fees other than Director’s fees or 
honorarium from the company. 

√   

6(3)(a)  
The Board shall select 1 (one) member of the NRC to be 
Chairperson of the Commi�ee, who shall be an independent 
director; 

√   

6(3)(b)  

In the absence of the Chairperson of the NRC, the remaining 
members may elect one of themselves as Chairperson for that 
par�cular mee�ng, the reason of absence of the regular 
Chairperson shall be duly recorded in the minutes; 

√   

6(3)(c)  Chairperson of the NRC shall a�end the AGM to answer the 
queries of the shareholders: √   

6(4)(a)  The NRC shall c onduct at least one mee�ng in a financial year; √   

6(4)(b)  The Chairperson of the NRC may convene any emergency 
mee�ng upon request by any member of the NRC; √  n/a 

6(4)(c)  
The quorum of the mee�ng of the NRC shall be cons�tuted in 
presence of either two members or two third of the members of 
the Commi�ee. 

√   

6(4)(d)  The proceedings of each mee�ng of the NRC shall duly be 
recorded in the minutes.  √   

6(5)(a)  NRC shall be independent and responsible or accountable to the 
Board and to the shareholders; √   

6(5)(b)(i)(a)  
The level and composi�on of remunera�on is reasonable and 
sufficient to a�ract, retain and mo�vate suitable directors to run 
the company successfully;  

√   

6(5)(b)(i)(b)  The rela�onship of remunera�on to performance is clear and 
meets appropriate performance benchmarks; and √   

6(5)(b)(i)(c)  

Remunera�on to directors, top level execu�ve involves a balance 
between fixed and incen�ve pay reflec�ng short and long-term 
performance objec�ves appropriate to the working of the 
company and its goals; 

√   

6(5)(b)(ii)  
Devising a policy on Board’s diversity taking into considera�on 
age, gender, experience, ethnicity, educa�onal background and 
na�onality; 

√   

6(5)(b)(iii)  

Iden�fying persons who are qualified to become directors and 
who may be appointed in top level execu�ve posi�on in 
accordance with the criteria laid down, and recommend their 
appointment and removal to the Board; 

√   

6(5)(b)(iv)  Formula�ng the criteria for evalua�on of performance of 
independent directors and the Board; √   

6(5)(b)(v)  
Iden�fying the company’s needs for employees at different levels 
and determine their selec�on, transfer or replacement and 
promo�on criteria;  

√   

6(5)(b)(vi)  Developing, recommending and reviewing annually the 
company’s human resources and training policies;   √   

Condi�on
No.  
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 Title

Compliance Status 
(Put √ in the 

appropriate column) 

Remarks  
(if any) 

Complied  Not 
Complied   

6(5)(c)  
The company shall disclose the nomina�on and remunera�on 
policy and the evalua�on criteria and ac�vi�es of NRC during 
the year at a glance in its annual report. 

√   

7.    
7(1)(i)  Appraisal or valua�on services or fairness opinions;  √   
7(1)(ii)  Financial informa�on systems design and implementa�on; √   

7(1)(iii)  Book -keeping or other services related to the accoun�ng records 
or financial   statements; √   

7(1)(iv)  Broker-dealer services;    n/a 
7(1)(v)  Actuarial services    n/a 
7(1)(vi)  Internal audit services or special audit services;    n/a 
7(1)(vii)  Any service that the Audit Commi�ee determines;    

7(1)(viii)  Audit or cer�fica�on services on complia nce of corporate 
governance as required under condi�on No. 9(1); and    

7(1)(ix)  Any other service that creates conflict of interest. √   

7(2) No partner or employees of the external audit firms shall possess 
any share of the company they audit at least during the tenure. √   

7(3) Representa�ve of External or Statutory Auditors present in the 
Shareholders’ Mee�ng AGM or EGM.  √   

8.  

8(1) The company shall have an official website linked with the 
website of the stock exchange. √   

8(2) The company shall keep the website func�onal from the date of 
lis�ng.  √   

8(3) The company shall make available the detailed disclosures on its 
website as per lis�ng regula�ons.  √   

9. Repor�ng and Compliance of Corporate Governance

9(1) 
The company shall obtain a cer�ficate from a prac�cing 
Professional Accountant or Secretary (CA or CMA or CS) and 
disclosed in the Annual Report.  

√   

9(2) The Compliance Auditors’ shall be appoin�ng by the 
shareholders in the annual general mee�ng. √   

9(3) The directors of the company shall state, in accordance with the 
Annexure-C  √   

 

 

√

√

Condi�on
No.  

Maintaining a website by the Company

External or Statutory Auditors
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements.

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd., which comprise the Statement of 
Financial Posi�on as at 30 June 2019, and Statement of profit or loss & other Comprehensive Income, State-
ment of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accoun�ng policies and other explanatory informa�on.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
financial posi�on of the company as at 30 June 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards (IFRS), the Companies Act 
1994, the securi�es and Exchange Rules 1987 and other applicable laws and regula�ons.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Interna�onal Standards on Audi�ng (ISAs). Our responsibili�es 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibili�es for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements sec�on of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the Interna�onal 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESB A code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Bangladesh, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibili�es in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Ma�ers

Key audit ma�ers are those ma�ers that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statement of the current period. These ma�ers were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide opinion on 
these ma�ers.

 Risk                                                                                        Our response to the risk

Valua�on of inventory

The inventory of Tk. 7,866,400,203 at 30 June, 
2019 held in warehouses and across mul�ple 
product lines in factory. In order to carry invento-
ry at the lower of cost and  net  realizable  value,  
management  has iden�fied slow moving, obso-
lete and damaged inventories  and carrying value 
of these items, the calcula�on of which requires 
assump�ons.

Our procedures included the following to assess 
inventory Valua�on:
  Evalua�ng the design and implementa�on of 

key inventory controls opera�ng across the 
factory and warehouse.   

  Tes�ng, on a sample basis, the stock aging 
profile, expiry dates and the market price used 
in assessing the net realizable values of invento-
ries to the related documents.

  Comparing  the  net  realizable  value obtained 
through  a of sales subsequent to the year-end, 
to the cost price of a sample of inventories and 
comparison to the associated provision to assess 
whether inventory provisions are complete;

See note no. 8.00 to the financial statements
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Risk                                                                                        Our response to the risk

Measurement of deferred tax liability

The  net  deferred  tax  liability  totaling  Tk. 
1,076,753,353 as at 30 June, 2019.

Significant judgment is required in rela�on to 
deferred forecasts of future profitability over a 
number of years.

We  addi�onally  carried  out  the  following substan-
�ve tes�ng for this item: 

  We obtained an understanding, evaluated the  
design  and effec�veness of controls over mea-
surement of deferred tax and the assump�ons 
used in es�ma�ng the company’s future 
taxable income.

 We involved tax specialists to assess key 
assump�ons, controls, measurement of 
deferred tax liabili�es. 

  We also assessed the appropriateness of 
presenta�on of disclosures against IAS-12 
income tax. 

Valua�on of Property, Plant and Equipment

The carrying value of the PPE amounted to Tk. 
13,289,188,831 at 30 June, 2019. The valua�on 
of PPE was iden�fied as a key audit ma�er due to 
the significance of this balance to the financial 
statements.

Expenditures are capitalized if they create new or 
enhance the exis�ng assets, and expensed if they 
relate to repair or maintenance of the assets. 
Classifica�on of the expenditures involves 
judgment. The useful lives of PPE items are based 
on management’s es�mates regarding the period 
during which the asset or its significant compo-
nents will be used. The es�mates are based on 
historical experience and market prac�ce and 
take into considera�on the physical condi�on of 
the assets. 

Our audit included the following procedures:

 We assessed whether the accoun�ng policies in 
rela�on to the capitaliza�on of expenditures 
are in compliance with IFRS and found them to 
be consistent.

 We obtained a lis�ng of capital expenditures 
incurred during the year and, on a sample basis, 
checked whether the items were procured 
based on internal purchase order that had been 
properly approved by the responsible individu-
als.

 We inspected a sample of invoices and L/C 
documents to determine whether the classifi-
ca�on between capital and opera�ng expendi-
ture was appropriate.

 We evaluated whether the useful lives deter-
mined and applied by the management were in 
line with historical experience and the market 
prac�ce.

 We checked whether the deprecia�on of PPE 
items was commenced �mely, by comparing 
the date of the reclassifica�on from capital in 
progress to ready for use, with the date of the 
act of comple�on of the work.

See note no.20.00 to the financial statements

See note no. 4.00 to the financial statements
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Other Informa�on

Management is responsible for the other informa�on. The other informa�on comprises all of the informa�on 
in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are 
responsible for the other informa�on.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informa�on and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connec�on with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informa�on 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other informa�on is materially inconsistent with the financial state-
ments or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material  misstatement of this other informa�on we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibili�es of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements and 
Internal Controls

Management is responsible for the prepara�on and fair presenta�on of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs, the Companies Act 1994, the Securi�es and Exchange Rules 1987 and other applicable laws and 
regula�ons and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the prepara�on of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The companies 
Act, 1994 require the management to ensure effec�ve internal audit, internal control and risk management 
fac�ons of the company.

In preparing the financial statements , management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
con�nue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, ma�ers related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accoun�ng unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease opera-
�ons, or has no realis�c alterna�ve but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial repor�ng process.

Auditor’s Responsibili�es for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objec�ves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expect-
ed to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional   
skep�cism throughout the audit. We also:

 Iden�fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detec�ng a material misstate-
ment resul�ng from fraud is higher than for one resul�ng from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, inten�onal omissions, misrepresenta�ons, or the override of internal control.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019 81

Audit Report



 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in circumstances.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accoun�ng policies used and the reasonableness of accoun�ng es�mates 
and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis accoun�ng and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or condi�ons that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern.

 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw a�en�on in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosers are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or condi�ons may cause the company to cease to con�nue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presenta�on, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transac�ons and event in a manner 
that achieves fair presenta�on.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial informa�on of the en��es or business 
ac�vi�es within the group to express an opinion on the financial statement we are responsible for the 
direc�on, supervision and performance of the group audit. We solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other ma�ers, the planned scope 
and �ming of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we iden�fy during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all rela�onships and other ma�ers that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the ma�ers communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those ma�ers that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit ma�ers. We describe these ma�ers in our auditor’s report unless law or regula�on precludes public 
disclosure about the ma�er or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a ma�er should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communica�on.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the Companies Act 1994, and the Securi�es and Exchange Rules 1987 and relevant no�fica-
�ons issues by Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission, we also report that:

a) We have obtained all the informa�on and explana�ons which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purpose of our audit and made due verifica�on thereof;

b) In our opinion, proper books of accounts, records and other statutory books as required by law have been 
kept by the company so far as it appeared from our examina�ons of those books and proper returns 
adequate for the purpose of our audit have been received from branches not visited by us;
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c) The informa�on and explana�ons required by us have been received and found sa�sfactory;

d) The statement of Financial Posi�on, Statement of profit or loss & other Comprehensive Income and State-
ment of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows of the Company dealt with by the report are in 
agreement with the books of account and returns;

e) The expenditure was incurred for the purpose of the Company’s business, and

f) The company has complied with relevant laws and regula�ons pertaining to reserves.

Place: Dhaka
Dated: 11 November, 2019

            Sd/-
Ahmed Zaker & Co.
Chartered Accountants
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BASHUNDHARA PAPER MILLS LIMITED 
Statement of �inancial position 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

ASSETS
Non-current assets 15,729,748,506 11,910,497,863 
Property, plant and equipment, net 4 13,289,188,831 8,978,458,932 
Intangible Assets, net 5 166,798,327 174,414,054 
Capital work-in-progress 6 2,008,761,348 2,492,624,877 
Investment 7 265,000,000 265,000,000 

Current assets 14,456,497,247 13,151,640,417 
Inventories 8 7,866,400,203 7,017,056,343 
Trade and other receivables 9 3,693,325,197 2,490,418,884 
Advances, deposits and prepayments 10 829,368,883 937,885,549 
Advance income tax 11 374,697,109 548,937,061 
Intercompany current account 12 356,051,064 191,985,058 
Cash and bank equivalents 13 1,336,654,791 1,519,454,492 
Assets held for sale 14 - 445,903,030 
Total assets 30,186,245,753 25,062,138,280 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves 7,480,252,300 7,549,501,544 
Share capital 15 1,737,914,410 1,737,914,410 
Share premium 16 1,739,583,292 1,739,583,292 
Revalua�on reserve 17 2,092,726,250 2,112,514,322 
Retained earnings 18 1,910,028,348 1,959,489,520 

Liabili�es
Non-current Liability 10,193,472,915 5,527,266,137 
Long term borrowings 19 8,436,605,911 3,824,172,892 
Deferred tax liability 20 1,076,753,353 957,392,014 
Intercompany Payable 21 680,113,651 745,701,231 

Current liabili�es 12,512,520,539 11,985,370,600 
Long term borrowings-current por�on 22 1,740,500,152 1,243,949,246 
Short term borrowings 23 8,084,230,977 8,975,971,861 
Trade and other payables 24 2,296,713,496 1,311,916,559 
Provision for expenses 25 125,844,073 22,979,585 
Income tax provision  26 265,231,841 430,553,348 
Total liabili�es 22,705,993,454 17,512,636,737 
Total equity and liabili�es 30,186,245,753 25,062,138,280 

Net Asset Value Per Share 43 42.08 42.44 

         Sd/-                          Sd/-          Sd/-
Chief Financial Officer                                    Managing Director    

Sd/-
Chairman

Sd/-
Director

Sd/-
Ahmed Zaker & Co.Dated, Dhaka 

Notes
Amount in Taka

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Company Secretary

11 November 2019

As per our report of same date
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BASHUNDHARA PAPER MILLS LIMITED 
Statement of pro�it or loss and other comprehensive income 

01-Jul-2018 to 
30-Jun-2019

01-Jul-2017 to 
30-Jun-2018

Revenue, net 27 11,039,126,581 10,821,096,081 
Cost of sales 28 (8,940,367,498) (8,900,519,500) 
Gross profit 2,098,759,083 1,920,576,581 

Other income 29 129,637,231 58,287,049 
Administra�ve expenses 30 (392,866,946) (367,119,296) 
Selling & distribu�on expenses 31 (229,030,716) (221,151,189) 
Finance costs 32 (1,103,924,593) (870,449,569)            
Profit before distribu�on of WPP & WF 502,574,059 520,143,575             
Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund 33 (25,128,703) (26,007,179)              
Profit before income tax 477,445,356 494,136,396             
Income tax expenses 34 (185,596,870) 199,503,842 
Current tax expense (66,235,531) (198,996,311) 
Deferred tax (expense)/income (119,361,339) 75,462,212 

- 323,037,940 

Profit a�er income tax 291,848,486 693,640,238 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss - -                              
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss - - 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 291,848,486 693,640,238 

Earnings per share 35 1.68 3.99 
EPS without considaring one of income of tax rate changes - 2.13 

         Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary Managing Director  

Sd/- Sd/-
Director Chairman

Sd/-
Dated, Dhaka Ahmed Zaker & Co.
11 November 2019

As per our report of same date

Notes
Amount in Taka

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Deferred tax income resul�ng from reduc�on in income tax rate
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BASHUNDHARA PAPER MILLS LIMITED 
Statement of cash �lows 

01-Jul-2018 to 
30-Jun-2019

01-Jul-2017 to 
30-Jun-2018

A) Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es
Receipts from customers 10,763,476,984 10,774,865,262 
Receipts from other income 117,403,047 35,843,459 

10,880,880,031 10,810,708,721 
Payment to suppliers, employees & others (8,598,987,415) (9,273,582,796) 
Cash generated from opera�ons 2,281,892,616 1,537,125,925 
VAT paid 27 (435,504,614) (486,520,332) 
SD Paid 27 (13,578,382) (9,693,383) 
Income taxes paid 11 (70,831,934) (149,775,463) 
Bank charges and commission 32 (12,181,862) (6,931,780) 
Net cash (used in)/ generated by operating activities 1,749,795,824 884,204,968 

B) Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es
Payments for property, plant and equipment (514,187,248) (1,223,045,645) 
Receipts/ transfer of capital work-in-progress (4,256,734,211) (1,726,238,946) 
Net cash (used in)/ generated by investing activities (4,770,921,459) (2,949,284,592) 

C) Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es
Received/ (repayment) of short term borrowings (891,740,884) 1,798,542,728 
Payments of Bank interest and other charges (1,098,292,889) (872,099,769) 
Proceeds from issuance of shares - 260,416,660 
Proceeds from shares premium - 1,739,583,292 
Payments of dividends to owners of the company (50,970,631) - 
Received/ (repayment) of Intercompany debt (229,653,586) 801,008,550 
Received/ (repayment) of long term borrowings 5,108,983,925 (290,029,495) 
Net cash (used in)/ generated by financing activities 2,838,325,934 3,437,421,966 

D) Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (182,799,701) 1,372,342,342 

E) Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 13 1,519,454,492 147,112,149 

F) Cash and cash equivalents at the end  (D+E) 13 1,336,654,791 1,519,454,492 

Net Opera�ng Cash Flows per share 44 10.07 5.09 

            Sd/-             Sd/-       Sd/-
Chief Financial Officer              Company Secretary

Sd/- Sd/-
Director Chairman

Notes
Amount in Taka

Managing Director  
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BASHUNDHARA PAPER MILLS LIMITED 
Notes to the �inancial statements
As at and for the year ended 30 June 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES

The principal accoun�ng policies applied in the prepara�on of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. The specific Accoun�ng Policies selected and applied by the company’s management for signif-
icant transac�ons and events that have a material effect within the framework of IAS-1 Presenta�on 
of Financial Statements in prepara�on and presenta�on of financial statements. Compared to the 
previous year, there were no significant changes in the accoun�ng and valua�on principals affec�ng 
the financial posi�on and performance of the company. Accoun�ng and valua�on methods are 
disclosed for reasons of clarity.

BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION 

Accoun�ng standards

The financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with Interna�onal 
Accoun�ng Standards (IAS) and Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
Ins�tute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB).

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.

2.1

2.1.1

REPORTING ENTITY

COMPANY PROFILE

Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited (hereina�er referred to as “BPML”/” the Company”) is a public        
limited company by shares is domiciled in Bangladesh which was incorporated on 28 September 1993 
vide registra�on no.C-24705(539)/93 under the Companies Act 1913, subsequently replaced by      
Companies Act 1994. The Company has been listed to both the Dhaka Stock Exchange Ltd. and 
Chi�agong Stock Exchange Ltd. on 19 June 2018. Trading of the shares of the company started in two 
stock exchanges from 02 July 2018.

ADDRESS OF REGISTERED OFFICE AND FACTORIES

The registered office of the company is situated at 125/A, Basahundhara R/A, Block-A, Baridhara, 
Dhaka-1212, Bangladesh. Corporate office address is Bashundhara Industrial Headquarters-2, Plot# 56/A, 
Block# C, Umme Kulsum Road, Bashundhara R/A, Dhaka-1229, Bangladesh. The industrial units 1 and 2 are 
established at New town, Meghna Ghat, Sonargoan, Narayangonj and Unit-3 is Anarpura, Gazaria,             
Munshigonj.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

The company is engaged in manufacturing and marke�ng of all kinds of paper products, �ssue products, 
Hygienic products, PP woven bag, paper sack and other consumer brand items. The enterprise, since its 
incep�on, is helping the na�on save huge amount of hard-earned foreign exchange by cu�ng dependence 
on imported paper products.   
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FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATIONAL CURRENCY
These financial statements are prepared in Bangladeshi Taka (Taka/Tk.) currency, which is the compa-
ny's func�onal currency. All financial informa�on presented in Taka has been rounded off to the near-
est Taka.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENT

The prepara�on of these financial statements is in conformity with IFRSs requires management to 
make judgments, es�mates and assump�ons that affect the applica�on of accoun�ng policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabili�es, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
es�mates.

Es�mates and underlying assump�ons are reviewed on an on going basis. Revisions to accoun�ng 
es�mates are recognized in the period in which the es�mates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

In par�cular, informa�on about significant areas of es�ma�on uncertainty and cri�cal judgments in 
applying accoun�ng policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognized in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes:

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.2

2.3

Accoun�ng Conven�on
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost conven�on except items of fixed assets 
revalued in 2010 and 2015. The company classified the expenses using the func�on of expenses 
method as per IAS-1.

Statement of compliance
The Financial Repor�ng Act, 2015 (FRA) was enacted in 2015. The Financial Repor�ng Council (FRC) 
under the FRA has been formed in 2017 but the Financial Repor�ng Standards (FRS) under this council 
is yet to be issued for public interest en��es such as listed en��es.

As the FRS is yet to be issued by FRC hence as per the provisions of the FRA (sec�on-69), the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards (IFRSs) 
and the Companies Act, 1994. The �tle and format of these financial statements follow the require-
ments of IFRSs which are to some extent different from the requirement of the Companies Act, 1994. 
However, such differences are not material and in the view of management, IFRS format gives a be�er 
presenta�on to the shareholders.

As required, Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited complies with the following major legal provisions and 
other applicable laws and regula�ons:

 The Companies Act 1994

 The Securi�es and Exchange Rules, 1987

 The Securi�es & Exchange Ordinance, 1969 The Income Tax Ordinance, 1984

 The Income Tax Rules, 1984

 The Value Added Tax Act, 1991

 The Value Added Tax Rules, 1991 The Customs Act, 1969

 The Bangladesh Labor (Amendment) Act 2013, 2006 Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards (IAS)

 Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards (IFRS)

 The Lis�ng Regula�ons of Dhaka Stock Exchange Ltd. & Chi�agong Stock Exchange Ltd.

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019 89

Audit Report



PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The presenta�on of these financial statements is in accordance with the guidelines provided by IAS 1: 
Presenta�on of Financial Statements, The Financial Statements comprises:
 a statement of financial posi�on;
 a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income; a statement of changes in equity;
 a statement of cash flows; and
 notes, comprising a summary of significant accoun�ng policies and explanatory informa�on.

CURRENT VS. NON-CURRENT CLASSIFICATION
The Company presents assets and liabili�es in statement of financial posi�on based on current/non-
current classifica�on.

An asset is current when it is:

a) expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal opera�ng cycle

b) held primarily for the purpose of trading

c) expected to be realized within twelve months a�er the repor�ng period or

d) cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to se�le a liability for at 
least twelve months

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when it is:

a) expected to be se�led in normal opera�ng cycle

b) held primarily for the purpose of trading

c) due to be se�led within twelve months a�er the repor�ng period or

d) there is no uncondi�onal right to defer the se�lement of the liability for at least twelve months 
a�er the repor�ng

The Company classifies all other liabili�es as non-current.

Deferred tax assets/liabili�es are classified as non-current assets/liabili�es.

2.4

2.5

Note 19: Finvance lease obliga�ons (classifica�on and measurement)

Note 20: Deferred tax liabili�es (manner of recovery of temporary differences for determina�on of 
deferred tax liabili�es)

Note 27: Revenue (alloca�on of revenue among mul�ple elements, determina�on of percentage of 
comple�on for services rendered)

Note 34: Income tax expenses

Topic Policy No. Note No. 
Property, plant & equipment-Cost  3.1.1 4.00 
Property, plant & equipment-Deprecia�on  3.1.3 4.00 
Valua�on of inventories  3.6 8.00 
Deferred tax 3.10.2 20.00 
Impairment of property, plant & equipment  3.1.9 N/A 
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF NOTIFICATION OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION DATED 04.06.2008 under Ref. # SEC/CMMRPC/2008-81/53/Adm/03/28

Notes to the financial statements marked from 3.00 to 3.28 se�ng out the policies are unambiguous 
with respect to the repor�ng framework on which the accoun�ng policies are based.

The accoun�ng policies on all material areas have been stated clearly in the notes marked from 3.00 to 
3.28.

The accoun�ng standards that underpin the policies adopted by the company can be found in the 
following places of the notes to the financial statements:

The following IASs and IFRSs are applicable for the prepara�on of financial statements for the year 
under review:

CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Except for the changes below, the Company has consistently applied the accoun�ng policies to all 
periods presented in these financial statements.

The Company has ini�ally adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (see 2.7.1) and 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (see 2.7.2) from 1 July 2018. There is no impact on financial statements on 
ini�al applica�on of the standards.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

"IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when reve-
nue is recognised. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construc�on Contracts and related interpreta-
�ons.

2.6

2.6.1

2.6.2

2.6.3

2.7

2.7.1

IAS 1 Presenta�on of Financial Statements  
IAS 2 Inventories 
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows  
IAS 8 Accoun�ng Policies, Changes in Accoun�ng Es�mates and Errors   
IAS 10 Events A�er the Repor�ng Period   
IAS 12 Income Taxes  
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment  
IAS 19 Employee Benefits  
IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates  
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs  
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures  
IAS 33 Earnings Per Share  
IAS 34 Interim Financial Repor�ng  
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets  
IAS 37 Provisions, Con�ngent Liabili�es and Con�ngent Assets  
IAS 38 Intangible Assets  
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  
IFRS 8 Opera�ng Segments  
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments   
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
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The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers retrospec�vely to each 
prior period presented in accordance with IAS 8 Accoun�ng Policies, Changes in accoun�ng Es�mates 
and Errors from 1 July 2018. The adop�on of this standard had no impact on the Company's financial 
statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabili�es and 
some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recogni�on and Measurement.

As a result of the adop�on of IFRS 9, the Company has adopted consequen�al amendments to IAS 1 
Presenta�on of Financial Statements, which require impairment of financial assets to be presented in 
a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income (OCI).

a) Classifica�on and measurement of financial assets and financial liabili�es

 IFRS 9 contains three principal classifica�on categories for financial assets: measured at amor-
�sed cost, FVOCI (Fair Value Through OCI) and FVTPL (Fair Value Through Profit and Loss). The 
classifica�on of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which 
a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteris�cs. IFRS 9 eliminates the 
previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. 
Under IFRS 9, deriva�ves embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope 
of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is 
assessed for classifica�on.

 IFRS 9 largely retains the exis�ng requirements in IAS 39 for the classifica�on and measurement 
of financial liabili�es.

 The adop�on of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Company's accoun�ng policies 
related to financial liabili�es.

 For an explana�on of how the Company classifies and measures financial instruments and 
accounts for related gains and losses under IFRS 9, see note 53.00.

 The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement 
categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the 
Company’s financial assets and financial liabili�es as at 1 July 2018.

The effect of adop�ng IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 1 July 2018 relates solely to 
the new impairment requirements.

2.7.2

Original New Original New 
classifica�on classifica�on carrying carrying 
under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 amount amount 

under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 
Financial assets 
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amor�sed cost  2,490,418,884 2,490,418,884 
Cash and cash equivalents  Loans and receivables  Amor�sed cost  1,519,454,492 1,519,454,492 
Financial liabili�es 
Trade and other payables  Other financial  Other financial  1,311,916,559 1,311,916,559 

liabili�es  liabili�es  
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Trade and other receivables that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are now classi-
fied at amor�sed cost. No material impact to the primary financial statements has arisen on the adop-
�on of IFRS 9 and the Company has not restated prior periods on adop�on of IFRS 9.

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets under IAS 39 to the carrying 
amounts under IFRS 9 on transi�on to IFRS 9 on 1 July 2018.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED

In January 2018, the Ins�tute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB) has adopted Interna-
�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards issued by the Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards Board as IFRSs. 
As the ICAB previously adopted such standards as Bangladesh Financial Repor�ng Standards without 
any modifica�on, this adop�on does not have any impact on the financial statements of the Compa-
ny for annual periods beginning on or a�er 1 January 2018.

A number of new standards are effec�ve for annual periods beginning a�er 1 January 2018 and 
earlier applica�on is permi�ed; however, the Company has not early adopted the new or amended 
standards in preparing these financial statements.

Of those standards that are not yet effec�ve, IFRS 16 is expected to have a material impact on the 
Company's financial statements in the period of ini�al applica�on.

b)   Impairment of financial assets

 IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. 
The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amor�sed cost, contract 
assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 
9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39 – see Note 53.00.

 The Company applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed 
by IFRS 9, which requires the use of the life�me expected loss provision for all trade receivables. 
Credit risk is minimised due to the quality and short-term nature of the Company’s trade receiv-
ables as well as the fact that the exposure is spread over a large number of customers.

 As detailed in note 2.7, no material impact to the primary financial statements has arisen on the 
adop�on of IFRS 9 and the Company has not restated prior periods on adop�on of IFRS 9.

2.7.3

2.8

IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying 
amount at 30 Remeasurement  amount at 1 

June 2018  July 2018 
Financial Assets  
Trade and other receivables   

Brought forward: Loans and receivables  2,490,418,884   
Remeasurement - 
Carried forward: Amor�sed cost  2,490,418,884  

Cash and cash equivalents 
Brought forward: Loans and receivables  1,519,454,492  
Remeasurement - 
Carried forward: Amor�sed cost  1,519,454,492  

Total amor�sed cost 4,009,873,376  4,009,873,376  
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REPORTING PERIOD

The financial period of the Company covers from 01 July to 30 June. The Company follows its repor�ng 
period from 01 July to 30 June in order to comply with the provision of sec�on 9 of the Finance Act, 
2015 and interpreta�ons and implementa�on of Bangladesh Securi�es and Exchange Commission 
Direc�ve No. SEC/SRMIC/2011/1240/445 dated April 27, 2016 concerning uniform income year. How-
ever, the company was followed its repor�ng period from 01 January to 31 December up to 30 June 
2016.

IFRS 16 Leases

The Company is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 July 2019. The Company has assessed the 
es�mated impact that ini�al applica�on of IFRS 16 will have on its financial statements, as described 
below.

The actual impacts of adop�ng the standard on 1 July 2019 may change because:

▪      the new accoun�ng policies are subject to change un�l the Company presents its first financial 
statements that include the date of ini�al applica�on.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accoun�ng model for lessees. A lessee recognises 
a rightof- use asset represen�ng its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability represen�ng 
its obliga�on to make lease payments. There are recogni�on exemp�ons for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value items. Lessor accoun�ng remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors 
con�nue to classify leases as finance or opera�ng leases.

IFRS 16 replaces exis�ng leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Opera�ng Leases – Incen�ves and SIC-27 Evalua�ng the 
Substance of Transac�ons Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

a) Leases in which the Company is a lessee

The Company will recognise new assets and liabili�es for its opera�ng leases of 1 corporate office. The 
nature of expenses related to those leases will now change because the Company will recognize a 
deprecia�on charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabili�es.

Previously, the Company recognised opera�ng lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease, and recognised assets and liabili�es only to the extent that there was a �ming difference 
between actual lease payments and the expense recognised.

In addi�on, the Company will no longer recognise provisions for opera�ng leases that it assesses to be 
onerous. Instead, the Company will include the payments due under the lease in its lease liability.

b) Transi�on

The Company ac�vely considering to apply IFRS 16 ini�ally on 1 July 2019, using the modified retro-
spec�ve approach. Therefore, the cumula�ve effect of adop�ng IFRS 16 will be recognised as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 July 2019, with no restatement of compar-
a�ve informa�on.

The Company plans to apply the prac�cal expedient to grandfather the defini�on of a lease on transi-
�on. This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 1 July 2019 and iden�fied 
as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

2.9
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DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 11 
November 2019.

BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS

The Company maintains its books of accounts for main business in electronic form through its own 
customized so�ware. Besides, the Company using SAP so�ware which under process of full implemen-
ta�on. SAP ERP is enterprise resource planning so�ware developed by the German company SAP SE 
next year. Business Processes included in SAP ERP include Opera�ons (Sales & Distribu�on, Materials 
Management, Produc�on Planning, Logis�cs Execu�on, and Quality Management), Financials (Finan-
cial Accoun�ng, Management Accoun�ng and Financial Supply Chain Management) and Human Capi-
tal Management (Payroll).

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION AND REARRANGEMENT THEREOF

Compara�ve informa�on for the financial posi�on has been disclosed in respect of the year ended 
June 30, 2018 for all numerical informa�on in the financial statements and also the narra�ve and 
descrip�ve informa�on where it is relevant for understanding of the current year's financial state-
ments.

Figures for the year ended June 30, 2018 have been re-arranged wherever considered necessary to 
ensure be�er comparability with the current year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accoun�ng policies set out below have been applied consistently (otherwise as stated) to all 
periods presented in these financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Recogni�on and Measurement

Land, building, plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipments held for use in the produc�on 
or supply of goods and services, or for administra�ve purposes, are stated in the statement of financial 
posi�on at their cost and revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revalua�on, less any 
subsequent accumulated deprecia�on and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Capital 
work-in-progress represents the cost incurred for acquisi�on and/or construc�on of property, plant 
and equipment that were not ready for use at the end of June 30, 2019 and these are stated at cost. 
Revalua�ons are performed with sufficient regulatory such that the carrying amounts do not differ 
materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each repor�ng period.

Proper�es in the course of construc�on for produc�on, supply or administra�ve purposes are carried 
at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the company’s accoun�ng policy. Such proper�es are 
classified to the appropriated categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready 
for intended use. Deprecia�on of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Subsequent Costs and Maintenance Ac�vi�es

The company recognizes in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost 
of replacing part of such an item when the cost is incurred, it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. Expenditure incurred a�er the assets have been put into opera�on, such as repair and mainte-
nance is normally charged off as revenue expenditure in the period in which it is incurred. In situa�on 

2.10

2.11

2.12

3.

3.1.1

3.1

3.1.2
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where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future 
economic benefit expected to be obtained from the use of fixed assets, the expenditure is capitalized 
as an addi�onal cost of the assets. All other costs are recognized to the profit or loss account as 
expenses if incurred. All up-grada�on/enhancement are generally charged off as revenue expenditure 
unless they bring similar significant addi�onal benefits.

Deprecia�on

Deprecia�on is recognized so as to write off the cost or valua�on of assets, less their residual values 
over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The es�mated useful lives, residual values and 
deprecia�on method are reviewed for the 1st �me at end of 2010 by SGS Bangladesh Limited, with the 
effect of any changes in es�mate accounted for on a prospec�ve basis.

Deprecia�on on revalued buildings, plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipments is recog-
nized in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or re�rement of a revalued property, the a�ributable 
revalua�on surplus remaining in the proper�es revalua�on reserve is transferred directly to retained 
earnings.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Deprecia�on begins when the asset is available for use and con�nues un�l the asset is derecognized. 
All items of property, plant and equipment have been depreciated on straight line basis over the 
es�mated useful lives of property, plant & equipment as under:

3.1.3

3.1.5

3.1.4

Category Useful life (Year) 
Land and Land Development**  Nil 
Building and other construc�ons  10-50 
Furniture & Fixtures  5-15 
Office Equipment  5-15 
Motor Vehicle 2-10 
Plant & Machinery  2-20 
Sundry Assets 5-15 
Factory apparatus and Loose Tools  2-20 

**Land is not depreciated as it deemed to have an infini�ve  life. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
own assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the 
end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Derecogni�on of Property, Plant and Equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the con�nued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or re�rement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Revalua�on

The fixed assets as at 31 December 2010 were 1st �me revalued to their fair market value as per 
decisions of the Board of Directors. All fixed assets under property, plant and equipment available on 
the cut-off date 31 December 2010 were revalued by an independent valuer S. F. Ahmed & Co., Char-
tered Accountants (Representa�ve of ERNST & YOUNG GLOBAL in Bangladesh) and the revalua�on 
surplus has been incorporated in the financial statements as on 31 December 2010.
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Further as per decision of the Board of Directors (BoD) of the Company has revalued its freehold land 
to determina�on of current fair market value to be used to show the actual picture of the company in 
the Financial Statements in 2015 by an independent valuer Mahfel Huq & Co.; Chartered Accountants 
dated 16 May 2015. As per BoD mee�ng dated 05 July 2015, the Board of Directors has accepted the 
revalua�on report and agreed to effect revalua�on surplus amount in the accounts of BPML by 
following necessary accoun�ng policies.

Any revalua�on increase arising on the revalua�on of such land, buildings, plant and machinery, furni-
ture, fixtures and equipments is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity as revalua�on reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revalua�on decreases for the 
same asset previously recognized in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or 
loss to the extent if the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on 
the revalua�on of such Land, building, plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipments is 
recognized in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the credit balance, if any, held in the proper-
�es revalua�on reserve rela�ng to a previous revalua�on of that asset.

So�ware

So�ware is generally charged off as revenue expenditure. Customized so�ware that is integral to the 
func�onality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

Acquired computer so�ware’s capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific so�ware. These costs are amor�zed over their es�mated useful lives.

Disposal of Fixed Assets

On Disposal of Fixed Assets, the cost and accumulated deprecia�on are eliminated and gain or loss on 
such disposal is reflected in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which is 
determined with reference to the net book value of the assets and net sales proceeds.

Maintenance Ac�vi�es

The company incurs maintenance cost for all its major items of property, plant and equipment.

Repair and maintenance costs are charged as expenses when incurred.

Impairment

The carrying value of the Company’s assets other than inventories, are reviewed to determine wheth-
er there is any indica�on of impairment. If any such indica�on exists, the asset's recoverable amount 
is es�mated. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of the assets or its 
cash-genera�ng unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses, if any, are recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year concerned.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Recogni�on

The recogni�on of an item as an intangible asset requires to demonstrate that the item meets the 
defini�on of an intangible asset and the recogni�on criteria. An intangible asset is recognized as an 
asset if, and only if:
 it is probable that expected future economic benefits that are a�ributable to the asset will flow 

to the company; and
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

3.2.1

3.2
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Measurement
An intangible asset is measure at cost less any accumulated amor�za�on and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Subsequent expenditures are likely to maintain the expected future economic 
benefits embodied in an exis�ng intangible asset rather than meet the defini�on of an intangible 
asset and the recogni�on criteria. In addi�on, it is o�en difficult to a�ribute subsequent expenditure 
directly to a par�cular intangible asset rather than to the business as a whole. Therefore, expenditure 
incurred a�er the ini�al recogni�on of an acquired intangible asset or a�er comple�on of an internal-
ly generated intangible asset is usually recognised in profit or loss as incurred. This is because such 
expenditure cannot be dis�nguished from expenditure to develop the business as a whole.

Separately Acquired Intangibles Assets
The cost of a separately acquired intangible asset comprises:

 its purchase price, including import du�es and non-refundable purchase taxes, a�er deduc�ng 
trade discounts and rebates;

 and any directly a�ributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets
The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the sum of expenditure incurred from the date 
when the intangible asset first meets the recogni�on criteria. The cost of an internally generated 
intangible asset comprises all directly a�ributable costs necessary to create, produce, and prepare 
the asset to be capable of opera�ng in the manner intended by management.

Research Phase
No intangible asset arising from research (or from the research phase of an internal project) is 
recognised. Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as 
an expense when it is incurred.

Development Phase
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) 
is recognised in IAS-38: Intangible asset. The company’s intangible assets include computer so�ware 
development (SAP), Design, construc�on and development of products, Augmented Reality. Internal-
ly generated brands, mastheads, publishing �tles, customer lists and items similar in substance are 
not recognised as intangible assets.

Recogni�on of an Expense
Income cases, expenditure are incurred to provide future economic benefits to an en�ty, but no 
intangible asset or other asset is acquired or created that can be recognised. For example, expendi-
ture on research is recognised as an expense when it is incurred, except when it is acquired as part of 
a business combina�on. Other examples of expenditure that is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred include:

 expenditure on start-up ac�vi�es i.e. start-up costs/ pre-opera�ng cost. 

 expenditure on  training ac�vi�es.

 expenditure on adver�sing and promo�onal ac�vi�es.

 expenditure on reloca�ng or reorganising part or all of an en�ty.

Past Expenses

Expenditure on an intangible item that was ini�ally recognised as an expense is not recognised as part 
of the cost of an intangible asset at a later date.

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8
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Revalua�on of Intangibles
The revalua�on model requires an intangible asset shall be carried at a revalued amount, being its fair 
value at the date of the revalua�on less any subsequent accumulated amor�sa�on and any subse-
quent accumulated impairment losses. However, fair value shall be measured by reference to an 
ac�ve market. The revalua�on model does not allow the revalua�on of intangible assets that have not 
previously been recognised as assets; or the ini�al recogni�on of intangible assets at amounts other 
than cost.

 Amor�za�on
The amor�za�on amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life shall be allocated on a system-
a�c basis over its useful life. Amor�sa�on begin when the asset is available for use, ie when it is in the 
loca�on and condi�on necessary for it to be capable of opera�ng in the manner intended by manage-
ment. Amor�sa�on cease at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale and the 
date that the asset is derecognised. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amor�sed.

Derecogni�on of Intangible Assets

The carrying amount of an item of intangible assets is derecognised on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the derecogni-
�on of an item of intangible assets is included as other income in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised. When the revalued assets are disposed off, the respec�ve revalua�on surplus is trans-
ferred to retained earnings.

LEASED ASSETS

Finance Lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever terms of the lease transfer substan�ally all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. Upon ini�al recogni�on the leased asset is measured at an 
amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to ini�al recogni�on, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accoun�ng policy 
applicable to that asset.

Opera�ng Leases

Lease payments under an opera�ng lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term unless another systema�c basis is more representa�ve of the �me pa�ern of the user’s 
benefit.

Ini�al Recogni�on

At the commencement of the lease term, the company recognises finance leases as assets and liabili-
�es in their statements of financial posi�on at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property 
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the incep�on of 
the lease. Any ini�al direct costs of the lessee are added to the amount recognised as an asset.

Sl no Category Useful lives 
1 SAP So�ware  25 
2 CRM So�ware  10 

3.2.10

3.2.11

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.2.9
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Subsequent Measurement

Minimum lease payments are appor�oned between the finance charge and the reduc�on of the 
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Con�ngent rents 
are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. A finance lease gives rise to depre-
cia�on expense for depreciable assets as well as finance expense for each accoun�ng period. The 
deprecia�on policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent with that for depreciable assets that are 
owned, and the deprecia�on recognised is calculated in accordance with IAS: 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment and IAS: 38 Intangible Assets. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and its useful life.

Lease Payments

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are appor�oned between the finance expense 
and the reduc�on of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each year during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one en�ty and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another en�ty. IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and mea-
suring financial assets, financial liabili�es and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This 
standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogni�on and Measurement.

The details of new significant accoun�ng policies and the nature and effect of the changes to previous 
accoun�ng policies are set out below.

Recogni�on and ini�al measurement

IFRS 9 largely retains the exis�ng requirements in IAS 39 for the classifica�on and measurement of 
financial liabili�es. However, it eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories for financial assets of held to 
maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

Trade receivables and debt securi�es issued are ini�ally recognised when they are originated. All 
other financial assets and financial liabili�es are ini�ally recognised when the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial 
liability is ini�ally measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transac�on costs that are 
directly a�ributable to its acquisi�on or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is ini�ally measured at the transac�on price.

Classifica�on and subsequent measurement

Financial assets – Policy applicable from 1 July 2018

On ini�al recogni�on, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amor�sed cost; FVOCI – debt 
investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their ini�al recogni�on unless the Company chang-
es its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first repor�ng period following the change in the business model.

3.3.4

3.3.5

3.4

3.4.1

3.4.2
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A financial asset is measured at amor�sed cost if it meets both of the following condi�ons and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:

 it is held within a business model whose objec�ve is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following condi�ons and is not desig-
nated as at FVTPL:

 it is held within a business model whose objec�ve is achieved by both collec�ng contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and

▪ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On ini�al recogni�on of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevoca-
bly elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This elec�on is made on 
an investment- by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amor�sed cost or FVOCI as described above are mea-
sured at FVTPL. This includes all deriva�ve financial assets. On ini�al recogni�on, the Company may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amor�sed cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accoun�ng 
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

i.     Financial assets – Business model assessment: Policy applicable from 1 July 2018

The Company makes an assessment of the objec�ve of the business model in which a financial asset 
is held at a por�olio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and informa�on 
is provided to management. The informa�on considered includes:

 'the stated policies and objec�ves for the por�olio and the opera�on of those policies in prac-
�ce. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest 
income, maintaining a par�cular interest rate profile, matching the dura�on of the financial 
assets to the dura�on of any related liabili�es or expected cash ou�lows or realising cash flows 
through the sale of the assets;

 how the performance of the por�olio is evaluated and reported to the Company's manage-
ment; the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets 
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

 how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensa�on is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

 the frequency, volume and �ming of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 
such sales and expecta�ons about future sales ac�vity.

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: Policy applicable from 1 July 2018
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Financial assets includes cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and short term 
investment.

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and all cash deposits with maturi�es of three 
months or less that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by 
the Company in the management of its short-term commitments.

b) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised ini�ally at fair value. Subsequent to ini�al recogni�on they 
are measured at amor�sed cost using the effec�ve interest method, less any impairment losses.

c) Short-term investment

Short-term investment consists of fixed deposits with original maturity of more than three months. 
The Company has the posi�ve intent and ability to hold FDR to maturity, and such financial assets are 
carried as financial assets at amor�sed cost. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised ini�ally 
at fair value plus any directly a�ributable transac�on costs. Subsequent to ini�al recogni�on, 
held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amor�sed cost using the effec�ve interest method, 
less any impairment losses.

ii. Financial liability

All financial liabili�es are recognised ini�ally on the transac�on date at which the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the liability.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obliga�ons are discharged or 
cancelled or expired.

Financial liabili�es include trade and other payables etc.

Financial assets at FVTPL

• These assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value. Net gains and losses, includ-
ing any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amor�sed cost

•  These assets are subsequently mea-
sured at amor�sed cost using the effec�ve 
interest method. The amor�sed cost is 
reduced by impairment losses. Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or 
loss. Any gain or loss on derecogni�on is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI

•  These assets are subsequently mea-
sured at fair value. Interest income calcu-
lated using the effec�ve interest method, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or 
loss. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI. On derecogni�on, gains 
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassi-
fied to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

• These assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 
income in profit or loss unless the dividend 
clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in OCI and are 
never reclassified to profit or loss.
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a) Trade and other payables

The Company recognises a trade and intercompany payables when its contractual obliga�ons arising 
from past events are certain and the se�lement of which is expected to result in an ou�low from the 
en�ty of resources embodying economic benefits.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amor�sed cost, contract assets and debt 
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments.

a) Financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on:

▪ financial assets measured at amor�sed cost;

▪ debt investments measured at FVOCI; and

▪ contract assets.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amor�sed cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to life�me ECLs, except for the following, 
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

▪ debt securi�es that are determined to have low credit risk at the repor�ng date; and

▪ other debt securi�es and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring 
over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since ini�al 
recogni�on.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to 
life�me ECLs.

The financial assets at amor�sed cost consist of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and 
corporate debt securi�es. The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to ECL from 
trade receivables.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since ini�al 
recogni�on and when es�ma�ng ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable informa-
�on that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quan�ta�ve and 
qualita�ve informa�on and analysis, based on Company’s historical experience and informed credit 
assessment and including forward-looking informa�on.

BPML considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obliga-
�ons to the company in full, without recourse by BPML to ac�ons such as realising security (if any is 
held).

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

ECLs are a probability-weighted es�mate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shor�alls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the en�ty in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the 
effec�ve interest rate of the financial asset.

At each repor�ng date, the company assesses whether financial assets carried at amor�sed cost and 
debt securi�es at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more

3.5
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events that have a detrimental impact on the es�mated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.

b)  Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets (other than inventories) are reviewed at 
each repor�ng date to determine whether there is any indica�on of impairment. If any such indica�on 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is es�mated in order to determine the extent of impair-
ment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Company es�mates the recoverable amount of the Cash Genera�ng Unit (CGU) to which the asset 
belongs. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. Value in use is based on the es�mated future cash flows, discounted to their present value 
using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the �me value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined, net of deprecia�on, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based 
on the weighted average principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, 
produc�on or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their exis�ng loca�on and 
condi�on. In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-process, cost includes an appropriate 
share of produc�on overheads based on normal opera�on capacity.

Net realizable value is the es�mated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the es�mated 
costs of comple�on and selling expenses.

Inventory losses and abnormal losses are recognized as expenses. Basis for valua�on of inventories 
are as under:

CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

Capital work-in-progress is recorded at cost to the extent of expenditure incurred up to the date of 
statements of Financial Posi�on. Upon comple�on of construc�on, the cost of such assets together 
with the cost directly a�ributable to construc�on, including capitalised borrowing costs are trans-
ferred to the respec�ve class of asset. No deprecia�on is charged on capital work in progress.

3.6

3.7

Category Basis of valua�on 

Finished goods and 
Work-in-process 

At the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, produc�on or 
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
exis�ng loca�on and condi�on.  

Raw and packing 
materials At the lower of cost and net realizable value.  

Stores and spares At the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value.  
Materials and stores in-
transit At cost including related charges.  
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PROVISION

Provisions are recognized in the statement of financial posi�on when the Company has a present 
obliga�on (legal or construc�ve) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be 
required to se�le the obliga�on, and a reliable es�mate can be made of the amount of the obliga�on.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best es�mate of the considera�on required to se�le the 
present obliga�on at the end of the repor�ng period, taking into account the risks and uncertain�es 
surrounding the obliga�on. When a provision is measured using the cash flows es�mated to se�le the 
present obliga�on, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the 
�me value of money is material)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to se�le a provision are expected to be recov-
ered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimburse-
ment will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS AND COMMITMENTS

Con�ngent liabili�es are disclosed in respect of possible obliga�ons that arise from past events but 
their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the company. A provision is made based on a reliable 
es�mate when it is probable that an ou�low of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to se�le an obliga�on and in respect of which a reliable es�mate can be made. Provision is 
not discounted and is determined based on best es�mate required to se�le the obliga�on at the 
year-end date. Con�ngent assets are not recognized or disclosed in these financial statements. Details 
are given in note no. # 37.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income account except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

Current Tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substan�ally enacted at the repor�ng date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. The applicable tax rate for the company is 25% (2017-18: 25%). Provision for taxa�on has been 
made on the basis of the Finance Act, 2019.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. Deferred tax arises due to temporary 
difference deduc�ble or taxable for the events or transac�ons recognized in the income statement. A 
temporary difference is the difference between the tax bases of an asset or liability and its carrying 
amount/reported amount in the balance sheet. Deferred tax asset or liability is the amount of income 
tax recoverable or payable in future period's recognized in the current period. The deferred tax asset 
/income or liability/expense does not create a legal liability/recoverability to and from the income tax 
authority. The Company recognized deferred tax on temporary difference arose from deprecia�on on 
property, plant & equipment, difference for vehicle, intangible assets and pre-opera�ng expenses.

Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabili�es and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
en�ty, or on different tax en��es, but they intend to se�le current tax liabili�es and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabili�es will be realised simultaneously.

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.10.1

3.10.2
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deduc�ble temporary differ-
ences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be u�lised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each repor�ng date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT

Defined contribu�on plan (provident fund)

Defined contribu�on plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Company provides 
benefits for all of its permanent employees. The recognized Employees' Provident Fund is being 
considered as defined contribu�on plan as it meets the recogni�on criteria specified for this purpose. 
All permanent employees contribute 10% of their basic salary to the provident fund and the Company 
also makes equal contribu�on. This fund is recognized by the Na�onal Board of Revenue (NBR) vide 
Le�er No. fwetZtAbzt(emzÜiv)/e…KBD/2015-2016/2312(3) dated 29 February 2016. The Company recog-
nizes contribu�on to defined contribu�on plan as an expense when an employee has rendered 
required services. The legal and construc�ve obliga�on is limited to the amount it agrees to contrib-
ute to the fund. Obliga�ons are created when they are due.

Defined benefit plan (gratuity)

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribu�on plan. The 
employee gratuity plan is considered as defined benefit plan as it meets the recogni�on criteria. The 
company’s obliga�on is to provide the agreed benefits to current and former employees. This fund is 
recognized by the Na�onal Board of Revenue (NBR) vide ¯gviK bs-08.01.0000.035.02.0022.2017/75 
ZvwiLt 07/09/2017 wL«t.The net defined benefit liability (asset) is made up of:

a) the present value of defined benefit obliga�on; less

b) the fair value of plan assets; adjusted for

c) any effect of limi�ng a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.

The Company operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for its permanent employees, under which an 
employee is en�tled to the benefits depending on the length of services and last drawn basic salary. 
The Company calculated the provisions for maximum exposures as at the repor�ng date for all eligible 
employees. Gratuity payable at the end of each year is determined on the basis of following rules and 
regula�ons of the company:

The expected cost of this benefit is included in respec�ve annual statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income over the period of employment.

Group insurance scheme

The Company operates a group insurance scheme for its permanent employees. Insurance premium 
is being charged to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

3.11

3.11.1

3.11.2

3.11.3

 
Service length (Years) Payment basis 

0 < 10 Nill 
10 30 days basic salary/ wages for every completed year of service  

>10 45 days basic salary/ wages for every completed year of service  
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Short-term employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, bonuses etc. Obliga�ons for such benefits are mea-
sured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

WORKERS' PROFIT PARTICIPATION AND WELFARE FUND

This is made in terms of sec�on 234(1)(b) of Bangladesh Labour Law (Amendment) Act 2013, 5% of 
the net profit of each year, not later than nine (9) months from the close of that period, is required to 
be transferred to the Fund, the propor�on of the payment to the Par�cipa�on Fund and the Welfare 
Fund being 80:10. The remaining 10% of the amount of net profit shall be paid by the Company to the 
Workers' Welfare Founda�on Fund, as formed under the provision of the Bangladesh Worker's 
Welfare Founda�on Act, 2006.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Foreign currency transac�ons are recorded at the applicable rates of exchange ruling at the              
transac�ons date.

The monitory assets and liabili�es, if any, denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date 
are translated at the applicable rates of exchanges ruling at that date. Exchange differences are 
charged off as revenue expenditure/ income in compliance with the provision of IAS 21: The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when reve-
nue is recognized. It replaces exis�ng revenue recogni�on guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construc�on Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. IFRS 15 is effec�ve for annual 
repor�ng periods beginning on or a�er 1 January 2018, with early adop�on permi�ed.

Sales of goods

Under IFRS 15, revenue will be recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue will be recognised for the contracts to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumula�ve revenue recognised will not occur. As a consequence, for those contracts 
for which the Company is unable to make a reasonable es�mate of return, revenue is expected to be 
recognised sooner than when the return period lapses or a reasonable es�mate can be made.

Based on the Company’s assessment, the �ming of revenue recogni�on from sale of goods are broad-
ly similar. Therefore, the Company does not expect the applica�on of IFRS 15 to result in significant 
differences in the �ming of revenue recogni�on for these sales.

Rendering of services

Under IFRS 15, the total considera�on in the service contracts will be allocated to all services based 
on their stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices will be determined based on the list 
prices at which the Company sells the services in separate transac�ons.

Based on the Company’s assessment, the fair value and the stand-alone selling prices of the services 
are broadly similar. Therefore, the Company does not expect the applica�on of IFRS 15 to result in 
significant differences in the �ming of revenue recogni�on for these services.

Construc�on contracts

Contract revenue currently includes the ini�al amount agreed in the contract plus any varia�ons in 
contract work, claims and incen�ve payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will

3.11.4

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.14.1

3.14.2

3.14.3
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result in revenue and can be measured reliably. When a claim or varia�on is recognised, the measure 
of contract progress or contract price is revised and the cumula�ve contract posi�on is reassessed at 
each repor�ng date.

Under IFRS 15, claims and varia�ons will be included in the contract accoun�ng when they are 
approved.

The Company does not expect the applica�on of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 to have a significant impact on its 
financial statements.

The Company recognises as revenue the amount that reflects the considera�on to which the Company 
expects to be en�tled in exchange for goods or services when (or as) it transfers control to the custom-
er. To achieve that core principle, this standard establishes a five-step model as follows:

 ▪ Iden�fy the contract with a customer;

 ▪ Iden�fy the performance obliga�ons in the contract;

 ▪ Determine the transac�on price;

 ▪ Allocate the transac�on price to the performance obliga�ons in the contract; and

 ▪ Recognise revenue when (or as) the en�ty sa�sfies a performance obliga�on

Considering the five steps model, the Company recognises revenue when (or as) the Company sa�sfies 
a performance obliga�on by transferring a promised good to a customer. Goods is considered as trans-
ferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that goods. Revenue from sale of goods is mea-
sured at the fair value of the considera�on received or receivable net of returns and allowances, trade 
discounts, rebates and Value Added Tax (VAT).

Interest income on bank deposits and short-term investments is recognized on accrual basis.

Other income is recognized on receipt or due basis.

BORROWING COSTS

Interest and other incurred by the company in respect of borrowing of fund are recognized as expens-
es in the year in which they incurred unless the ac�vi�es that are necessary to prepare the qualifying 
assets for its intended use are in progress. Finance expenses comprise interest expense on bank loan, 
finance lease and other borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognized in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income using effec�ve interest method. Expenses capitalized also 
include applicable borrowing cost considering the requirement of IAS 23: Borrowing Costs.

Recogni�on

The company capitalises borrowing costs that are directly a�ributable to the acquisi�on, construc�on 
or produc�on of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. BPML recognises other borrowing 
costs as an expense in the year in which it incurs them.

Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitaliza�on

The borrowing costs that are directly a�ributable to the acquisi�on, construc�on or produc�on of a 
qualifying asset are those borrowing costs that would have been avoided if the expenditure on the 
qualifying asset had not been made.

To the extent that the company borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset, BPML determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisa�on as the actual

3.15

3.15.1

3.15.1
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borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the year less any investment income on the 
temporary investment of those borrowings.

Commencement of Capitaliza�on

BPML begins capitalising borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset on the commence-
ment date. The commencement date for capitalisa�on is the date when the company first meets all 
of the following condi�ons:

 it incurs expenditures for the asset; 

 it incurs borrowing costs; and

 it undertakes ac�vi�es that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
Cessa�on of capitaliza�on

BPML ceases capitalising borrowing costs when substan�ally all the ac�vi�es necessary to prepare 
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

SHARE CAPITAL

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognized as share capital in equity when there is no 
contractual obliga�on to transfer cash or other financial assets.

DIVIDEND TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS

The Company recognises a liability to make cash dividend when the distribu�on is authorised and the 
distribu�on is no longer at the discre�on of the Company. As per the corporate laws in Bangladesh, a 
distribu�on is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 
recognised directly in equity.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accordance with Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards 
IAS-7: Statement of Cash Flows”. Cash flow from opera�ng ac�vi�es has been presented under direct 
method.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Statement of changes in equity has been prepared in accordance with Interna�onal Accoun�ng 
Standards IAS-1: Presenta�on of Financial Statements.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company presents its basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss a�ributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Basic Earnings per Share (Numerator/Denominator)

Earnings (Numerator)

This represents earning for the year a�ributable to ordinary shareholders.

No. of Ordinary shares (Denominator)

This represents weighted average number of ordinary share outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earnings per Share

Diluted EPS is determined by adjus�ng the profit or loss a�ributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilu�ve poten�al 
ordinary shares, if any.

3.15.3
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As per Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards IAS-24: Related Party Disclosures, par�es are considered to 
be related if one of the party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and opera�ng decisions. The Company carried out transac�ons 
in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis at commercial rates with its related par�es 
which have been given in note no. 40.00.

SEGMENT REPORTING

A segment is a dis�nguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing related 
products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a par�cular 
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different 
from those of other segments. The Company's primary format for segment is based on business 
segments.

OFFSETTING

Financial assets and liabili�es are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only 
when there is legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts and the company intends 
either to se�le on a net basis, or to realize the assets and to se�le the liabili�es simultaneously.

MATERIALITY AND AGGREGATION

Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the financial statements. Items of dissimi-
lar nature or func�on are presented separately unless they are immaterial.

GOING CONCERN

The Board of Directors are convinced a�er making appropriate enquiries at the �me of approving the 
financial statements the company has adequate resources to carry out its opera�onal existence for the 
foreseeable future. It is therefore appropriate to adopt going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements.

ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

BPML prepares its financial statements, except for cash flow informa�on, using the accrual basis of 
accoun�ng. Since the accrual basis of accoun�ng is used, the company recognizes items as assets, 
liabili�es, equity, income and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they sa�sfy the 
defini�ons and recogni�on criteria for those elements in the Framework.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

The effect of change in an accoun�ng es�mate shall be recognised prospec�vely by including it in profit 
or loss in:

 the period of the change, if the change affects that period only; or

 the period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.

To the extent that a change in an accoun�ng es�mate gives rise to changes in assets and liabili�es, or 
relates to an item of equity, it shall be recognised by adjus�ng the carrying amount of the related asset, 
liability or equity item in the period of the change.

3.21
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Changes in accoun�ng policies and material prior period errors shall be retrospec�vely corrected in the 
first financial statements authorized for issue a�er their discover by:

 resta�ng the compara�ve amounts for the prior period(s) presented in which the error 
occurred; or

 if the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, resta�ng the opening balances 
of assets, liabili�es and equity for the earliest prior period presented.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The Board of Directors is responsible for the prepara�on and presenta�on of Financial Statements 
under sec�on 183 of the Companies Act 1994 and as per provision of “The Framework for the        
Prepara�on and Presenta�on of Financial Statements” issued by the Interna�onal Accoun�ng Stan-
dard Commi�ee (IASC).

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

In compliance with the requirements of IAS-10: Events a�er the Repor�ng Period, post statement of 
financial posi�on events that provide addi�onal informa�on about the company’s posi�on at the 
statement of financial posi�on date are reflected in the financial statement and events a�er the       
statement of financial posi�on date that are not adjus�ng event are disclosed in the notes when         
material.

COMPARATIVES, RECLASSIFICATION AND RESTATEMENT

These notes form an integral part of the annexed financial statements and accordingly are to be read 
in conjunc�on therewith;

Figures appearing in these accounts have been rounded off to the nearest taka;

Previous year’s figures and account �tles in the financial statements have been rearranged and reclas-
sified, wherever necessary for the purpose of comparison, without, however, crea�ng any impact on 
the profit and value of assets and liabili�es as reported in the financial statements for the current year.

3.28
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04.00 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

1. Based on Cost:
A. Cost:
Opening Balance 10,005,200,142    9,043,400,307       

Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year (22,262,213)           (576,482,472)         

Add: Addi�on during the year 5,256,749,567      1,538,282,307       

Closing Balance 15,239,687,497    10,005,200,142    

B. Accumulated deprecia�on:
Opening Balance 3,639,499,101      3,155,631,434       

Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year (2,225,710)             (301,111,601)         

Add: Charged during the year 894,971,387          784,979,269          

Closing Balance 4,532,244,778      3,639,499,101      

C. Wri�en down value on cost (A-B) 10,707,442,718    6,365,701,041      

2. Based on Revaluation:

A. Cost:
Opening Balance 

2,848,337,977      2,848,342,604       

Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year
-                          (4,627)                     

Add: Addi�on during the year
-                          -                           

Closing Balance 
2,848,337,977      2,848,337,977      

B. Accumulated deprecia�on:
Opening Balance 

235,580,086          204,423,880          

Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year
-                          (3,471)                     

Add: Charged during the  year
31,011,778            31,159,677            

Closing Balance 
266,591,865         235,580,086          

C. Wri�en down value on revalua�on (A-B)
2,581,746,113      2,612,757,891      

3. Wri�en down value on cost and revalua�on (1+2)
13,289,188,831    8,978,458,932      

Amount in Taka

Details of property, plant & equipment are shown in 'Annexure-A'

During the year management of the Company carried out a review of the recoverable amount of the manufacturing 
plant and other related assets. The review does not led to an impairment loss. The recoverable amount of the relevant 
assets has been determined on the basis of their value in use. It also may men�oned here that no indica�on of impair-
ment was determined in the year 2017-2018 as well.

Deprecia�on begins when the asset is available for use and con�nues un�l the asset is derecognized.

The company has been availing long term lease facility against use of 18.7709 acres land from East West Property Devel-
opment (Pvt.) Limited. All maintenance cost incurred during the year for the said land bear by BPML but rent or any 
other cost regarding the use of land has not been bear in current or prior year's as per decision of the both Companies 
management.

4.01

4.02

4.03

05.00 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
A. Cost:
Opening Balance 189,627,705          189,627,705             
Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year -                          -                             
Add: Addi�on during the year - -                           
Closing Balance 189,627,705         189,627,705          

B. Accumulated amor�za�on:
Opening Balance 15,213,651            7,597,925                  
Less: Transfer/ Disposal during the year -                          -                             
Add: Charged during the year 7,615,726              7,615,726               
Closing Balance 22,829,378            15,213,651            
C. Wri�en down value (A-B) 166,798,327         174,414,054          

Details of Intangible assets are shown in 'Annexure- B'
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06.00 CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

A. Plant and machinery:
Opening balance 1,337,539,088 799,545,623          
Add: Addi�on made during the year 3,498,593,574 913,774,940          
Less: Adjustment/transfer to appropriate asset category (3,390,661,461) (375,781,475)         
Closing balance 1,445,471,202 1,337,539,088      
B. Factory building and other constructions:
Opening balance 1,155,085,789 452,508,384          
Add: Addi�on made during the year 752,436,887 812,464,006          
Less: Adjustment/transfer to appropriate asset category (1,349,936,279) (109,886,601)         
Closing balance 557,586,396 1,155,085,789      

C. Intangible assets (SAP Software):
Opening balance - -                           
Add: Addi�on made during the year 5,703,750 -                           
Less: Adjustment/transfer to appropriate asset category - -                           
Closing balance 5,703,750 -                           
D. Total (A+B+C) 2,008,761,348 2,492,624,877      

06.01 Capital work in progress - transferred

Sl no 2018-2019 2017-2018

1 PM-4 Tissue Machine 1,644,549,879 - 
2 PM-4 Building & other construc�on 1,101,735,139 - 
3 Generator 66,289,804 - 
4 Facial Tissue Machine 59,919,534 - 
5 Wallet Tissue Machine 57,133,723 - 
6 Napkin Tissue Machine 128,993,218 - 
7 Toilet Tissue & Kitchen Towel Machine 86,823,395 - 
8 Prin�ng Machine 212,074,993 - 
9 Modifica�on of various Base Machine 685,173,012 - 

10 Sales Center-Building 32,648,703 - 
11 Rotogravure Plant-Building 91,451,867 - 
12 Rewinder (Sliter Winder) 255,299,795 - 
13 Coal Fire Boiler 43,624,936 - 
14 Automa�c Fire Tube Steam Boiler 31,364,660 - 
15 EOT Crane 13,118,897 - 
16 Slat Chain Conveyor 7,900,768 - 
17 Chemical Dosing Equipment 4,363,036 - 
18 Motor Mul� Drive 16,171,393 - 
19 Auto Box Tissue Cartoning Machine 4,795,589 - 
20 Coa�ng Machine - 6,329,118 
21 Diapant Machine - 99,658,320 
22 Napkin Machine - 60,572,707 
23 Press Roll - 13,393,421 
24 Tissue machine - 31,643,686 
25 Facial Tissue Folding Machine - 10,746,485 
26 Gas Generator - 1,761,950 
27 Wrapper machine - 23,848,099 
28 Prin�ng Machine - 3,682,218 
29 Forkli� 23,987,025 14,032,417 
30 Baby Diaper Machine - 9,729,904 
31 Suc�on Roll - 7,086,192 
32 2nd Press Bo�om Roll - 4,805,447 
33 Flexo Prin�ng machine - 17,714,926 
34 Boiler - 19,921,424 

Assets category

The amount of CWIP completed and transferred during the year to the corresponding items of property, plant 
and equipment was as follows:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka
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35 Lamina�ng Machine - 6,543,821 
36 Infla�on Machine - 9,870,629 
37 Seal Bag Macking Machine - 5,423,905 
38 Rotogravure Prin�ng Machine - 17,583,773 
39 Rewinder Machine - 4,858,457 
40 Stem & condensate line - 6,081,717 
41 Paper Core Dryer - 208,210 
42 Various building & other construc�on - 109,886,601 

   4,567,419,369        485,383,427 

06.02

07.00 INVESTMENT 

Investment in shares (unquoted) 265,000,000 265,000,000          
Total 265,000,000 265,000,000          

07.01

08.00 INVENTORIES

Raw material 2,623,923,219       
Finished goods 1,012,008,949       
Stores and spare parts 1,008,876,976       
Work-in-process 775,023,910          
Material in transit 1,597,223,289       
Total 7,017,056,343      

08.01
08.02

08.03

08.04

09.00 TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES
09.01 Trade receivables: 2,689,538,372 2,193,647,639      

Hygiene  product 11,604,898 21,187,950            
Paper product 2,097,834,873 1,736,500,575       
Demy paper (566,460) 1,366,282               
Paper sack  product 176,076,317 62,372,007            
PP Woven Bag  product - 114,462,068          
Tissue products 342,169,289 232,205,772          
Export 62,419,456 25,552,986            

Other receivables: 1,003,786,825 296,771,245          
Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd. 518,598,596          13,538,373            
Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd. 1,680,701              1,603,042               
Bashundhara Amusement Park Ltd. 1,360,012              516,243                  
Bashundhara Pulp & Board Mills Ltd. 3,000                      3,000                      
Sundorban Industrial Complex Ltd. 1,120,887              1,120,887               
Bashundhara Founda�on -                          6,815,000               
Bashundhara Mul�-Paper Industries Ltd. 362,339,434          246,881,810          
Bashundhara Industrial Economic Zone Ltd. -                          3,849,300               
Cash incen�ve receivables 34,677,774            22,443,590            
Interest on FDR 68,506,421            -                           
East West Property Develpment (Pvt.) Ltd. 15,500,000            -                           
Total 3,693,325,197      2,490,418,884      

7,866,400,203       

All stocks are good and it does not include any wastage and defec�ve materials.

2,749,515,772       

Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is based on es�mated selling price
less any other cost an�cipated to be incurred to make the sale .

All the amount of capital work-in-progress for acquisi�on of plant & machinery which are not ready for use and
construc�on work is underway for factory building. The amount of capital work-in-progress is transferred to
appropriate asset category and depreciated when the asset is completed for use.

Total

This represents investments in 26,500,000 Ordinary Share @ Tk. 10/- each of Bashundhara Industrial Complex
Limited, being sister concern of the company, is the owner of 6.63% shares of the company.

1,404,133,797       
938,762,100           

Management has been carried out a stock taking as on the close of the period and found all right in terms of quality
and weight.

1,249,774,443       
1,524,214,090       

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense during the period in Statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income .

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019114

Auditor’s Report



09.03 Age of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired based on products basis are shown under:

30-Jun-19 Total

Paper products 338,595,681          2,097,268,413       
Tissue products 2,032,558              342,169,289          
Hygiene products 5,546,353              11,604,898            
Paper Sack  products 45,770,950            176,076,317          
Export 2,365,957              62,419,456            

       394,311,499     2,689,538,372 

30-Jun-18 Total

Paper products 172,789,567          1,737,866,857       
Tissue products 11,225,500            232,205,772          
Hygiene products 4,990,171              21,187,950            
PP Woven Bag  products (130,382,575)        114,462,068          
Paper sack  products (34,941,510)           62,372,007            
Export 8,214,802              25,552,986            

         31,895,955     2,193,647,639 

09.04 Disclosure as per Schedule-XI, Part -I, of The Companies Act, 1994
Maturity within 3 months 1,143,445,755 1,747,348,670 
Maturity over 3 months but within 6 months 1,151,781,118 414,403,014 
Maturity more than 6 months 394,311,499 31,895,955 
Total 2,689,538,372 2,193,647,639 

Receivables considered Good & Secured 2,148,000,971 1,828,176,363 
Receivables considered Good without security - - 
Receivables considered doub�ul & bad - - 
Receivables due by directors or other officers & staffs - - 
Receivables due from companies under same management 541,537,401 365,471,276 
Maximum receivables due by directors or officers & staffs at any �me - - 
Total 2,689,538,372 2,193,647,639 

09.05

09.06
09.07

10.00 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
Advances:
Advance against adver�sement 489,569 925,000 
Advance against Legal and consultancy 2,580,000 1,980,000 
Advance against insurance premium 1,108,770 530,576 
Advance against land and land development 55,801,339 53,801,339 
Advance against motor vehicle 391,826 3,449,600 
Advance against rental vehicle 755,000 6,290 
Advance to employee 408,400 830,265 
Advance to other expense 117,245,260 15,003,183 
Advance to suppliers 77,792,208 246,935,979 
SD current account 49,363 27,745 
VAT current account 11,091,163 14,589,852 
Total advance 267,712,897 338,079,829 

All amounts are short-term. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approxima�on of
fair value.
There is no such trade receivable due by or to directors or other officers of the Company.
Management considered the receivables are collectable and thus no provision had been made for any receivable.

98,536,660                          

14,542,402                          1,655,377             

         414,403,014 

(1,223,144)           
16,527,734                          810,449                

                     1,747,348,670 

264,195,915                        

0-90 days past due

1,142,932,666                    

5,794,427                            

210,613,292                        10,366,981          
422,144,623        

0-90 days past due

782,589,522                        
274,703,324                        

26,676,888                          
53,681,594                          

                 1,143,445,755   1,151,781,118 

976,083,210        

264,118                
65,433,407          

103,628,479        
6,371,905             

Total

(19,351,273)         

Dues over 6 months
90-180 days past 

due

Total

90-180 days past 
due

Dues over 6 months

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka
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30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

Deposit:
Bank guarantee margin 22,573,753 17,856,893 
Deposit to Bangladesh Bank 150,000,000 150,000,000 
Deposit to Finance Lease 1,644,495 4,266,145 
L/C margin deposit 322,933,576 370,067,149 
Security deposit 64,504,163 57,615,532 
Total deposits 561,655,987 599,805,719 
Total 829,368,883 937,885,549 

10.01
211,911,558 284,278,490 

10.02 408,400 830,265 

10.03
200,000 646,092 

10.04 Advance recoverable in cash 408,400 830,265 

10.05 Advance outstanding for a period exceeding six months 55,801,339 53,801,339 

10.06 Disclosure as per Schedule-XI, Part -I, of The Companies Act, 1994

Advance, deposits & prepayments considered good & secured 828,760,483 936,409,192 
Advance, deposit & prepayments considered Good without security - - 
Advance, deposit & prepayments considered doub�ul & bad - - 
Advance, deposit & prepayments due by directors or other officers & staffs 408,400 830,265 
Advance, deposit & prepayments due from companies under same management - - 
Maximum advance due by directors or officers & staffs at any �me 200,000 646,092 
Total 829,368,883 937,885,549 

10.07

10.08

10.09

10.10

10.11

10.12

These include dues realizable/adjustable within one year from the balance 
sheet date
These include aggregate amount due by, execu�ves, managers, officers and 
staffs
The maximum aggregated amount due by execu�ves, managers, officers 
and staffs of the company at the end of any month during the year

All advances and deposits amount are considered good and recoverable. There is no agreement amount due from 
directors or officers of the Company.

This represent advance paid for earth and sand filing and land purchase. The procured land will be transferred to 
PPE when the registra�on will be completed.

Advance to suppliers due to advances given to suppliers for packing materials, spare parts, construc�on materials etc.

The company has no pending current liability for VAT. VAT current account showed posi�ve balance (advance 
payment) as of 30 June 2019.

This represents the guarantee margins with different banks against guarantee provided by them favoring suppliers 
and other par�es.

Deposit to Bangladesh Bank represents amount of Tk. 150,000,000 (Fi�een Crore) paid in favour of the Govern-
ment of the Peoples Republic of Bangladesh during the Care Taker Government. A writ pe��on (no # 8603 of 2009) 
was filed in this regard claiming the deposited money back in the High Court Division of the Hon'ble Supreme court 
of Bangladesh. The Hon'ble Court was sa�sfied and issued a Rule Nisi on 31.12.2009 calling upon the respondents 
including Bangladesh Bank to show cause as to why the claim of the respondent should not be declared to have 
been passed without lawful authority and why the respondents should not be directed to refund Tk. 15 crore in 
the bank account of BPML. The rule was made returnable within four weeks but the respondents did not return 
back within the s�pulated �me.

However, the respondents made a civil pe��on for leave to appeal (Ref: appeal no# 1174/ 2014) for stay opera�on 
of the judgment and order dated 29.08.2012 passed by High Court Division in Write Pe��on No.8603 of 2009 �ll 
hearing of the leave pe��on by the Governor of Bangladesh Bank to Appellate Division of the Hon’ble Supreme 
Court. The Appellate Division of the Hon’ble Supreme Court granted the prayer of Bangladesh Bank and stays the 
order accordingly.

In the year 2017 the Supreme Court upheld the High Court verdict that asked the Government to return the said 
money collected during the army-led caretaker government. A four-member Supreme Court bench headed by 
Chief Jus�ce passed the order, a�er dismissing appeals of Bangladesh Bank challenging the HC verdict on March 
16, 2017.
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10.13 Break up of L/C margin deposit:
Agrani Bank Ltd. - 17,161,044 
Al-Arafa Islami Bank Ltd. 31,561,000 - 
First Security Islami Bank Ltd. 28,345,000 24,764,000 
Bank Asia Ltd. 11,976,890 - 
IFIC Bank Ltd. 34,885,000 28,240,000 
Social Islami Bank Ltd. 950,000 950,000 
Mercan�le Bank Ltd. 1,423,000 18,507,805 
Na�onal Bank Ltd. 173,665,209 183,661,813 
Trust Bank Ltd. 4,372,000 5,199,000 
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 20,888,258 19,396,177 
Southeast Bank Ltd. 2,035,017 22,574,636 
Standard Bank Ltd 12,832,202 49,612,674 

322,933,576         370,067,149 

10.14 Break up of Security Deposit:

30-Jun-18
Titas Gas Co. Ltd. Supply of GAS 53,677,567 46,349,117 
DESA Supply of Electricity 3,600,000 3,600,000 
BTCL Telephone line 125,000 125,000 
Rent-A-Car Transport support 152,000 723,083 
Narayanganj Polli Bidyut Samity Supply of Electricity 534,000 464,000 
Comilla polly Biddut Samity-1 Supply of Electricity 2,534,400 2,534,400 
CSD Filling Sta�on Gas filling for vehicle 75,000 75,000 
Bangladesh Oxygen Ltd. Supply of Oxygen 40,000 40,000 
Telecommunica�on Using sim card 1,000 1,000 
Abdul Goffur Bhuiyan Office Rent 500,000 - 
Pacific Bangladesh Telecom Limited Telecom Service 2,500 2,500 
Ansar & VDP Munshigonj Security Service 490,134 490,134 
Aktel Mobile Service 82,062 82,062 
Different Ins�tu�on Tender purpose 2,690,500 3,129,236 
Total 64,504,163 57,615,532 

11.00 ADVANCE INCOME TAX

548,937,061 495,946,126          
70,831,934 149,775,463          

           Import of raw materials and machineries 40,287,970 49,429,246            
           Interest income 773,700 299,599                  
           Sales 25,257,011 96,911,355            
           License, renewal and registra�on 3,330,000 2,725,500               
           Others 1,183,253 409,762                  
Less: adjusted during the year NOTE 26.01 (245,071,887) (96,784,527)           

374,697,109 548,937,061          

11.01

11.02

Total

Opening balance

Name of Company/ Party Purpose

Add: addi�on during the year, on:

Closing balance

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

Advance income tax paid during the year represents income tax deducted by customs authority on purchase of 
raw materials, tax deducted by customers on bill for paper supply, tax deducted at source from export sales, tax 
deducted at source from interest income etc.

1Advance income tax paid has been setoff with provision for corporate tax to comply with IAS 1 and IAS 12 as and 
when the assessment is completed.
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30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

The Company plans to dispose of its PPWB plant that manufactures PPWB Bag and an�cipates that the disposal will 
completed by forthcoming year. The company is currently nego�ate with some poten�al buyers and the directors 
of the Company expect that the fair value less costs to sell of the business will be higher than the aggregate carry-
ing amount of the related assets as at June 30, 2018. During the year, the Company sale these assets at their carry-
ing value. As a result, there were no capital gain/loss is recognised. The major classes of assets at the end of the 
repor�ng period are as follows:

Inter company receivables/ (payables) represents short term financial facility arrangement availed from/ given to 
its sister companies.

There was no formal agreement between the company and the sister concern in this regard.

All loans are Interest free. All receivables/(payables) will be recovered or paid within shortly.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and bank equivalents include cash on hand and in banks. 
Cash and bank equivalents at the end of the repor�ng period as shown in the statement of cash flows can be 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial posi�on as follows:

12.00 INTER COMPANY CURRENT ACCOUNT

155,665,588 155,965,589 
Bashundhara Amusement Park Ltd. 18,628,585 18,703,585 
Bashundhara Cement Industries Ltd. 12,318,436 20,118,436 
Bashundhara Infrastructure Development Ltd. 3,281,222 3,281,222 
Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd. 18,965,831 63,265,831 
Bashundhara Fine Paper Mills Ltd. 800,000 800,000 
Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd.  (84,106,492) 
Bashundhara Pulp & Board Mills Ltd. 1,371,500 1,371,500 
Bashundhara Industrial economic Zone 73,849,300 - 
Bashundhara Mul�-paper Industries Ltd.  (251,048,649) 
Bashundhara Steel & Engineering Ltd. 58,490,293 59,190,293 
Bashundhara Chemical Industries Ltd.  - 
East West Media Group Ltd. 139,422,265 138,334,392 
Meghna Cement Mills Limited 54,363,621 54,218,621 
Toggi Services Ltd. 52,300,000 - 
Toggi Real Estate & Construc�on Ltd. 1,250,000 - 
Sundarban Industrial Complex Ltd. 4,340,289 11,890,731 
Total 356,051,064 191,985,058 

12.01

12.02

12.03

13.00 CASH AND BANK EQUIVALENTS

Cash in hand 29,384,396 18,669,814            
Investment in FDR 1,075,020,000 -                           
Cash at bank 232,250,395 1,500,784,678      
Current deposit 173,588,104 1,439,001,744       
Short term bank deposits (STD) 58,662,290 61,782,934            
Cash and bank balances in the statement of cash flows 1,336,654,791 1,519,454,492      

14.00 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

PPWB-1ply machine - 292,382,390.30    
PPWB-2ply machine - 140,945,026.90    
S�tching Machine - 6,539,380.21         
Air Compressor - 1,173,552.31         
Saco Tex Machine - 4,862,680.33         

- 445,903,030          

Bashundhara Airways Ltd.

All bank balances are reconciled with bank statements. 
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15.00 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized share capital:
5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 

Issued, subscribed & paid up:

1,737,914,410 1,737,914,410 
Total 1,737,914,410 1,737,914,410 

15.01 Movement of share capital:
Opening balance 1,737,914,410 1,477,497,750 
Issuance of ordinary shares during the year - 260,416,660 
Closing balance 1,737,914,410 1,737,914,410 

15.02 Posi�on of shareholding
15.02.1 Percentage of Shareholders

Nos. of Shares
 Percentages of 

holdings 
4,000,000              2.30%
5,885,200              3.39%
8,203,000              4.72%
8,203,000              4.72%
8,203,000              4.72%
8,203,000              4.72%
4,002,000              2.30%

101,050,575          58.14%

General public and ins�tu�ons 14.98% 26,041,666            14.98%
       173,791,441 100%

15.02.2 Classifica�on of shareholder's by holding range

30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18

1-500 shares 23,029                  1,715,224              2,789,033               
501 to 5,000 shares 3,667                    6,760,033              6,192,333               
5,001 to 10,000 shares 318 2,975,198              2,334,074               
10,001 to 20,000 shares 156 3,325,912              2,262,924               
20,001 to 30,000 shares 283 2,171,206              6,291,522               
30,001 to 40,000 shares 30 916,993                  1,031,844               
40,001 to 50,000 shares 15 1,218,565              650,088                  
50,001 to 100,000 shares 19 2,598,112              1,283,285               
100,001 to 1,000,000 shares 20 4,360,423              3,206,363               
1,000,001 to 1,000,000,000 shares 7 147,749,775          147,749,975          

       173,791,441        173,791,441 

16.00 SHARE PREMIUM

Opening Balance 1,739,583,292 - 
Add: Addi�on during the year - 1,739,583,292 
Less: Adjustment during the year - - 
Closing Balance 1,739,583,292 1,739,583,292 

173,791,441 nos. ordinary shares of Taka 10 each issued and fully paid-up in cash.

8,203,000           4.72%

5,885,200           Mrs. Afroza Begum
Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan

Nos. of Shares
 Percentages of 

holdings 

Mr. Shafiat Sobhan

27                         
27                         
36                         
23                         

7                           

500,000,000 nos. ordinary shares of Taka 10 each.

East West Property Development (Pvt.) 
Ltd. Represented by-Mr. Md. Nazmul 
Alam Bhuiyan

Mr. Sadat Sobhan 8,203,000           4.72%

4.72%
Mr. Safwan Sobhan

3.39%

Name of shareholders
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

4,000,000           2.30%

4,002,000           2.30%

236                      
92                         

Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan

58.14%

    173,791,441 

101,050,575      

3,845                   
406                      

12,582                 

No of sharesNo of Share holders

100%

30-Jun-1930-Jun-19

Total                   17,281                    27,544 

Total
26,041,666         

8,203,000           4.72%
Mr. Sayem Sobhan 8,203,000           

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

As per the disclosure requirements laid down in schedule under the rule 12(2) of the Securi�es and Exchange 
Rules 1987, the followings are the part and parcel of share capital:
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16.01

17.00 REVALUATION RESERVE.
Opening Balance 2,112,514,322 2,141,302,617 
Add: Increase arising on revalua�on of proper�es - - 
Less: Transferred to retained earnings (19,788,072) (28,788,295) 
Closing Balance 2,092,726,250 2,112,514,322 

18.00 RETAINED EARNINGS

Opening balance 1,959,489,520 1,268,373,494 
Add:  Profit a�ributable to the owners of the Company 291,848,486 693,640,238 
         Transferred from proper�es revalua�on reserve 19,788,072 28,788,295 
Less: Adjustment for current tax of prior years (13,514,849) (31,312,506) 
         Final dividend for the year 2017-2018 (347,582,882) - 
Closing balance 1,910,028,348 1,959,489,520 

19.00 LONG TERM BORROWINGS
Bank loan: 10,032,907,443    4,767,534,930      
LTR (long term)-Janata Bank Ltd. 231,593,670          278,574,371          
Project Loan-Janata Bank Ltd. 606,111,135          727,433,067          
Term loan-Southeast Bank Ltd. 1,539,610,341      723,840,277          
Term Loan-Basic Bank Ltd. 408,624,109          518,715,792          
Term Loan-IFIC Bank Ltd. 853,968,851          -                           
Term loan-Mercan�le Bank Ltd. 2,345,930,635      1,509,991,578       
Term loan-Na�onal  Bank Ltd. 2,079,575,732      -                           
Term loan-Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 911,552,222          -                           
Term loan-Standard Bank Ltd. 1,055,940,748      1,008,979,845       

Finance Lease obligation: 144,198,620         300,587,208          
Islamic Finance & Investment Ltd. 43,089,327            53,245,697            
Phoenix Finance & Investment Ltd. -                          -                           
GSP Finance Company (BD) Ltd. 101,109,292          212,213,251          
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. -                          -                           
Social Islami Bank Ltd. -                          3,872,688               
United Commercial Bank Ltd. -                          31,255,572            
Total Long Term borrowings 10,177,106,063    5,068,122,138      
Less: Current por�on of long term borrowings (1,740,500,152)     (1,243,949,246)     
Due a�er one year 8,436,605,911      3,824,172,892      

19.01

19.02
2
0

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Not later than one year              33,570,288            169,591,146 
Later than one year but not later than five years           123,176,699            168,841,454 
Later than five years                               -                                 -   

          156,746,987            338,432,600 
Less: Future finance charge            (12,548,367)           (37,845,392)
Present value of minimum lease payments           144,198,620            300,587,208 

current borrowings           103,220,478            144,348,670 
non-current borrowings              40,978,141            156,238,538 
Total           144,198,620            300,587,208 

Included in the financial statements as:

Finance lease liabili�es:

Par�culars

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

In the year 2017-18 the Company issued 26,041,666 ordinary shares, from which 60% i.e. 15,625,000 ordinary shares for 
Eligible Investors (EIs) at cut-off price of Tk. 80.00 at a premium Tk. 70 and remaining 40% i.e 10,416,667 ordinary shares 
at a 10% discounted from the cut-off price of Tk. 72.00 per share at a premium Tk. 62 for General Public including NRB and 
Others totaling Tk. 2,000,000,000 (approx.)

The company has been forming working capital from its scheduled bank. Interest rates underlying all obliga�ons under 
these borrowings are fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
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BASIC Bank Limited

Limit amount Term loan: Tk. 54.22 crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      2.1160 acres of land at Bashundhara R/A.
Interest rate

Security      734.30 dec. of land at BRA and 1195.69dec. of land at Keranigonj.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Term loan

Southeast Bank Limited

Limit amount Tk. 148.54 crore
Purpose      To re�re import documents.
Security      78,848.27 s� of level 1-8 (78,848 s�.) of BCDL and 702.51 dec. of land 

at BRA.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Term loan
Validity          29.09.2023

Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Term loan
Validity          01.04.2022

The details of bank loan arrangement is enumerated below:

Ins�tu�on Par�culars

To establish and support the project.
Security      Project land at Sonargoan, Narayanganj and plant & machineries

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Mode of payment Monthly installment

Janta Bank Limited  

Limit amount Project: Tk. 117.71 Crore; Project Block: Tk. 5.81 crore; LTR & LTR 
Block : 45.34 Crore

Purpose      

Validity          

Security      33,177 s� of level 16th, 17th, 18th of BCDL.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Term Loan
Validity          31.10.2023

702.51 dec. of land at BRA and 78,848.27 s� of (8-11 office floor) in 
Bashundhara City Tower.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.

27.09.2022

Na�onal Bank Limited

Limit amount Term loan: Tk. 202.98 crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.

Purpose      To re�re import documents.

To meet working capital requirements.
Security      

Security      316.5 decimal of land at block-I, J & K of BRA & 14,431 s�. 9th floor of 
BCDL.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility

Validity          

IFIC Bank Limited

Limit amount Term loan: Tk. 81.27 crore
Purpose      

Type of Facility Term loan

Validity          28.02.2024

Type of Facility Project Loan
30.06.2022 

Mercan�le Bank Limited

Limit amount Term loan: Tk. 223.26 Crore
Purpose      Importa�on of raw materials and spare parts

Term loan
Validity          10.10.2023

Standard Bank Limited

Limit amount  Term Loan Tk. 99.76 Crore

Shahjalal Islami Bank Limited

Limit amount HPSM: Tk. 86 crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      710.75 dec. of land at Factory, 1153.53 dec. of land at Khilkhet and 

74.50 dec. of land at Vatara.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Term loan
Validity          16.12.2022
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19.04

:
:
:
:
:
:
:20.03.2023
:
:
:
:
:
:
:25.10.2020

20.00 DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) / LIABILITIES

Opening balance 957,392,014 1,355,892,166 
Provided during the year: 119,361,339 (398,500,152) 
Deferred tax income (75,485,710) (78,672,841) 

- (323,037,940) 

Deferred tax expense 194,847,049 3,210,629 
Adjustment made during the year - - 
Closing balance 1,076,753,353 957,392,014 

Property, Plant and equipment 10,627,228,338     (6,882,986,673) 3,744,241,665       
Difference for vehicle (5,339,942) (5,339,942)             
Intangible assets 166,798,327          (137,948,293) 28,850,034            
Pre-opera�ng expenses -                          (59,833,006) (59,833,006)           
Unused tax loss -                          (301,942,839) (301,942,839)         
Net taxable temporary difference 10,794,026,665     (7,388,050,753) 3,405,975,913 
Applicable tax rate 25%
Deferred tax liability-30 June 2019 851,493,978 
Less: Deferred tax liability-30 June 2018 732,132,639 
Deferred tax expense/ (income) for the year 119,361,339          

20.02 Deferred tax (assets)/ liabili�es in rela�on to:

Year  Closing balance 

-                          936,060,416          

Difference for vehicle 333,746               -                          (1,334,986)             
1,941,317            -                          7,212,509               

Pre-opera�ng expenses -                          (14,958,251)           
Unused tax loss -                          (75,485,710)           
Revalua�on -                        -                          225,259,375          
Total -                          1,076,753,353      

20.01

Finance Lease
Validity          

Tax base

GSP Finance Company (BD) Ltd.

Limit amount Tk. 25.15 crore
Purpose      Machinery
Security      Machinery �tle/ownership.

Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Mode of payment

Validity          

Deferred tax income resul�ng from
reduc�on in income tax rate

119,361,339        

Temporary �ming difference

-                       (75,485,710)         

Islamic Finance & Investment Limited  

Limit amount Tk. 5.13 crore
Purpose      Machinery and vehicle.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Mode of payment
Type of Facility

Opening balance
Recognized in profit 

& loss

 Recognized in Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

5,271,192           

Security      Machinery and Vehicle �tle/ownership.

Type of Facility Finance Lease
Monthly installment

Interest rate

Ins�tu�on Par�culars
The details of finance lease arrangement is enumerated below:

957,392,014      

Intangible assets

Accoun�ng base 
Carrying Amount

225,259,375      

Par�culars

30-Jun-19

744,275,706      191,784,709        

(15,745,527)       787,276                

Property, plant & 
equipment

Temporary 
Difference

(1,668,732)          

Monthly installment

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

Deferred tax assets and liabili�es have been recognized and measured in accordance with the provisions of IAS 12: 
Income Taxes. The following is the analysis of deferred tax (assets)/liabili�es presented in the statement of     
financial posi�on:
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Year  Closing balance 

(408,436,316)      -                          744,275,706          

Difference for vehicle 1,251,549            -                          (1,668,732)             

1,226,207            -                          5,271,192               

Pre-opera�ng expenses 7,458,408            -                          (15,745,527)           

Revalua�on -                        -                          225,259,375          
Total 957,392,014          

20.03 Difference for vehicle

21.00 INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE

East West Property Development (Pvt.) Ltd. 489,367,285 554,954,865 
Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd. 190,746,366          190,746,366 
Total 680,113,651         745,701,231 

22.00 LONG TERM  BORROWINGS-CURRENT PORTION

Bank loan 1,635,247,853 1,099,600,576 
Finance Lease obliga�on 105,252,299 144,348,670 
Total 1,740,500,152 1,243,949,246 

22.01

23.00 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
Bai Muazzal-Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. - 427,251,033 
Cash Credit - Agrani Bank Ltd. 275,198,252 316,151,994 
Cash Credit - Janata Bank Ltd. 565,751,893 571,343,810 
Cash Credit - Na�onal Bank Ltd. 1,266,815,103 1,243,214,486 
CC (Hypo.)-Bank Asia Ltd. 116,715,138 133,821,300 
Bai Muazzal Wes Bills-Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. - 312,495,634 
Bai Murabaha-First Security Islami Bank Ltd. 324,642,550 312,448,010 
OD-Mercan�le Bank Ltd. 90,995,481 107,496,279 
Force loan- Standard Bank Ltd. 136,458,557 - 
Time loan - United Commercial Bank Ltd. - 77,200,865 
Force loan - IFIC Bank Ltd. - 853,482,863 
LTR - Na�onal Bank Ltd. 136,860,365 13,671,859 
LTR - Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 70,318,682 208,187,908 
Force loan - Social Islami Bank Ltd. - 53,580,464 
Force loan - Southeast Bank Ltd. 8,728,173 386,810,344 
LATR -Southeast Bank Ltd. - 304,668,641 
Time - Mercan�le Bank Ltd. - 758,020,063 
Demand loan - Bank Asia Ltd. 149,916,822 53,616,125 
Demand loan - Agrani Bank Ltd. 801,650,996 - 
Force - Trust Bank Ltd. - 9,212,806 
UPAS -  Bank Asia Ltd. 247,991,316 - 
UPAS -  Na�onal Bank Ltd. 2,298,784,008 1,059,855,453 
UPAS - Southeast Bank Ltd. 29,905,677 370,926,864 
UPAS -  Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 191,337,313 262,533,138 
UPAS - Standard Bank Ltd. 40,741,602 326,381,167 
UPAS - Mercan�le Bank Ltd. 11,940,079 217,483,499 
UPAS - Trust Bank Ltd. - 113,541,844 
UPAS - Rupali Bank Ltd. 654,604,868 - 
UPAS - IFIC Bank Ltd. 664,874,102 482,575,410 
Total 8,084,230,977      8,975,971,861 

30-Jun-18

225,259,375      
1,355,892,166   (398,500,152)       

Intangible assets

-                           

(2,920,281)          

(23,203,935)       

Property, plant & 
equipment

1,152,712,023   

4,044,985           

 Recognized in Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 
Par�culars Opening balance Recognized in profit 

& loss

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

This represents the permanent difference related to sedan cars, not plying for hire, owned by Bashundhara Paper 
Mills Limited. As per the provisions of Income Tax Ordinance 1984, deprecia�on on such cars is allowed only up to 
certain limit of cost (currently Tk. 2,500,000 per car) of such cars for tax purpose. Difference for vehicle represents 
the amount of depreciated cost exceeding such limits.

This represents the amount will be payable in the next financial year was made in accordance with Para 60(b) of 
IAS-  "Presenta�on of Financial Statements".
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Short term credit facili�es available as at June 30, 2019:

:
:
:
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:
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:

:

:
:
:
:
:
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:

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Social Islami Bank Limited

Limit amount L/C: Tk. 350 Crore, Bai Muazzal: 115 Cr.
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      116.52 dec. of land at BRA. 
Interest rate

Security      78,848.27 s� of level 1-8 (78,848 s�.) of BCDL and 702.51 dec. of land 
at BRA.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility  LTR, BG & L/C
Validity          31.05.2020

Standard Bank Limited

Limit amount  Tk. 200 Crore
Purpose      To re�re import documents.

31.07.2020

Limit amount OD: Tk. 15 Crore; LTR: Tk. 18 crore; L/C: Tk. 60 crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      i) 719.08 dec. of land at BRA. Ii) Hypotheca�on of stock.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.

Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C & Force Loan
Validity          31.08.2019

Security      33,177 si� of level 16th, 17th, 18th of BCDL.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C
Validity          31.05.2020

Janata Bank Limited

Limit amount CC (Hypo): Tk. 56 crore; L/C: Tk. 22 Crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      Hypotheca�on of stock;  7.3775 acres of project land at Anarpura, 

Gazaria, Munshigonj, 846.66 dec. land at BRA and 1396.50 dec at 
factory; Stock under pledge godown.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility CC Hypo and L/C.
Validity          15.12.2019

Southeast Bank Limited

Limit amount LTR: Tk. 160 crore; L/C (Sight/UPAS/ Deferred) Tk.525Crore; BG: 50 
crore, FDBP: 50 Cr.

Purpose      To re�rement of shipping documents/ import of capital machinery. 

To meet working capital requirements.
Security      i)1195.69 decimal of land from BRP ii) Hypotheca�on of stock iii) 

734.30 decimal of land from BRA.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility CC (Hypo) LTR & L/C
Validity          28.02.2020

30.12.2019

Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd.

Limit amount LTR: Tk. 20 crore; Bank Guarantee: Tk. 5 crore; L/C: Tk. 50 crore.
Purpose      

Bank Asia Ltd.

Type of Facility CC (Hypo), LTR, Demand Loan & L/C
Validity          

To meet working capital requirements. Capital machinery purchase.

Security      710.75 dec. of project land at Anarpura, Gazaria, Munshigonj, 1153.53 
dec. of land at Khilkhet and 74.50 dec. of land at Vatara.

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Bai-Muazzal (TR); WES Bill  L/C, Bank Guarantee & LTR
Validity          

Name of Bank Par�culars

Agrani Bank Limited  

Limit amount CC: Tk. 30 Crore;  L/C: Tk. 70 crore
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      7.6220 acres of project land at Meghnaghat, Sonargoan, Narayanganj 

& Plant & Machineries.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility Cash Credit (CC) & L/C
Validity          31.03.2020

 Na�onal Bank Limited

Limit amount CC(Hypo): Tk. 120 crore; LTR: Tk. 50 Crore; L/C Tk. 450 crore
Purpose      

The Company enjoys both funded and non funded short term working capital facili�es with 13 banks. The non 
funded facili�es include Le�ers of Credit (L/C), Le�ers of Guarantee. The funded facili�es include overdra� facility, 
short term loan and import loan. The limit, purpose and security details of short term bank overdra� arrangement 
is enumerated below:
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:

:
:
:26.11.2019
:

:
:
:
:
:31.10.2019
:
:
:
:
:
:29.08.2020

24.00 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade Payable NOTE 24.01 1,416,588,233      667,238,986          
Other Payable NOTE 24.02 880,125,263          644,677,573          
Total 2,296,713,496      1,311,916,559      

24.01 Trade Payables
Unit - 1 810,016,982          214,028,988          
Unit - 2 176,179,816          76,624,036            
Unit - 3 430,391,435          376,585,963          
Total 1,416,588,233      667,238,986          

24.1.1

24.1.2

31.01.2020

First Security Islami Bank Limited

Mercan�le Bank Limited

Limit amount L/C Tk. 300 Crore; LTR: Tk. 120 crore; OD: Tk. 10 crore; BG: Tk. 1 
crore

Purpose      Importa�on of raw materials and spare parts.
Security      316.50 dec. of land at BRA & Level 9 (14,431s�.) of BCDL.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C, LTR, OD & BG
Validity          

Trust Bank Limited

Limit amount L/C Tk. 250 Crore
Purpose      Importa�on of raw materials and spare parts.
Security      1054.36 dec.of land at River view projects and 310.33 dec. of land at 

BRA.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C
Validity          

IFIC Bank Limited

Limit amount L/C: Tk. 200 Crore;  BG: Tk. 5 Crore 
Purpose      To meet working capital requirements.
Security      22,100 si� 11th & 19th floor of BCDL.
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C , Force Loan & BG
Validity          

L/C: Tk. 220 Crore.& OD 30 Crore

Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C
Validity          31.07.2020

Limit amount
Purpose      Importa�on of raw materials.

Par�culars

The carrying values of trade payables are considered to be a reasonable approxima�on of fair value.

Name of Bank

Rupali Bank Limited

Limit amount L/C Tk. 75 Cr.
Purpose      Importa�on of raw materials and spare parts.
Security      277.44 dec. of land at BRA
Interest rate Fixed at respec�ve contract dates.
Type of Facility L/C, LTR, OD & BG
Validity          

This represents amount payable to regular suppliers of raw materials, chemicals, packing materials, spare parts 
etc. All suppliers were paid on a regular basis. No interest is charged on the trade payables. The Company has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.
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24.02 Other Payable
East West Media Group Ltd. 35,721,783 - 
Payable for adver�sement 68,837,749 47,064,047 
Payable for C & F bill 26,071,299 25,757,215 
Payable for construc�ons expenses - 86,449 
Payable for consultancy 484,500 322,500 
Payable for director remunera�on 3,150,000 1,212,500 
Payable for expenses 55,492,114 70,412,209 
Payable for insurance premium 4,217,784 2,905,026 
Payable for motor vehicle 3,192,300 2,285,495 
Payable for office rent 2,883,450 2,383,450 
Payable for provident fund 2,624,782 2,854,604 
Payable for tax & VAT at source 18,428,571 21,655,988 
Payable for transporta�on 689,811 819,180 
Payable for workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund NOTE 33.00 82,332,767 57,204,064 
Payable to carrying contractor 36,018,363 58,270,184 
Payable to contractors 3,862,901 3,862,902 
Payable for Electric bill 1,913,464 949,156 
Payable for Gas bill 66,761,406 180,817,710 
Payable for Labor & wages 38,955,912 37,201,423 
Payable for Salary and allowances 126,530,266 106,403,428 
Dividend Account-Unclaimed Por�on 296,612,253 - 
Unclaimed Subscrip�on 343,787 17,085,042 
Security deposit payable 5,000,000 5,125,000 
Total 880,125,263 644,677,573 

22.2.1

22.2.2

22.2.3
22.2.4

25.00 PROVISION FOR EXPENSES

Audit fees 225,000 287,500 
Other expense 119,691,430 14,110,106 
Finance Lease charges 2,031,821 8,581,979 
Gas bill 3,895,822 - 
Total 125,844,073 22,979,585 

26.00 INCOME TAX PROVISION 
Opening balance 430,553,348 297,029,058 
Add: Current tax expense in respect of the current year 66,235,531 198,996,311 
Less: Adjustment made during the year NOTE 26.01 (231,557,038) (65,472,020) 
Closing balance 265,231,841 430,553,348 

26.01 Income tax adjustment of prior years

 AIT  
Income tax 
provision

2016-2017 231,557,038   245,071,887          231,557,038          

Total 231,557,038   245,071,887         231,557,038          

Income Tax as 
per Accounts

Income Tax as 
per Assessment

Adjustment made
(Over)/under provision 

adjusted with retained earnings

245,071,887   

245,071,887   

13,514,849                               

13,514,849                               

Income Year

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

All accrued expenses are paid on regular basis.

Liabili�es have arisen in the con�nuous process in course of business transac�ons and are either payable or 
adjustable within very shortly from date of the Financial Posi�on.

Salary and allowances for the month of June 2019 has been paid in subsequent month.

All the u�lity bills like gas, electricity and others for the month of June 2019 has been paid to the subsequent 
month.
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26.02 Provision for Current Tax of the Company are as under:

Accoun�ng                                   
year

Assessment                                                   
year

 Tax Demand/ 
(Refundable) 

2018-2019 2019-2020            265,231,841 

2017-2018 2018-2019                      30,814            430,553,348 

2016-2017 2017-2018           127,499,295            297,029,058 

2015-2016 2016-2017                               -                65,472,020 

27.00 REVENUE

Par�culars

Gross Sales 11,055,188,942    10,935,175,223    

VAT (435,504,614) (486,520,332) 

SD (13,578,382) (9,693,383) 

Sales Local 10,606,105,946    10,438,961,508    

Sales Export 433,020,634 382,134,573          

Total 11,039,126,581    10,821,096,081    

27.01 Segment revenues:

UNIT-3 Total

Paper product 1,539,931,854      6,187,580,623       
Tissue product 3,670,865,399      4,266,198,188       
Mosquito Coil 4,821,023              4,821,023               
Paper Sack  product -                          91,210,636            
Hygiene product 505,378,473          505,378,473          
Local Sales 5,720,996,749      11,055,188,942    
Export Sales 239,592,023          433,020,634          

   5,960,588,772  11,488,209,577 

27.02 30-Jun-18

Paper product 218,769,291          260,041,069          

Hygiene product -                        455,598                  -                           

Tissue paper product 213,795,745          122,093,504          

       433,020,634        382,134,573 

595,332,789      

Assessment Completed

 83(2)/156/159 Assessment Completed

 Cumula�ve 
provision for current 

tax 

Assessment 
Under Sec�on of 

ITO 1984

          905,781,380 
                             -   

Status

-                       

 83(2)/156/159 

91,210,636         

Current Year

          905,781,380 

        5,124,505 

                             -   
                             -   

-                       

In BDT

4,170,681             
      909,952,061 

30-Jun-18

189,257,930      

Total

Total

UNIT-2

In USD ($)

3,741,867,389   

4,428,410,813   

          4,565,527 

                             -   

30-Jun-19

Products

2,588,986           

2,530,127           

Revenue from export

   4,617,668,743 

30-Jun-19

3,106,823             

1,458,704             

UNIT-1

 83(2) Assessment is Underway

5,392                   

Revenue, amounts on behalf of third par�es such as Value Added Tax (VAT) and Supplementary Duty (SD) if any 
are excluded from revenue. The following is an analysis of the Company's revenue from opera�ons of its major 
products and services:

The following is an analysis of the Company's revenue including export sales from opera�ons of its major 
products and services by reportable segment for the year ended June 30, 2019 excluding VAT:

Proceeds from export sales are recognized in net off balance received through bank. Export Gain/ Loss on foreign 
currency transac�ons are considered on realized basis.
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28.00 COST OF SALES

Opening stock of finished goods 1,012,008,949 1,079,434,795 
Add: Cost of goods manufactured NOTE 28.01 9,332,492,347 8,833,093,653 

     Cost of goods available for sale 10,344,501,295 9,912,528,449 
Less: Closing stock of finished goods (1,404,133,797) (1,012,008,949) 
Cost of Sales 8,940,367,498 8,900,519,500 

28.01 Cost of goods manufactured
Material Consump�on 7,105,401,897 6,248,078,600 
      Opening stock 2,623,923,219 2,237,011,068 
      Add: Purchase during the year 7,230,994,450 6,634,990,751 
      Less: Closing stock (2,749,515,772) (2,623,923,219) 
Factory overhead 2,701,840,983 2,631,647,956 
     Salary and allowances 619,666,022 487,535,792 
     Gas bill 494,281,322 681,380,571 
     Electricity bill 21,301,250 24,530,251 
     Labour and wages 408,981,333 395,934,070 
     Repair and maintenance 159,761,187 157,966,331 
     Other direct expenses NOTE 28.02 118,165,859 108,968,944 
     Deprecia�on Annex.-A 879,684,007 775,331,998 
Add: Opening work in process 775,023,910 728,391,007 
Less: Closing work in process (1,249,774,443)     (775,023,910) 
Total 9,332,492,347      8,833,093,653 

28.02 Other direct expenses 

Carriage inwards 3,684,051 12,638,574 
Conveyance 1,585,938 15,377,579 
Entertainment 2,293,303 4,554,674 
License, renewal and registra�on 944,214 518,137 
Office expense 4,660,068 6,367,504 
Office repair & maintenance 243,660 254,975 
Oil, fuel, CNG  & lubricant 88,746,487 44,542,558 
Company's contribu�on to PF 9,593,082 10,230,381 
Insurance premium - 6,303,504 
Inspec�on & consultancy 900,000 - 
Postage, telephone and fax 2,194,736 1,788,527 
Rent, rates & taxes 2,451,499 3,286,188 
Sta�onery 68,122 99,342 
Packing & Product development - 2,197,444 
U�lity bill 800,699 809,557 
Total 118,165,859 108,968,944 

28.03 Analysis of materials consumed

Waste Paper & Pulp MT 88,057                  4,787,586,714       
Chemicals MT 5,673                    579,378,509          483,042,850          
PP Resin MT 3,337                    -                          414,202,490          
Kra� Paper MT 899                       -                          73,241,788            
Packing materials Various -                        621,050,831          490,004,758          

4,156                   

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Value

82,696                 5,904,972,556           

    6,248,078,600 

-                       

Unit

-                       

Category
30-Jun-18

              86,851                 97,965 

-                       

30-Jun-19
Quan�ty

    7,105,401,897 Total

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka
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28.04

Unit

MT

MT

Unit

MT

MT

MT

MT

**Packing materials quantities are not given due to its units are different like Pkt, Pcs, MT, Kgs etc.

28.05

Unit

MT 19,475                                       18,702 4,247                      
MT 1,226                                           1,241 11                            
MT 3,310                                           3,253 844                          
MT 6,365                                           6,702 553                          
MT 9,453                                           9,345 162                          
MT 1,918                                           1,889 112                          
MT 198                                                    62 -                           
MT 368                                                 556 58                            
MT 1                                                         12 27                            

-        244                                                 279 32                            
-        8                                                           8 -                           

Sludge Board MT -           42                                                      42 -                           
MT 41                                                      41 32                            
MT 17,746                                       17,684 1,290.00                 
Pcs. 3,293,275                           3,268,275 75,000                    
Pcs. -                                                      -   -                           
Pkt. 487,976                                 666,798 631,135                  

-       351,376                                 293,671 58,473                    
Pkt. 843,323                                 737,263 246,387                  
Pcs. 727,105                                 896,678 196,502                  
Pkt. 4,431,177                           4,334,301 318,491                  

Cont. 428,842                                 398,623 67,352                    
Pkt. 318,488                                 307,113 16,559                    
Box 19,528                                       27,504 10,502                    

                     82,696 Waste Paper & Pulp 37,424                     

Purchase

Quan�ta�ve details of raw materials

Chemicals 4,156                       

30-Jun-19

4,048                       

27,796                  

Duplex Board 

Closing StockDescrip�on

30-Jun-19

Descrip�on

Kra� Paper

Consump�on Closing Stock

Consump�on Closing Stock

4,857                     

26                         Bidi paper 

3,347                    

92,324                  

Quan�ta�ve details of finished goods

White Liner Paper 

Sales

Purchase

Newsprint 

899                          

38                         

50,000                 

BBS

26,850                     

53                         
83                         

-                       

2,359                     

Paper Sack 

809,957              

979                       

Liner Paper 

768                      

Baby Diapant

Wet Tissue
Baby wet wipes

221,615              
37,133                 

5,184                   

3,337                       -                            

5,527                     3,445                    

Waste Paper & Pulp

Chemicals

PP Resin

992                           

88,057                     

Carbon less coa�ng paper 

3,299                       

-                       PP Woven Bag 

Tissue product

66                         

30-Jun-18

Opening Stock

Packaging Paper
-                       Simplex Paper

381                       

1,228                   

Baby Diaper 

246                      

32                         

Opening Stock

Coated paper 

Descrip�on

366,075              

18,478                 

White wri�ng & prin�ng 

Hand Gloves

1,510                     

3,474                   

92,981                  

Glassine paper/Color/Ledger

Opening Stock Produc�on

786                      
891                      

Monalisa Sanitary Napkin 
Tooth pick, co�on buds, straw 

5,673                       

21,926                  

140,327              
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30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

Unit

MT 24,693                                       27,218 3,474                      
MT 1,096                                           1,071 26                            
MT 3,109                                           3,320 786                          
MT 8,674                                           8,305 891                          
MT 8,341                                           8,729 53                            
MT 1,409                                           1,501 83                            
MT 103                                                 103 -                           
MT -                                                       5 246                          
MT 74                                                      60 38                            

-        1,058                                           1,071 66                            
-        24                                                      37 -                           

Sludge Board MT -           50                                                      50 -                           
MT 9                                                         29 32                            
MT 17,182                                       17,428 1,228                      
Pcs. 5,108,727                           5,253,780 50,000                    
Pcs. 23,267,688                       23,555,525 -                           
Pkt. 1,977,694                           1,460,501 809,957                  

-       100,707                                 108,075 768                          
Pkt. 322,979                                 747,277 140,327                  
Pcs. 1,146,785                           1,232,588 366,075                  
Pkt. 1,782,590                           1,560,975 221,615                  

Cont. 109,169                                    72,036 37,133                    
Pkt. 394,495                                 507,668 5,184                      
Box 4,155                                         24,103 18,478                    

29.00 OTHER INCOME
Scrap sales & other recoveries 128,575 27,780 
Cash Incen�ve 53,132,985 55,263,240 
Interest income 76,375,672 2,996,029 
Total 129,637,231 58,287,049 

30.00 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Audit fees 523,250 287,500 
Credit Ra�ngs Fees 321,000 - 
Amor�sa�on of intangible assets Annex.-B 7,615,726 7,615,726 
Salaries and allowances 185,368,324 145,027,904 
Director remunera�on NOTE 30.02 28,500,000 27,000,000 
Entertainment 4,550,272 3,223,962 
Insurance premium 23,451,202 11,856,895 
Advisory, legal and consultancy 464,600 483,200 
License, renewal and registra�on 6,434,615 6,342,335 
Rent and rates 10,800,000 14,056,985 
Office repair and maintenance 12,893,675 9,846,743 
IT & computer expense 376,161 687,983 
IPO Expense 6,400,000 55,845,006 
Annual General Mee�ng expense NOTE 30.03 2,890,070 - 
Incidental loss of assets - 33,521 
Postage, telegram and fax 1,399,087 2,419,699 
Company's contribu�on to PF 7,681,972 6,895,850 
Corporate and Social Responsibility Expense 13,929,696 - 
Sta�onery 443,948 1,105,391 
Telecommunica�on expense 8,992,551 7,526,165 
Travelling and Conveyance 3,079,847 4,289,296 
U�li�es 7,299,278 8,516,526 
Vehicle running and maintenance 4,863,823 5,773,876 
Vehicle oil, fuel & lubricant 7,380,810 5,848,356 
Vehicle rent 907,880 1,629,429 
Deprecia�on Annex.-A 46,299,158 40,806,947 
Total 392,866,946 367,119,296 

Bidi paper 1                           
BBS 997                      
Coated paper 522                      
Newsprint 441                      
Carbon less coa�ng paper 175                      
Glassine paper/Color/Ledger -                       

195,053              
PP Woven Bag 287,837              
Monalisa Sanitary Napkin 292,764              
Tooth pick, co�on buds, straw 8,136                   

Baby Diaper 
564,625              
451,878              

Descrip�on Opening Stock Produc�on Sales Closing Stock
30-Jun-18

White wri�ng & prin�ng 5,999                   

79                         

Liner Paper 250                      

Baby wet wipes -                       
Wet Tissue 118,357              
Hand Gloves 38,426                 

13                         

Duplex Board 52                         
Tissue product 1,473                   
Paper Sack 

Baby Diapant -                       

Simplex Paper

White Liner Paper 23                         
Packaging Paper
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30.01 Payment/Perquisites to Directors and Officers

Par�culars 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Directors Remunera�on -                          -                           
Managing Director Remunera�on 19,950,000            18,900,000            
Board Mee�ng fee -                          -                           

         19,950,000          18,900,000 

30.01.1 Director Remunera�on for the year

Income Tax 
Deducted

Net Paid

Mr. Ahmed Akbar Sobhan -                          -                             -                             
Mr. Md. Imrul Hassan -                        -                          -                           
Mr. Md. Nazmul Alam Bhuiyan -                        -                          -                           
Mr. Zeaur Rahman -                        -                          -                           
Mr. Khawaja Ahmedur Rahman -                        -                          -                           
Mr. Safwan Sobhan 28,500,000          8,550,000              19,950,000            

28,500,000         8,550,000              19,950,000            

30.01.2 No money was given to any directors for rendering special services to the Company.

30.02 Annual General Mee�ng expense 2018-2019 2017-2018

Annual report prin�ng expense 1,268,750              -                           
Event management expense 1,101,600              -                           
Vanue rent 239,500                  -                           
IT So�ware Services 280,220                  -                           
Total 2,890,070              

31.00 SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
Salaries and allowances 159,263,011          136,912,408          
Adver�sement 14,662,174            23,793,771            
Carriage outwards 34,905,390            39,165,711            
Company's contribu�on to PF 114,600                  92,400                    
Foreign Exchange gain/ loss 3,461,462              3,223,084               
Commission on sales 16,574,696            16,452,794            
Conveyance 49,383                    1,511,022               
Total 229,030,716         221,151,189          

32.00 FINANCE COSTS
Interest on bank overdra�s and loans 1,063,089,605      822,588,875          
Bank charges and commission 12,181,862            6,931,780               
Interest on obliga�ons under  finance lease 28,653,126            40,928,915            
Total financial expense 1,103,924,593      870,449,569          
Less: Amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets -                          -                           
Total 1,103,924,593      870,449,569          

33.00 WORKERS' PROFIT PARTICIPATION & WELFARE FUND

Opening Balance 57,204,064            49,024,630            
Add:  Addi�on during the year NOTE 33.01 25,128,703            26,007,179            
Less: Paid during the year -                          (17,839,928)           
         Adjusted made during the year -                          12,183                    
Closing balance 82,332,767            57,204,064            

Amount in Taka

Gross 
Remunera�on

Total

Name

Chairman

Independent Director
Managing  Director

Nominated Director
Director

Total

Independent Director

Posi�on held

The aggregate amount paid/provided during the period in respect of Directors and Officers of the Company is as 
follows:
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33.01 Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund for the year:
Profit before Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund 502,574,059 520,143,575 
Rate  5% 5%
Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund  for the year 25,128,703 26,007,179 

34.00 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

a. Current tax expense: 66,235,531 198,996,311 
Current tax expense in respect of the current year 66,235,531 198,996,311 

- - 

b. Deferred tax expense/ (income): 119,361,339 (398,500,152)        
Deferred tax expenses recognized in the current year 119,361,339 (75,462,212) 

- (323,037,940) 
c. Total income tax expense recognized in the current year (a+b) 185,596,870 (199,503,842)        

34.01 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accoun�ng profit as follows:

Accoun�ng profit for the year           477,445,356            494,136,396 
Less: Share of profit of equity                               -                                 -   

          477,445,356            494,136,396 
Tax on accoun�ng profits @ 25% ( 2017-18 @ 25%)           119,361,339            123,534,099 

Effect of income that is exempt from taxa�on                                 -                                   -   
Effect of expenses that are not deduc�ble in determining taxable profit                                 -                                   -   
Effect of concessions (research and development and other allowances)                                 -   
Impairment losses on goodwill that are not deduc�ble                                 -                                   -   
Effect of minimum tax              66,235,531                                 -   
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognized as deferred tax assets                                 -                                   -   

                                -                                   -   

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries opera�ng in other jurisdic�ons                                 -                                   -   
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in income tax rate                                 -            (323,037,940)
Effect of unused tax credits                               -                                 -   

          185,596,870          (199,503,841)

-                             - 

       185,596,869      (199,503,842)

35.00 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Profit a�ributable to the Ordinary Shareholders 291,848,486 693,640,238 
Weighted Average Number of shares 173,791,441 173,791,441 

1.68 3.99 

-                          4.63 

-                          2.47 

Basic Earnings Per Share-reported considering one of income for changes 
in tax rate
Basic Earnings Per Share-reported without considering one of income for 
changes in tax rate

Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss

Adjustments to deferred tax a�ributable to changes in tax 
rates and laws

Adjustments recognized in the current year in rela�on to the 
current tax of prior year's

Adjustments recognized in the current year in rela�on to the current tax of 
prior years

Effect of previously unrecognized and unused tax losses and deduc�ble 
temporary differences now recognized as deferred tax assets

Basic Earnings Per Share 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

As per provision of Workers’ Profit Par�cipa�on Fund (WPPF) of Labor Act 2006 that has Amendment 2013 was 
passed on Monday, July 22, 2013, the company has been maintaining provision of WPPF & WF. Subsequently 
Workers Par�cipa�on Commi�ee (WPC) was formed . However the company expects to distribute the fund as per 
Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund policy.

In compliance with the requirements of para-81 (c) of IAS-12: (Income tax), the reconcilia�on of tax expense and 
product of accoun�ng profit are given below:

In compliance with the requirements of Para 79 of IAS-12: Income Tax, the major components of tax expenses are 
given below:
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35.01 Diluted Earnings Per Share

Profit a�ributable to the Ordinary Shareholders 291,848,486 693,640,238 
Total Number of shares 173,791,441 173,791,441 

1.68 3.99 

- 3.99 

- 2.13 

35.02 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

35.03 Total Number of Ordinary Share outstanding

Opening number of shares outstanding 173,791,441 147,749,775 
Add: Ordinary shares issued during the year - 26,041,666 
Total 173,791,441 173,791,441 

35.04

35.05

36.00 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

                                -   - 

37.00 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 

Con�ngent Liabili�es and assets as on the date of Statement of Financial Posi�on were as under:

       3,229,335,761        3,700,671,494 
             20,752,670              20,752,670 
          127,499,295              43,776,470 

          225,737,528            178,568,928 

                              -                                 -   
Total        3,603,325,253        3,943,769,562 

       3,603,325,253        3,943,769,562 

Diluted Earnings Per Share -reported considering one of income for 
changes in tax rate
Diluted Earnings Per Share -reported without considering one of income 
for changes in tax rate

VAT claimed which is under jurisdic�on of Hon'ble Supreme Court.

Guarantees issued by the Company's scheduled bank to third par�es on
counter indemni�es given by the Company.

None, except for le�er of credit for importa�on of plant & machinery as
shown under con�ngent liabili�es.

Le�er of credit for importa�on of raw materials.

Claim  of income tax against the company.

Claims against the Company acknowledge as debts.

Capital commitment and Con�ngent liabili�es 

Diluted Earnings Per Share 

2018-2019 2017-2018
Amount in Taka

No diluted EPS was required to be calculated for the year since there was no scope for dilu�on of share during 
the year under review.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year is the number of ordinary shares 
outstanding at the beginning of the year, adjusted by the number of ordinary shares issued during the year          
mul�plied by a �me weigh�ng factor. The �me-weigh�ng factor is the number of days that the shares are 
outstanding as a propor�on of the total number of days in the year.

The calcula�on of the basic earnings per share is made in accordance with IAS 33: Earnings Per Share, dividing the 
profit for the year by weighted average number of the shares issued.

Basic Earnings represents earnings for the year a�ributable to the ordinary shareholders. As there was no prefer-
ence dividend, minority interest or extra ordinary items, the net profit a�er tax for the year has been considered 
as fully a�ributable to the ordinary shareholders.
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37.01 L/C ( Sight/UPAS/Deferred) Liabili�es

Agrani Bank Ltd.                               -              171,610,440 
Al-Arafa Islami Bank Ltd.           315,610,000                               -   
First Security Islami Bank Ltd.           283,450,000            247,640,000 
Bank Asia Ltd.           119,768,900                               -   
IFIC Bank Ltd.           348,850,000            282,400,000 
Social Islami Bank Ltd.                9,500,000                9,500,000 
Mercan�le Bank Ltd.              14,230,000            185,078,054 
Na�onal Bank Ltd.        1,736,652,090        1,836,618,131 
Trust Bank Ltd.              43,720,000              51,990,000 
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd.           208,882,580            193,961,766 
South East Bank Ltd.              20,350,171            225,746,363 
Standard Bank Ltd           128,322,020            496,126,740 
Total        3,229,335,761        3,700,671,494 

37.02 Bank Guarantee

Social Islami Bank Ltd. 40,357,530 26,748,930 
Mercan�le Bank Ltd. 600,000 600,000 
Southeast Bank Ltd. 165,837,678 132,277,678 
Standard Bank Ltd. - - 
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 18,942,320 18,942,323 
Total 225,737,526 178,568,930 

37.03

38.00 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

38.01 Cash receipts from customers and others:

Opening trade and other receivables except Incen�ve receivables 2,467,975,294 1,924,123,929 
Add: Sales during the year 11,488,209,577 11,317,309,796    
Closing trade and other receivables except receivable against machinery (3,192,707,887) (2,466,568,463)     
Total 10,763,476,984 10,774,865,262    

38.02 Cash payment to suppliers, employees and others:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

There are con�ngent liabili�es in respect of certain tax claims made against the Company. However, these are 
being vigorously defended by the Company and the Board of Directors do not consider it is appropriate to make 
provision in respect of any of these claims.

The statement cash flows shows the company’s cash and cash equivalents changed during the year through 
inflows and ou�lows. The statement of cash flows has been prepared as per IAS -7 using the Direct Method.

Net cash inflow from opera�ng ac�vi�es arrived a�er adjus�ng opera�ng expenses, interest and taxes paid 
during the year.

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es includes cash ou�low for purchase of property, plant and equipment a�er 
adjus�ng sale proceeds.

Net cash inflow from financing ac�vi�es mainly resulted from repayment of long term loan as well as received 
from short term loan.

Gross cash received from customers arrived at a�er adjus�ng accounts receivables with revenue for the year. The 
make-up of :

Cash paid to suppliers arrived at a�er adjus�ng cost of raw materials and consump�on cost of spares parts 
consumed with creditors for trade supplies, non-cash items and creditors for revenue expenses. Employee remu-
nera�on includes all types of benefits paid and provided both in cash and kind other than the re-imbursement of 
expenses incurred for the Company’s business. The make-up of :
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Purchase of raw materials 7,230,994,450      6,634,990,751 
Administra�ve expense 392,866,946          367,119,296 
Workers' profit par�cipa�on & welfare fund 25,128,703            26,007,179 
Selling & distribu�on expense 229,030,716          221,151,189 
Factory overhead 2,701,840,983      2,631,647,956 
Increase/ (decrease) in material in transit (73,009,199)           116,600,486 
Increase/ (decrease) in Stores and spare parts (70,114,876)           129,846,662 
(Increase)/ decrease in trade payables and other payable (687,277,878)        (184,437,647) 
(Increase)/ decrease  in provision for expense (109,414,646)        14,435,421 
Increase/ (decrease) in advance, deposit & prepayments (107,458,891)        140,009,696 
Adjustment for non-cash item:
Incidental loss of assets -                          (33,521) 
Amor�za�on of intangible assets (7,615,726)             (7,615,726) 
Deprecia�on expense (925,983,166)        (816,138,946) 
Total 8,598,987,415      9,273,582,796      

39.00 SEGMENT REPORTING  

2018-2019 2017-2018

Revenue, net of VAT 11,039,126,581    10,821,096,081    

Cost of sales 8,940,367,498      8,900,519,500       

Gross Profit 2,098,759,083      1,920,576,581      

Assets and Liabilities

Segment Assets excludes Cash & Cash Equivalents 28,849,590,962    23,542,683,789    

Segment Liabili�es excludes tax liabili�es 22,440,761,612    17,082,083,388    

40.00 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Par�culars

2018-2019 2017-2018
Amount in Taka

BPML essen�ally provides similar products and services to customers across the country and its products and 
services essen�ally have similar risk profile. BPML's business is not organized in product or geographical compo-
nents and its opera�ng result is reviewed as a whole by its management. Hence, segment informa�on is not 
relevant. However, based on the business segment, segment result for the year ended June 30, 2019 and segment 
assets and liabili�es as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Board of Directors. 
Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such informa�on is the most 
relevant in evalua�ng the results is as follows:

Balances and transac�ons between the Company and its sister concern, and shareholders, which are related 
par�es of the company, have been eliminated are not disclosed in this note. Details of transac�ons between the 
Company and other related par�es are disclosed below:
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40.01 Loans to/from related par�es:

(489,367,285) Market Price

East West Media Group Ltd. 139,422,265             Market Price
Bashundhara Steel and Engineering Ltd. 58,490,293               Market Price
Bashundhara Mul�-paper Industries Ltd. (108,009,373)            Market Price
Bashundhara Infrastructure Development Ltd. 3,281,222                 Market Price
Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd. (118,506,492)            Market Price
Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd. 265,000,000             Market Price
Bashundhara Cement Industries Ltd. 12,318,436               Market Price
Sundarban Industrial Complex Ltd. 4,340,289                 Market Price
Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd. 18,965,831               Market Price

800,000                     Market Price
1,371,500                 Market Price

Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd. (190,746,366)            Market Price
Bashundhara Airways Ltd. 155,665,588             Market Price
Bashundhara Amusement Park Ltd. 18,628,585               Market Price
Meghna Cement Mills Limited 54,363,621               Market Price
Bashundhara Industrial economic Zone 73,849,300               Market Price
Bashundhara Chemical Industries Ltd. (12,480,000)              Market Price
Toggi Services Ltd. 52,300,000               Market Price
Toggi Real Estate & Construc�on Ltd. 1,250,000                 Market Price

       (59,062,587)

The movement during the year under review is enumerated below:

(489,367,285) (554,954,864)            

East West Media Group  Ltd. 139,422,265             138,334,392             

Bashundhara Steel and Engineering Ltd. 58,490,293               59,190,293               

Bashundhara Mul�-paper Industries Ltd. (108,009,373)            (251,048,649)            

Bashundhara Infrastructure Development Ltd. 3,281,222                 3,281,222                  

Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd. (118,506,492)            (84,106,492)              

Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd. 265,000,000             265,000,000             

Bashundhara Cement Industries Ltd. 12,318,436               20,118,436               

Sundarban Industrial Complex Ltd. 4,340,289                 11,890,731               

Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd. 18,965,831               63,265,831               

Bashundhara Fine Paper Mills Ltd. -                          800,000                     800,000                     

-                          1,371,500                 1,371,500                  

Bashundhara Airways Ltd. 155,665,589             155,965,589             

Bashundhara Amusement Park Ltd. 18,628,585               18,703,585               

Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd. (190,746,366)            (190,746,366)            

Meghna Cement Mills Limited 54,363,621               54,218,621               

Bashundhara Industrial economic Zone 73,849,300               3,849,300                  

Bashundhara Chemical Industries Ltd. (12,480,000)              -                             

Toggi Services Ltd. 52,300,000               -                             

Toggi Real Estate & Construc�on Ltd. 1,250,000                 -                             

       (59,062,586)      (284,866,873)
1,250,000              -                           

-                          70,000,000              

-                          

2,900,000              

-                           

30-Jun-19

Sister Concern

5,549,558              

Short term Loan

Rela�onship

Adjusted

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

 Shareholder & 
Sister Concern 

 Long  term Loan 

Sister Concern Short term Loan
Sister Concern Short term Loan
Sister Concern Short term Loan

Compensa�on

2,600,000                

Sister Concern Short term Loan

2,520,000              15,000,000              

54,900,000            

Sister Concern

Name of related Companies

7,800,000                

-                          

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

Short term Loan

700,000                   

Short term Loan

Transac�on during the year

Sister Concern Short term Loan
Short term Loan

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

East West Property Development (Pvt.) 
Ltd.

Bashundhara Fine Paper Mills Ltd.

Short term Loan

East West Property Development (Pvt.) 
Ltd.

288,000,055          

309,597,579          

1,087,873              

244,010,000 

Investment

Bashundhara Pulp & Board Mills Ltd.

30-Jun-19

-                           

Sister Concern
Sister Concern

44,700,000              

Short term Loan

-                          

Short term Loan

Sister Concern

13,100,000              

-                          

Sister Concern

Total

Provided

Sister Concern

-                          

-                          

-                           

-                          

400,000                 

3,200,000                

-                          

-                          34,400,000              

75,000                     

Bashundhara Pulp & Board Mills Ltd.

-                           

145,000                   

Total     666,205,066          580,690,779 

Short term Loan

Short term Loan

Name of related Companies

Sister Concern

144,960,779           

-                          

30-Jun-18

Short term Loan

Short term Loan

Short term Loan

Nature of 
transac�on

Short term Loan
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40.02 Trading transac�ons:

18,052,887 3,323,941                  

Bashundhara Airways Ltd. (353,906)                   (790,913)                    

Bashundhara Amusement park Ltd. 4,425,596                 2,708,821                  

1,265,024                 (372,001)                    

471,780                     113,696                     

-                             33,000                       

68,100                       -                             

(42,803,673)              244,619,839             

3,000                         3,000                         

(10,461,849)              (100,638,215)            

Sundarban Industrial Complex Ltd. 876,132                     148,804                     

8,952,788                 3,545,640                  

Bashundhara Cement Industries Ltd. 417,062                     188,160                     

Interna�onal Conven�on City Bashundhara (1,849,798)                (1,117,098)                

Bashundhara Food & Beverage Industries Ltd. 7,006,113                 (4,823,386)                

Bashundhara Infrastructure Development Ltd. 359,632                     147,008                     

Toggi Services Ltd. (7,081,890)                -                             

714,314,249             132,799,355             

164,704                     -                             

Toggi Services Ltd. 671,235                     -                             

Bashundhara Technologies Ltd. 14,000                       -                             

       694,511,184        279,889,651 

40.03 Compensa�on of key management personnel during the year as follows:

28,500,000 27,000,000 
Post-employment benefits - - 
Other long term benefits - - 
Termina�on benefits - - 

28,500,000 27,000,000 

40.04

40.05

40.06

40.07

41.00 EMPLOYEES

Number of employees whose salary below Tk 3,000 per month - - 
Number of employees whose salary above Tk 3,000 per month 4,040 3,477 
Total 4,040                      3,477 

Sister Concern  Do 

Sister Concern

Sister Concern  Do 

Sister Concern

 Do Bashundhara Pulp & Board Mills Ltd.

Sister Concern

 Do 

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

 Do 

 Do 

Sister Concern  Do 

Bashundhara Logis�cs Ltd.

 Do 

 Trade payable/ 
receivable 

Rela�onship

Sister Concern

 Do 

Sister Concern

Name of related Companies

Meghna Cement Mills Ltd.

 Do 

Total

 Do 

East West Media Group  Ltd.

 Do 

Sister Concern

Bashundhara LP Gas Ltd.

Sister Concern

 Do 

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

Bashundhara Industrial Complex Ltd.

Short-term benefits

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

 Shareholder/ Sister 
Concern 

 Do 

East West Property Development Ltd.

Nature of 
transac�on

Sister Concern  Do 

Bashundhara Oil & Gas Company Ltd.

Bashundhara Steel and Engineering Ltd.

Bashundhara Mul�-paper Industries Ltd.

Sister Concern

Sister Concern

 Do 

 Do 

 Do 

 Do 

Sister Concern  Do 

Bashundhara Mul� Food  Industries Ltd. Sister Concern

During the period, the Company carried out a number of transac�ons with related par�es in the normal course of 
business and on an arms' length basis. The name of related par�es, nature of these transac�ons and their outstanding 
amount have been set out in accordance with the provisions of IAS 24 : Related Party Disclosure.

Transac�ons with related par�es were carried out on commercial terms and condi�ons and at prices agreed based on 
intercompany prices.
Sales of goods to related par�es were made at the Company's usual list price. Purchases were made at market price 
discounted to reflect the quan�ty of goods purchased and the rela�onships between the par�es.
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be se�led in cash without any appalling experience. No guarantees 
have been given or received. No expense has been recognized in the current or prior periods for bad or doub�ul debts 
in respect of the amounts owed by the Company and its related par�es.
The remunera�on of Directors is determined by the BOD having regard to the performance of the individuals and 
market trends.
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42.00 CAPACITY & UTILIZATION
Machine produc�on capacity and its u�liza�on as on June 30, 2019 is as follows:

73,179                    55%
16,779                    49%

21,283,121            84%
3,259,275              5%

487,976                  5%
7,131,436              13%

Baby Diapant 81,648,000          49,194,444            60%
Sludge Board 1,667                    814                          49%
Wet Wipes 3,369,600            428,842                  13%
Wet Tissue 6,739,200            318,488                  5%

1,448,200              6%

43.00 NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) PER SHARE

Total Assets 30,186,245,753    25,062,138,280 
Less: Intangible Assets (166,798,327) (174,414,054) 
          Total Liabili�es (22,705,993,454)   (17,512,636,737) 
Net Asset Value (NAV) 7,313,453,972 7,375,087,490 

173,791,441 173,791,441 
Net Asset Value (NAV) Per Share 42.08 42.44
Net Asset Value (NAV) Per Share-reported - 49.18

44.00 NET OPERATING CASH FLOW PER SHARE (NOCFPS)

Net Opera�ng Cash Flows 1,749,795,824 884,204,968 
Weighted Average Number of Ordinary shares outstanding 173,791,441 173,791,441 
Net Opera�ng Cash Flows per share 10.07 5.09 
Net Opera�ng Cash Flows per share-reported - 5.90 

45.00 RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING CASH FLOW

Profit for the year 291,848,486 693,640,238 
Adjustment for:
Incidental loss of assets - 33,521 
Income tax expense recognized in profit and loss 185,596,870 (199,503,842) 
Finance cost recognized in profit and loss 1,091,742,731 863,517,790 
Amor�za�on on intangible assets 7,615,726 7,615,726 
Deprecia�on of non-current assets 925,983,166 816,138,946 

2,502,786,979 2,181,442,379 
Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (849,343,859) (612,566,355) 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (736,966,777) (564,888,124) 
(Increase)/decrease in advance, deposit and prepayment 107,458,891 (140,009,696) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables &  other payables 687,277,878 184,437,647 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for expense 109,414,646 (14,435,421) 
Cash generated from opera�ons (682,159,221) (1,147,461,949) 
Income taxes paid (70,831,934) (149,775,463)         
Net cash (used in)/ generated by opera�ng ac�vi�es 1,749,795,824 884,204,967          

46.00 DIRECTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY ON STATEMEMT

47.00 DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS WITH THE COMPANY

25,200,000          

Measure Unit Annual Capacity

PCS
PCS

10,333,440          

Paper Sec�on-Prin�ng Machine
PPWB & Sack Bag

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary shares 

25,000,000          

Paper & Tissue
Product

Monalisa Sanitary Napkin
Baby Diaper 53,913,600          

PCS
MT

MT 34,308                  

Actual Produc�on

PKT

Paper Sec�on-Value addi�on

60,000,000          

PCS

133,750                 

PCSHand Gloves

Capacity u�lized

MT

PKT
Cont.

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka

The Board of Directors takes the responsibility for the prepara�on and presenta�on of these financial statements.

There was no transac�on resul�ng in Directors' interest with the company and no leasing facili�es have been made 
available to the Directors.
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48.00 RECEIVABLE FROM DIRECTORS

No amount is lying as receivable from the Directors.

49.00 FOREIGN REMITTANCES

50.00 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

50.01

50.02

51.00 STATUS OF INCOME TAX ASSESSMENT

Income 
Year

2015

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

52.00 GOING CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

53.00 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS- FAIR VALUES AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

53.01 Basis of fair value measurement

2018-2019

-                         

Assessment Year

2016-2017

 83(2)/156/173/159 

Status

Return submi�ed 
subsequently the DCT has 
completed the Assessment 
on 28 May 2019 against 
which the Company filled an 
appeal to the Commissioner 
(Appeals). 

30,814                  

2016-2017

 83(2) 

Assessment completed U/S of ITO 1984

Assessment has completed 2017-2018 127,499,295         83(2)/156/173/159 

Demand/         
(Refund)

-                         

 83(2)/156/173/159 
Assessment has completed 

No remi�ances were made in foreign currency on account of dividend, royalty, technical experts, professional advisor 
fees, interest, etc.

The Board of Directors in it’s mee�ng held on 11 November 2019 approved the financial statements of the company 
for the year ended 30 June 2019 and authorised the same for issue. The Board of Directors also recommended cash 
dividend @ 15% for the Public shareholders other than the Sponsors and Directors for the FY 2018-2019 which is 
subject to approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Mee�ng.

No circumstances have arisen since the date of statement of financial posi�on, which would require adjustment to or 
disclosure in the financial statement or notes thereto.

From the incep�on of the Company to the income Year 2016-2017 (Assessment year 2017-2018) income tax assess-
ment of the company has been completed. The status of income tax assessment of the Company last three years are 
as under:

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able 
to meet the mandatory repayment terms of the banking facili�es as disclosed in Note 19, 22 & 23.

The Companies retained earning stand at Tk. 1,910,028,348 as on June 30, 2019 which includes Tk. 291,848,486 net 
profit a�er tax of for the year and, as at that date, current assets exceed current liabili�es. Besides that the company 
has sustainable products, debts with excellent repayment records, bright opera�ng cash flows, posi�ve key financial 
ra�os, reliability in payment of obliga�ons, excellent corporate environment and employee sa�sfac�on.

Management acknowledges that uncertainty remains over the Company’s ability to meet its funding requirements and 
to refinance or repay its banking facili�es as they fall due. In that par�cular circumstance, management has a reason-
able expecta�on that the Company has adequate resources to con�nue in opera�onal existence for the foreseeable 
future.

As fair value is a market - based measurement, when measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, BPML uses market 
observable data as far as possible though en�ty's inten�on to hold an asset or to se�le or otherwise fulfil a liability is 
not relevant when measuring fair value.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on inputs used in the valua�on technique 
as follows:

Bashundhara Paper Mills Ltd.

Pr
in

te
d 

on
 B

as
hu

nd
ha

ra
 P

ap
er

Annual Report 2019 139

Auditor’s Report



Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in ac�ve markets for iden�cal assets and liabili�es.
  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

Level 2: directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable input).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its en�rety in the same level of fair value hierarchy 
as the lowest level input that is significant to the en�re measurement.

BPML recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the repor�ng period during which the 
change has occurred.
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a) Exposure to credit risk:
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Trade receivables
Local customer        2,627,118,916        2,168,094,653 
Foreign customer              62,419,456              25,552,986 

Advance, deposit and prepayments           829,368,883            937,885,549 
Due/ (payable) from/to inter companies          (324,062,587)          (553,716,173)
Cash and bank balances        1,336,654,791        1,519,454,492 

Amount in Taka

Financial Risk Management

The Company has exposure to the following risks:

 - Credit risk

 - liquidity risk

 - Market risk

This note presents informa�on about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks, the Company's objec-
�ves,

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company's management of capital.

Risk management framework:

The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment, developing, oversight and 
monitoring of the Company’s risk management framework. The Company’s risk management policies are estab-
lished to iden�fy and analyze the risk faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and system are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market condi�ons and the Company’s ac�vi�es. The Company, through its training and management 
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and construc�ve control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obliga�ons.

The Company has established Internal Audit Department to oversee how management monitors compliance with 
the Company’s risk management policies and procedures, compliance with opera�onal and legal requirements, 
iden�fica�on of foreseeable trends and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in rela�on to 
the risks faced by the Company. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the result of which are reported to the Board of Directors.

The Company’s financial liabili�es mainly comprise trade and other payables and short term running finance. The 
main purpose of financial liabili�es is to raise finance for the Company’s opera�on. The Company’s financial assets 
comprise loans to employees, trade and other receivables, bank balances. The Company is exposed to credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obliga�ons, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteris�c of each customer. The 
management of the Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individ-
ually creditworthiness before the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and condi�ons are offered. 
Purchase limit are established for each customer, which represents the maximum open amount without requiring 
approval from the concerned authority; these limits are reviewed twice a year. Customers that fail to meet the 
Company’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Company only on a prepayment basis. More than 
80 percent of the Company’s customers have been transac�ng with the Company since long, and no impairment 
loss has been recognized against these customers. Trade and other receivable relate mainly to the Company’s 
Wholesale customer. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the repor�ng date is as follows:

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the repor�ng date was:

53.03 

53.03.1 
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Bangladesh        2,627,118,916        2,168,094,653 
Asia              68,061,005              25,552,986 
Europe              (4,390,906)                               -   
Australia                      12,909                               -   
Africa              (1,263,552)                               -   

Trade receivables
0-90 days past due        1,143,445,755        1,747,348,670 
90-180 days past due        1,151,781,118            414,403,014 
above 180 days past due           394,311,499              31,895,955 

       2,689,538,372        2,193,647,639 
c) Credit exposure by credit rating:
Trade receivables        2,689,538,372        2,193,647,639 
Advance, deposit and prepayments           829,368,883            937,885,549 
Other receivables        1,003,786,825            296,771,245 

Cash  and Bank balances:
Cash in hand              29,384,396              18,669,814 
Cash at bank:
Bank name & branch Credit Ra�ng           232,250,395        1,500,784,678 
Agrani Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka AAA -                          577                          
Al-Arafa Islami Bank Ltd., Mo�jheel Branch, Dhaka CD-3059 AA 13,373                    17,023                    
Bank Asia Ltd., Bashundhara Branch AA2 46,117,254            23,840,176            
Bank Asia Ltd., Bashundhara Branch SND: 0135 AA2 1,134,815              -                           
Bank Asia Ltd., Principal Branch AA2 40,699                    3,804                      
Basic Bank Ltd., Bashundhara Br. B+ 2,031,282              62,008                    
Basic Bank Ltd.-Main Branch, Dhaka. CD: 05787 B+ 699,850                  -                           
Dutch Bangla Bank Ltd., Bashundhara Branch AA1 3,000,273              7,005,782               
Dutch Bangla Bank Ltd., Local Office AA+ 3,281,102              10,130                    
First Security Islami Bank Ltd., Banani Branch A+ 476,111                  162,593                  
IFIC Bank Ltd., Kawranbazar Branch AA2 133,308                  29,223,221            
Islami Bank Bangladesh Ltd., Head Office Complex Br. AA+ 5,294,752              385,136                  
Janata Bank Ltd., Helatola Branch, Khulna A+ 3,332                      3,332                      
Janata Bank Ltd., Janata Bhaban Corp. Br. A+ 7,854,176              999,770                  
Janata Bank Ltd., JBCB,Dhaka A+ 6,601,991              1,624,357               
Janata Bank Ltd., JBCB,Dhaka A+ 1,436,689              6,156,900               
Mercan�le Bank Ltd., Main Branch, Dhaka AA 11,026,333            1,219,674               
Mutual Trust Bank Ltd., Bashundhara City Br. AA 6,619,468              4,795,069               
Mutual Trust Bank Ltd., Sonargoan Branch AA 69,163                    90,263                    
Na�onal Bank Ltd., Dilkusha Branch AA 5,004,137              46,343,139            
Na�onal Bank Ltd.- SND accounts AA 459,417                  -                           
NCC Bank Ltd., Mo�jheel Branch AA 9,963                      11,038                    
Premier Bank Ltd., Banani Branch AA+ 3,565                      3,565                      
The Premier Bank Ltd.-Dilkusha Branch CD: 019010 AA+ 4,425                      -                           
Rupali Bank Ltd.-Local Office, Dhaka. CD: 0018020010093 1,654,761              -                           
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd., Gulshan Branch AA3 1,428,176              2,982,445               
Social Islami Bank Ltd., Bashundhara Branch AA- 29,840,240            17,609,302            
Social Islami Bank Ltd., Panthapath Branch AA- 38,963,851            21,734,254            
Social Islami Bank Ltd., Sonargoan Branch AA- 2,060,296              735,779                  
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka AA 4,106,324              12,896                    
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka FC: 0462 AA 2,331,175              372                          
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka DAD Account-588 AA 42                            42                            
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka IPO_BDT_197 AA 15,154                    1,254,625,110       
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka IPO_GBP_552 AA 13,504                    1,390,840               
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka IPO_Euro_774 AA 13,476                    343,641                  
Southeast Bank Ltd., Principal Branch, Dhaka IPO_USD_066 AA 316,808                  15,350,561            
Standard Bank Ltd., Principal Branch AA 117,095                  3,568                      
Trust Bank Ltd., Senakallyan Bhaban Branch AA2 124,550                  37,547                    
Union Bank Ltd., Gulshan Branch A 85,286                    486,701                  
United Commercial Bank Ltd., Bashundhara Br. AA 48,776,832            60,721,156            
United Commercial Bank Ltd., Gulshan Branch AA 1,087,349              2,792,907               

The maximum exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable
by geographic regions was:

CD: 11217-8

CD: 1604-0

CD: 4061

CD: 1330000079

CD: 1360

CD: 00233009262

b) The aging of trade receivables other than other product and services at the reporting date is as follows:

STD: 004001006

CD: 10111012348

CD: 2215

CD: 404, 568, 569

CD: 00333005904

CD: 313926-001

CD: 87816

STD: 119/198

Account No.

CD: 12885, 16735,16741

CD: 64,6459, 6718,6661

CD: 81042

CD:001039442

CD: 001022542

FC: 402000464

CD: 10258,10427,10294,10267

CD: 233137485

CD: 22785

CD: 7935

STD: 057

SND: 147.120.1895

CD: 0003-0210011205

CD: 1623

CD: 15608,1015, 15617

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka
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53.03.2 Liquidity risk

1 to 5 years More than 5 years

Finance Lease -                             -                             
Long term bank loan 8,397,659,590          -                             
Short term bank loan -                             -                             
Trade and other payables -                             -                             
Provision for expenses -                             -                             

Finance Lease 156,238,538             -                             
Long term bank loan 3,667,934,355          -                             
Short term bank loan -                             -                             
Trade and other payables -                             -                             
Provision for expenses -                             -                             

53.03.3 Market risk

a) Currency risk:

i) Exposure to currency risk:

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabili�es:
Assets:
           Trade receivables                   738,692                    305,293 
           Cash at bank 17,002 73,559                    
Liabili�es:
           Trade and other payables -                          -                           
Net exposure: 

The following significant average exchange rates are applied during the year:
Exchange rate of US Dollar 84.50$                   83.70$                    

125,844,073          

144,348,670            

9,824,731,129         

2,296,713,496         

2017-18 10,219,921,107     

2,296,713,496       

9,824,731,129       

4,767,534,930       

300,587,208          

105,252,299            

Contractual Cash FlowsNon-deriva�ve financial 
liabili�es

Year Carrying Amount
Within 12 months

2018-19

125,844,073            

1,099,600,576         

10,219,921,107       

1,311,916,559       1,311,916,559         

22,979,585             22,979,585              

144,198,620          

10,032,907,443     1,635,247,853         

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the repor�ng date is trade receivable. To mi�gate the credit 
risk against trade receivables, the Company has a system of specific credit line period to the distributor which is 
regularly monitored.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in mee�ng the obliga�ons associated with its 
financial liabili�es that are se�led by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabili�es 
when due, under both normal and stressed condi�ons, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Company’s reputa�on. Therefore, managing sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of commi�ed bank facili�es, the company manages the liquidity risk. The Company's maximum 
exposure to financial liabili�es as at the repor�ng date is as follows:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchanges rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objec�ve of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
op�mizing the return. 

The company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchase that are denominated in a currency other than the 
respec�ve func�onal currencies of the en��es BDT Tk. The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to Company’s opera�ng ac�vi�es with the foreign suppliers.

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Amount in Taka
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A strengthening or weakening of the Taka, as indicated below, against the U$D at 30 June 2019 would have 
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate 
variances that the Company considered to be reasonably possible at the repor�ng date. The analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in par�cular interest rates, remain constant.

(ii) Foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis for foreign currency expenditures:

The Company ensuring that between 45 and 65 
percent of its exposure to changes in interest rates 
on borrowings is on a fixed-rate basis, taking into 
account assets with exposure to changes in 
interest rates. The risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in 
market interest rates relates primarily to           
Company’s short-term deposits and running 
finance.

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale 
equity securi�es held for mee�ng par�ally the 
unfunded por�on of the Company’s defined      
benefit pension obliga�ons as well as investments 
at fair value through profit and loss (other than 
those arising from interest rate risk and currency 
risk). The Company is not exposed to any equity 
price risk, as the Company does not have any 
investment in equity shares and also to commodi-
ty price risk.

The Company's capital management objec�ves are:

 - to ensure the Company's ability to con�nue as a going concern;

 - to provide an adequate return to shareholders;

The Board of Directors has set a policy to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of total equity a�ributable 
to the equity holders. The Board of Directors monitors the level of capital as well as the level of dividend to the 
ordinary shareholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividend, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or obtain long-term debt.

No changes were made in the objec�ves, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended 30       
June , 2019.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT54.00
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Glossary 
 

  
Accoun�ng policies  Specific principles, bases, conven�ons, rules and prac�ces adopted 

by an enterprise in preparing and presen�ng financial statements.  
AIT Advance Income Tax  
BPML / The Company  Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited  
BASs  Bangladesh Accoun�ng  Standards  
BFRSs  Bangladesh Financial  Repor�ng Standards  
BB  Bangladesh Bank  
BoD Board of Directors  

Basic earnings per share  Basic income per share  
BSEC  Bangladesh Securi�es & Exchange Commission  
Capital/Revalua�on 
reserves  

Reserves iden�fied for specific purposes and considered not available for 
distribu�on.  

CGU Cash Genera�ng Unit  

Con�ngents Liabili�es  Condi�ons or situa�ons at the balance sheet date the financial effect of 
which are to be determined by future events which may or may not occur.  

DTL/ DTA  Deferred Tax Liability /  Deferred Tax Assets  
DTE/ DTI  Deferred Tax Expense / Deferred Tax Income  

Deferred Taxa�on  
The net tax effect on terms which have been included in the income 
statement, which would only qualify for inclusion on a tax return at a future 
date. 

Diluted earnings per share  Diluted income per share.  

Earnings per share  Profit a�ributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue.  

Equity Shareholders' fund.  
ECL  Expected Credit Loss  
Finance lease  Capital lease  
FRA The Financial Repor�ng Act . 
FRC  The Financial Repor�ng Council  
FRS  Financial Repor�ng Standards  
FVOCI Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 
FVTPL  Fair Value Through Profit and Loss  
HC High Court  
IASs  Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards  

IFRSs  Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards  

IFRIC  Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Interpreta�ons Commi�ee  

ICAB The Ins�tute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh  

ITO 1984  Income Tax Ordinance 1984  

NAV Net Assets Value  
NAVPS Net Assets Value per Share  
NBR  Na�onal Board of Revenue  

Net Assets per Share  Shareholders' funds divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue. A basis of share valua�on.  
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NOCFPS  Net Opera�ng Cash Flow per Share  

OCI Other Comprehensive Income  

PPE  Property, Plant and Equipment/ Fixed Assets  
Profit 
 

Income 
 Profit a�ributable to 

shareholders  Net income a�er tax  

Share capital  Ordinary shares, capital stock or common stock issued and fully paid.  
SIC  Standard Interpreta�ons Commi�ee  
WPP & WF Workers' Profit Par�cipa�on and Welfare Fund  
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Awards &
Certification
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25th AGM
in Action
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I/We ........................................................................................................................................................

of  ...........................................................................................................................................................

being Member of Bashundhara Paper Mills Limited, hereby appoint .................................................

................................................................................................................................................................ 

of  ...........................................................................................................................................................

as my/our proxy to a�end and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 26th Annual General 

Mee�ng of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 24/12/2019 at 10:30 a.m and/or at any 

adjournment thereof.

As witness I/We put my/our hand this ....................day of ....................................2019.

(Signature of the Shareholder)

Register Folio No./BO A/C No. ..............................................

No. of shares held  ..................................................................

Note: A Member en�tled to a�end and vote at the Annual General Mee�ng may appoint a proxy to a�end 
and vote on his/her behalf. The Proxy Form duly completed must be deposited at the Registered Office of the 
company not later than 72 hours before the �me fixed for the mee�ng.

ATTENDANCE SLIP

I hereby record my a�endance at the 26th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING being held on Tuesday, 
24/12/2019 at 10:30am. in at “Pushpogusso”, Interna�onal Conven�on City Bashundhara (ICCB Hall 
no. 2), Kuril Bishwa Road, Purbachal Express Highway Dhaka-1229.

Name of member/proxy............................                                                          

PROXY FORM

.......................... 
Signature 

Signature on 

Tk. 20/-

Revenue Stamp

Registered Office: 125/A, Road-2, Block-A, Bashundhara R/A, Dhaka-1229

N.B. : Please complete this a�endance slip and hand it over in the counter at the entrance of the AGM venue.
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Avwg/Avgiv                                                                                                                                                      (bvg)

wVKvbv 

Avwg/Avgiv emyÜiv †ccvi wgjm&& wjwg‡UW Gi m`m¨| Avgvi/Avgv‡`i cÖwZwbwa wn‡m‡e AvMvgx 24 wW‡m¤^i, 2019Bs ZvwiL 

g½jevi, mKvj 10:30 NwUKvq AbywôZe¨ AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi 26Zg evwl©K mvaviY mfvq Ges Gi gyjZex †NvwlZ mfvq 

Avgvi/Avgv‡`i  c‡ÿ Dcw¯’Z _vKvi Ges †fvU cÖ`vb Kivi Rb¨ wb‡¤œv³ cÖwZwbwa‡K wbhy³ Kwijvg t

cÖwZwbwai bvg t Rbve/Rbvev 

wVKvbv 

AÎ cÖw· †Nvlbvi ¯^v¶¨ wn‡m‡e A`¨                                                                            2019Bs Zvwi‡L Avwg/Avgiv mÁv‡b 

Avgvi/Avgv‡`i ¯^v¶i cÖ`vb Kwijvg|

m`‡m¨i ¯^v¶i                                         m`m¨ weI AvBwW/dwjI bs 

cÖwZwbwai ¯^v¶i                                          weI AvBwW/dwjI bs (hw` _v‡K)  

Avwg/Avgiv emyÜiv †ccvi wgjm&& wjwg‡UW Gi 26Zg evwl©K mvaviY mfvq, hvnv A`¨ g½jevi, 24 wW‡m¤^i 2019Bs Zvwi‡L mKvj 
10:30 NwUKvq Òcy®ú¸”QÓ emyÜiv B›Uvib¨vkbvj Kb‡fbkb wmwU (AvBwmwmwe nj-2) Kzwoj wek^‡ivW, c~ev©Pj GKª‡cÖm nvBI‡q, 
XvKv-1229 AbywôZe¨ Avgvi/Avgv‡`i Dcw¯’wZ wjwce× Kwijvg|

wet ̀ ªt -   mvaviYmfvq †hvM`vbKvix m`m¨MY‡K Aby‡iva Kiv hv‡”Q †h, Zvnviv †hb e¨w³MZfv‡e ev Zvnv‡`i cÖwZwbwai gva¨‡g mvaviY mfvK‡ÿ 
cÖ‡e‡ki c~‡e© G Dcw¯’wZ cÎwU c~iYc~e©K Rgv cÖ`vb K‡ib|

m`m¨/cÖwZwbwai bvg:

weI AvBwW/dwjI bs

¯^vÿi

20 UvKvi
ivR¯^ wU‡KU 
mshy³ Kiæb

cÖwZwbwa/cÖw· dig

Dcw¯’wZ cÎ

emyÜiv †ccvi wgj&m wjwg‡UW

emyÜiv †ccvi wgj&m wjwg‡UW

 †iwR÷vW© Awdmt 125/G, †ivW-2, eøK-G, emyÜiv AvevwmK GjvKv, XvKv-1229

wet`ªt mvaviY mfvq Dcw¯’Z _vKvi Rb¨ I †fvU `v‡bi Rb¨ ‡hvM¨ †h †Kvb m`m¨ Zvi cwie‡Z© AÎ mvaviY mfvq †fvU `v‡bi 
Rb¨ cÖwZwbwa cÖw· wn‡m‡e Ab¨ KvD‡K wb‡qvM cÖ`vb Kwi‡Z cvwi‡eb| D³ cÖw· di‡g 20 UvKv g~j¨gv‡bi ivR¯^ wU‡KU 
mshy³ K‡i Zv h_vh_fv‡e c~iY-c~e©K evwl©K mfv Avi‡¤¢i AšÍZ 72 N›Uv c~‡e© AÎ †Kv¤úvbxi †iwRóvW©  Awd‡m Rgv 
cÖ`vb Kwi‡Z nB‡e|
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